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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS Aer Lingus Group Plc

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
For the year ended 31 December 2012
2012

2011

Change

Results
Revenue

€m

1,393.3

1,288.3

8.2%

EBITDAR 1

€m

191.3

172.8

10.7%

Operating profit before net exceptional items

€m

69.1

49.1

40.7%

Net exceptional items

€m

(26.5)

37.2

NM(4)

Operating profit after net exceptional items

€m

42.6

86.3

(50.6%)

Net finance (expense)/income

€m

(1.8)

(1.9)

NM(4)

Share of loss of joint venture

€m

(0.2)

-

NM(4)

Income tax (charge)/credit

€m

(6.5)

(13.2)

NM(4)

Profit for the year

€m

34.1

71.2

(52.1%)

Total equity

€m

834.7

836.7

(0.2%)

€cent

6.4

13.4

(52.2%)

Gross cash 2

€m

908.5

894.8

1.5%

Gross debt

€m

531.6

577.2

(7.9%)

€

120.15

112.27

7.0%

Passenger/retail revenue per RPK

€cent/RPK

9.2

8.8

4.5%

Operating cost, excluding fuel, airport charges, other gains/losses

€cent/ASK

3.7

3.7

0.0%

Operating cost, including fuel

Profit per share

Key financial statistics
Average yield per passenger

€cent/ASK

7.1

6.7

6.0%

EBITDAR margin

%

13.7%

13.4%

0.3 pts

Operating margin

%

5.0%

3.8%

1.2 pts

Key operating statistics 3
Passengers carried

1

‘000

9,653

9,513

1.5%

Revenue passenger kilometres (RPK)

m

14,523

14,051

3.4%

Available seat kilometres (ASK)

m

18,685

18,593

0.5%

Passenger load factor

%

77.7%

75.6%

2.1 pts

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation and aircraft rentals
2012
€ millions

2011
€ millions

Operating profit, before net exceptional items
Add back

69.1

49.1

Depreciation and amortisation

76.1

79.8

Aircraft operating lease costs
EBITDAR
2
3
4

46.1

43.9

191.3

172.8

Gross cash is defined as loans and receivables, deposits and cash and cash equivalents
Key operating statistics relate to mainline operations and exclude Aer Lingus Regional
NM: Not Meaningful
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Dear Fellow Shareholders,

We experienced considerable inflation in non-controllable unit costs
in 2012, particularly fuel and airport charges. Fuel costs increased by

As shown by our financial results, 2012 was another very successful year for

€69.8 million (24.2%) compared to 2011 as a result of higher fuel prices

Aer Lingus. The commercial strategy implemented in 2009, along with our

and weakness of the euro versus the US$. Airport charges increased by

successful Greenfield cost reduction programme, has truly transformed the

€19.7 million (7.1%), mainly driven by price increases at some of our

Group. We ended the year with an operating profit of €69.1 million, our

most used airports, including London Heathrow and certain Spanish

third straight year of operating profits.

airports. However, we continued to progress savings under our Greenfield
programme, achieving an additional €19.9 million of savings in 2012 and

Apart from our financial results, 2012 saw us achieve a number of operating

bringing the total annual cost savings under the three year programme

milestones. In the year, we carried 10.8 million passengers on our services.

to €104.2 million. This has exceeded our original annual target of €97.0

This was the highest number of passengers ever flown in a single year by

million.

Aer Lingus. We further achieved an On Time Performance of 88%, ranking
us ahead of our significant competitors.

The impact of our revenue growth and cost saving initiatives helped to

Our value carrier strategy, combining the best elements of low fares with

operating margin increasing to 5.0% from 3.8% in the previous year. This

more than offset the cost inflation described above, resulting in our 2012

the option to upgrade to the features of a full service airline, is working well
and we continue to capture share in our Irish home market. In addition,
our brand is penetrating other markets, evidenced by the fact that 47% of
our total bookings are now generated outside of Ireland. Our strategy has
stabilised the business and restored profitability. We now look forward to
embarking on the next stage, which is to deliver sustainable and profitable
growth and increasing shareholder value.

operating margin compares very favourably to most of our peer airlines in
Europe.
Our balance sheet remains strong and we ended the year with cash of
€908.5 million, €13.7 million higher than at the end of 2011. Meanwhile
we have reduced our debt by €45.6 million to €531.6 million. Our debt is
associated with lease financing and is secured by the value of the related
aircraft.

Financial overview

Dividend

The 2012 operating profit of €69.1 million is 40.7% above the €49.1

In July 2012, we paid a dividend in respect of 2011, our first dividend since
our IPO. This dividend of three cent per share totalled €16 million. Our
dividend policy, announced in May 2012, indicates our intention to pay a
dividend for those future years in which we make a profit, provided that
payment of such dividend is appropriate and prudent in the context of our
financial position, strategic objectives and prospects. In recognition of the
strong trading performance in the year and our confidence in the future of
the business, the Board is recommending a dividend of four cent per share
for 2012, an increase of 33.3% on the dividend paid in respect of 2011.

million achieved in 2011. In spite of continuing economic weakness in our
important Irish and UK markets, we achieved revenue growth across all
parts of our business (passenger, ancillary, cargo and other). Our long haul
operation was particularly strong in 2012, and was a main driver of our
positive revenue performance.
At the pre-tax level, our 2012 profit of €40.6 million was €43.8 million
lower than 2011. The decrease can be specifically attributed to the fact that
we incurred exceptional costs of €26.5 million in 2012 while in 2011 we
benefited from exceptional gains of €37.2 million. The 2012 exceptional

Commercial activity

the Group.

Since Aer Lingus was established nearly 77 years ago, its primary mission
has been to connect Ireland to the world. In this regard, we see the 70
million people forming the Irish diaspora as a key component of our
target market. Recognising that direct services from Ireland to many long
haul destinations are not commercially viable, our business model has
expanded through partnerships with other airlines. Such partnerships, in
the form of codeshare and interline agreements, have continued to open
up new markets and destinations for our passengers.

Total revenue grew by 8.2% to €1.4 billion. Total passengers carried on

In 2012, we continued to develop our partnership approach through the

our mainline services increased by 1.5% to 9.7 million, passenger yield

creation of new, and the expansion of existing, agreements with other

increased by 7.0% to €120.15 per passenger and load factor increased by

airlines. These agreements will contribute positively to our business, create

2.1 percentage points to 77.7%. Our ancillary revenue yield increased by

value for our shareholders and benefit our customers. A full overview

3.1% to €18.28 per passenger.

of our commercial developments during 2012 is outlined in the Chief

costs include €9.9 million related to consolidating our Airbus A330
maintenance in our Dublin hub and €4.1 million for further redundancy
costs under our Greenfield cost reduction programme. These initiatives will
generate positive future operational and financial benefits for the Group.
In addition, our 2012 exceptional costs include €9.8 million of legal and
professional fees incurred as a result of Ryanair’s third unsuccessful bid for

Executive Officer’s review along with details of the significant benefits and
opportunities we envisage from them.
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We are particularly pleased to have entered into codeshare and interline

Our position from the outset was that the offer of €1.30 per share

agreements with Etihad, which allows us to jointly market flights to the East

significantly undervalued Aer Lingus on several counts. We also believed

through Etihad’s base in Abu Dhabi. We hope to develop our relationships

that the offer could not be completed given a number of factors, mainly

with Etihad further and welcome them as a shareholder, with a position of

the prohibition by the European Commission of Ryanair’s previous bid in

just under 3% at the end of 2012.

2007 on competition grounds and the fact that since then the number of
routes on which Aer Lingus and Ryanair compete has increased materially.

Aer Lingus’ strategy of working with selected partners who enhance our

On 27 February 2013, the European Commission formally announced

business (and we theirs) is in our view much wiser than the mad rush to

its decision to prohibit the offer from Ryanair, citing in their decision the

consolidation favoured by some airlines. Experience has shown the difficulty

fundamental competition concerns of a combined Aer Lingus/Ryanair

of combining different airlines’ business models and cultures, where the

entity in the Irish market. The Aer Lingus Board believes this decision is

ability to effect change has been reduced rather than increased and the

correct and vindicates our position at the outset of the bid. The continuing

combined financial outcomes have not met expectations and have not

improvements in our operations, our profits and our increased dividend

always exceeded the sum of the parts. Our strategy of working with selected

have also vindicated our recommendation that the offer price was

commercial partners to generate increased revenues while maintaining our

inadequate.

own lean operating model has provided superior returns than those of the
consolidated carriers. Indeed, looking around Europe, it is the airlines that

In my letter to shareholders on 31 July 2012, which recommended

have remained independent and developed their businesses organically

the rejection of the Ryanair offer, I noted that if certain trends were to

who are producing superior returns for their shareholders.

continue, Aer Lingus’ 2012 operating profit, before net exceptional items,
would be at least that achieved in 2011 (€49.1 million). As a result of strong

Customer experience

passenger yields, Aer Lingus’ actual 2012 operating profit of €69.1 million

A fundamental feature of our strategy is a focus on our customers. In

exceeded this forecast.

particular, we strive to provide the best possible experience at a price
customers are willing to pay. Our modular pricing strategy enables us to

We now look forward to assisting the UK Competition Commission in

segment our customers between those who want to avail of low fare travel

its ongoing investigation into the anti-competitive effects of Ryanair’s

with limited “frills” and those who are prepared to pay for added benefits

shareholding in Aer Lingus. It is our firm position that Ryanair, as our most

such as seat selection, baggage check, lounge access, etc. In 2012, our

significant competitor, should be required to divest its shareholding in Aer

research indicated that 96% of our passengers were satisfied with their

Lingus.

overall Aer Lingus experience. Every passenger, regardless of the fare they
pay, experiences the high quality Aer Lingus service and the great care of
our staff.

Last year, I outlined that the resolution of issues related to the Irish Airlines

To further enhance customer experience, and to provide revenue
opportunities, we continue to develop our ancillary revenue offerings and
to improve our overall airport infrastructure. In 2013, we will move our
New York operations to JetBlue’s Terminal 5 at JFK which will maximise
the value of the US Customs and Border Protection facilities at Dublin and
Shannon and will further improve connection times for our passengers. In
2014, we will become anchor tenants at the new Terminal 2 at London
Heathrow, again a move we believe will improve connection times, provide
further connection opportunities and improve customer experience.

Ryanair Offer
Ryanair, our largest shareholder and main competitor, made a third formal
offer for the Group on 17 July 2012. On behalf of the Board, I wrote to
all shareholders on 31 July and again on 24 August recommending that
you reject this offer. I also set out in detail the Board’s reasons for our
recommendation.

Pensions
Superannuation Scheme (“IASS”) was a key priority for the Group. I am
disappointed and frustrated that agreement has not yet been reached
between the trustees, employers and employee representatives.
The majority of our staff (other than pilots) are members of the IASS which
is a multi-employer pension scheme, with the principal other employers
being the Dublin and Shannon airport authorities. Approximately 65% of
the scheme’s liabilities are associated with current and former Aer Lingus
staff. Aer Lingus is also a party to the Irish Airlines (Pilots) Superannuation
Scheme (“Pilots’ Scheme”).
Negotiations in respect of the IASS and the Pilots’ Scheme are complex
and involve many parties. We have made it clear to all parties that we
will seek shareholder approval for any agreements that may be reached.
I am hopeful that a resolution can be found in the near future. In the
meantime, the Group will continue to pay its fixed rate contributions to
both schemes as outlined in the schemes’ trust deeds. Further details in
respect of pensions are set out in the “Principal risks and uncertainties”
section and also in Note 26 to the financial statements.
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Finally, I would like to thank our customers, our employees, my fellow
directors and our shareholders for their support during the year. The
past year was a tough one for all of us as we operated in difficult market
conditions. In the case of Aer Lingus, the difficulties were exacerbated
by the unwelcome and continuing harassment of the Company by our
largest shareholder and our major competitor. Our operating and financial
performance shows that despite this distraction our focus on the business
was maintained and positive results were achieved. I want to specifically
recognise the excellent performance of our management and staff in this
regard.
We look forward to continuing our strategic development, our excellent
operating and financial performance and to delivering further growth and
increasing and sustainable shareholder value.
Sincerely,
Colm Barrington
Chairman
7 March 2013
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REVIEW

Dear Fellow Shareholders,

Atlantic out of London Heathrow. This represents an increase of 5.0%
in our short haul available seat kilometres. We will fly one Airbus A330

2012 was an excellent year for Aer Lingus. We made an operating profit

aircraft during the next two winter seasons, with an option for a further

for the year which is 40.7% above 2011. Our operating margin, as a

one, on behalf of a major European tour operator which will improve

measure of our competitiveness, has increased to 5.0% with free cash

aircraft utilisation in the low season. We will also continue to invest in our

flow of €75.2 million. EBITDAR of €191.3 million was 10.7% ahead of

IT infrastructure, enabling Aer Lingus to deliver superior customer service

2011. Improved processes and service delivery are reflected in a record

and convenience while driving down overall costs at the same time.

on-time arrival performance of 88% and a high customer satisfaction level.
At 31 December 2012, the number of forward passengers booked on our

In 2013, the management team will remain focused on creating

services was ahead of the figure booked at the same time in 2011 and in

demonstrable value for our shareholders. After the successful delivery of

January 2013, we recorded the single highest day of revenue booked in

the Greenfield restructuring programme in 2012, resolving the complex

our history.

pension legacy and further efficiency improvements across the organisation
will drive the management agenda in 2013.
EBITDAR performance (€m)

Commercial developments in 2012
In 2012, we announced a number of new or expanded partnership

57.5

191.5

172.8

191.3

2010

2011

2012

2009

agreements and commercial developments:
•

The Aer Lingus Regional service, operated by franchisee Aer Arann,
entered into its third year. In March 2012, under an extension of the
franchise agreement, Aer Lingus and Aer Arann announced that all Aer

I firmly believe that this result, representing our third consecutive year of

Arann routes would be operated under the Aer Lingus Regional brand,

profitability, validates our value carrier business model and shows that our

thereby increasing the range of destinations offered by Aer Lingus. The

strategy is delivering a leaner, more efficient and profitable airline, to the

economics of the turbo prop aircraft operated by Aer Arann are more

benefit of customers, shareholders and staff.

suitable than jet aircraft for certain routes such as those in the Regional
network. In addition to franchise fees receivable from Aer Arann, we

Aer Lingus continues to gain profitable market share from legacy and low

also benefit from increased traffic from UK destinations connecting to

cost carriers by offering a combination of competitive intra-European

transatlantic services in Dublin and Shannon. Following on from the

point-to-point services, a profitable long haul business focused on our key

expansion of the Aer Lingus Regional franchise agreement in March

markets in Europe and the USA overlaid with competitive connections

2012, Aer Lingus and Aer Arann agreed a 10 year extension of the

worldwide with our partners in Europe, the Americas and the Middle East.

Aer Lingus Regional franchise agreement. The Aer Lingus Regional

In 2012, we continued to build our network of strong industry alliances,

franchise continues to deliver significant network and financial benefits

completing agreements with Etihad and Air Canada. We have also extended

for Aer Lingus.

our franchise agreement for Aer Lingus Regional services with Aer Arann.
Our partnership model, driven by our neutrality, has significantly
contributed to the business. In 2012, approximately 23% of our total long
haul passenger traffic either connected from, or to, our partner airline
services (2011: 18.5%), while interlining revenues and passenger volumes
continue to grow, increasing by 8.8% and 5.5% respectively in 2012
compared to 2011.

We also made an equity investment in a new aircraft leasing vehicle which
will acquire eight new ATR72-600 aircraft over the next 18 months and
then lease these eight aircraft at commercial rates to Aer Arann. This
agreement is outlined in more detail below.
•

In July 2012, we announced that we had reached commercial
agreement with Etihad Airways regarding interline and codeshare
arrangements. From September 2012, we now co-operate with Etihad

Passenger traffic trends

2012

2011

% Variance

Interline revenues (€m)

65.8

60.5

8.8%

Interline passengers (‘000s)

832

789

5.5%

Aer Lingus will return to higher capacity growth in 2013 adding one aircraft
on the North Atlantic and four short haul aircraft in co-operation with Virgin

Airways on flights between Abu Dhabi and Dublin and also have full
access to market flights across the Etihad network beyond Abu Dhabi
to points including Australia, Asia-Pacific, the Indian subcontinent and
the Middle East. We are now discussing opportunities to co-operate
with Etihad in areas such as joint procurement for mutual benefit. In
May 2012, Etihad announced that it had acquired a 2.99% stake in
Aer Lingus.
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•

In November 2012, we signed an updated codeshare agreement

We believe that this asset investment will support our Regional partner,

with United Airlines (“United”). This updated agreement deepens our

Aer Arann and represents an attractive opportunity which will generate a

relationship with United and provides increased network opportunities

good financial return for Aer Lingus over the term of the leasing agreement.

for both parties.
Airport changes in 2012
•

Aer Lingus and Air Canada entered into an interline agreement in

On 28 October 2012, we commenced flying from George Best Belfast City

September 2012 which is expected to provide our customers with a

Airport with business routes targeted as part of this change. For example,

more seamless travel experience between Ireland and Canada.

we now operate 48 weekly flights from Belfast to London Heathrow /
London Gatwick. Also during 2012, Aer Lingus and JetBlue agreed that Aer

•

In December 2012, we announced a preliminary agreement, subject

Lingus will move the Group’s New York flight operations from Terminal 4

to contract, with Virgin Atlantic Airways Limited (“Virgin“) whereby

at John F. Kennedy International Airport to JetBlue’s acclaimed Terminal 5

we will “wet lease” four Airbus A320-200 aircraft to them on ACMI

at JFK with effect from early 2013. The move will improve the transatlantic

(aircraft, crew, maintenance and insurance) terms. The proposed

passenger experience and reduce connection times.

agreement is for an initial 3 year period. The four Aer Lingus aircraft
are planned to commence operations on 31 March 2013 and it is

Medium term growth plan

intended that the aircraft will be deployed, in Virgin livery, on short

As I have already noted, our business plan and strategy has been

haul services connecting London Heathrow with Manchester,
Edinburgh and Aberdeen. After set up costs, we expect a profit margin
in steady state similar to our core short haul operation.
•

proven to work and in 2012 we have begun to target the next phase
of our development, with a goal of delivering profitable growth for our
shareholders over the medium term. To that end, I see the Aer Lingus

In December 2012, we also entered into a preliminary agreement, to
start in late 2013, to operate an Airbus A330-200 aircraft for the next
two Winter seasons, with an option for a further one, on behalf of a
major European tour operator. This will enhance our asset utilisation in

business as having three main components:
•

Aer Lingus mainline operations

•

Aer Lingus Regional services

•

Business and investment opportunities, including “wet lease” or ACMI
(Aircraft Crew Maintenance and Insurance) contracts

the traditional low demand winter season.
The enhanced codeshare with United Airlines for the operation of the
Washington-Dulles to Madrid route came to an end in October 2012,
after three years of successful operations. The A330 aircraft used for the
enhanced codeshare operation will be redeployed on the mainline Aer
Lingus long haul route network for the 2013 Summer schedule and is
expected to generate a profit equivalent to that earned on the enhanced
codeshare operation.

In respect of each of the above three areas, I will now outline the
opportunities that I believe Aer Lingus can exploit to achieve growth in
the coming years.

Aer Lingus mainline
Aer Lingus mainline comprises our core short and long haul services
connecting Ireland with Europe, the USA and other destinations east and
west via our partner airlines. I see our mainline business developing as

During 2012, we announced a decision to relocate our A330 hangar
maintenance operations at Shannon to Dublin with effect from January

follows:
•

base of Dublin becoming a hub for transfer traffic to and from the

2013. This will improve the efficiency of our maintenance operations by

US. Already some 21.5% of passenger traffic on our long haul service

consolidating our hangar activities at our Dublin hub. The costs of the
restructuring have been included within exceptional items in our 2012
financial results.

involves a connection at Dublin.
•

We will continue to add partnerships to grow the number and range of
destinations available to Aer Lingus passengers.

Refer to Note 38 “Events after the reporting period” for an update on the

•

Aer Lingus has considerable experience and strength at London
Heathrow. In 2014, we will move to Terminal 2 at Heathrow and

Virgin Atlantic “wet lease” agreement and other codeshare developments.

this modern facility will provide us with a considerable opportunity
to provide short haul feed from Ireland to our partner airlines

Investment in aircraft leasing vehicle and extension of Aer Lingus

operating long haul services at both this terminal and other terminals

Regional franchise

in Heathrow. London Heathrow remains a focal point in our strategy.

We acquired 33.3% of the equity in a leasing company (the “Joint Venture”),

Despite not obtaining any slots from the remedy package related to the

the purpose of which is to acquire eight new ATR72-600 aircraft over the

IAG acquisition of bmi, Aer Lingus remains interested in the outright

course of the next 18 months. This vehicle will lease these eight aircraft at

purchase or lease of slots in order to enhance our feeder capabilities

commercial rates to our Regional franchise partner, Aer Arann.

in London Heathrow.

Each of the equity investors in the Joint Venture holds an equal one-third
shareholding. The aircraft purchase will be financed through a combination
of equity and debt financing. Our initial equity is USD$14.2 million with a
maximum commitment of USD$17.7 million.

We will grow our Transatlantic business selectively with our home

•

I believe that ancillary revenue is an area with considerable opportunity
for us to exploit. We have been particularly active over the past two
years in developing our ancillary revenue offering, with the introduction
of our “fare family” pricing structures, our “Sky deli” onboard catering
offering and more recently our moves toward pre-order meals and
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onboard wi-fi access for our passengers (which will launch on long haul

passengers to connect to offline destinations through our partnerships

for Summer 2013). We have a number of initiatives in various stages of

and alliances

development which I am confident will allow us to achieve additional
•

discretionary spend per passenger.

Taking these components together, I firmly believe that we have the ability

In order to compensate for weakness in our core Irish market and also

to create sustainable growth in the face of the weak economic backdrop.

the UK market, we will continue to push for ticket sales on both ends

We are well positioned to benefit from any recovery in our core market.

of our routes (i.e. inbound and outbound). We are already seeing the

Nonetheless, enabling this growth requires us to focus particularly on two

benefits of those marketing efforts reflected in our long haul booking

key issues:

profile whereby approximately 60% of our long haul bookings are now

1. Managing our cost base and

generated in the US market. In addition, 47% of our total bookings

2. Resolving the remaining legacy issues

were sourced from outside Ireland in 2012.
In respect of managing our costs, while our successful three year Greenfield

Aer Lingus Regional
Aer Lingus Regional services, operated in conjunction with our partner Aer
Arann, performed strongly in 2012, carrying over 1 million passengers, an
increase of 33.2% year on year. In respect of Aer Lingus Regional services,
we will:
•

Continue to pursue the Regional franchise model without
compromising Aer Arann’s independence

•

Encourage the addition of new routes and services where the
economics of such developments make commercial sense

•

Work with Aer Arann to more closely co-ordinate our schedules with
the aim of providing better connectivity options for our customers, a
move which would benefit ourselves and Aer Arann

programme concluded at the end of 2012, we do not currently plan on
initiating another major cost saving programme to replace it. Instead, we
will be implementing a range of additional and targeted measures, which
will be carefully co-ordinated, to preserve and progress the considerable
savings made under the Greenfield programme. The goal is to protect our
operating margin while delivering growth through the measures outlined
above.
The most significant legacy issue that remains unresolved relates to two
of our pension schemes, the IASS and the Pilots’ Scheme. An update and
analysis of the current situation with respect to these schemes has been
outlined in the “Principal risks and uncertainties” section and also in Note

The Joint Venture, as described earlier, will enable Aer Arann to re-fleet,
ensuring services are being deployed using modern, efficient aircraft and
offering a better and more consistent experience for Aer Lingus Regional
passengers.

26 to the Financial Statements.
Current market dynamics and likely impact on performance
Macroeconomic trading conditions in several of our key markets,
particularly the market between the UK and Ireland, remain challenging.

Business and investment opportunities

Nevertheless we are confident that, with the participation of Aer Lingus

Our preliminary “wet lease” agreement with Virgin will allow us to

Regional, we will once more outperform this market in 2013. In 2012, our

combine the cost advantages associated with a start up operation and

total share of all traffic from the three main Irish airports was 39% (2011:

our long standing experience and capabilities of operating at London

38%). Including Aer Lingus Regional services, our market share was 43%

Heathrow to offer domestic UK services on behalf of Virgin. The agreement

(2011: 41%).

represents a development opportunity for Aer Lingus to assess the viability
of pursuing an ACMI model with other carriers to grow our profitability.

Increased capacity deployment on Dublin to London sectors has and will

The ACMI model provides a lower risk opportunity for growth than organic

increase seat capacity above current demand. Aer Lingus’ “shuttle like”

expansion. We will look for further scale opportunities with other carriers

product with almost hourly departures remains the product of choice on

where we can deploy our experience and cost efficient flying model on

these routes and we will continue to manage capacity and price according

their route networks. The increase in available seat kilometres will have a

to demand. In 2012, including Aer Lingus Regional services, our share of

positive effect on our unit costs, allowing us to spread our fixed costs across

the Dublin to London market was 46% (2011: 45%).

a broader base of flying. This will indirectly support our pricing capability
and flexibility in both our core short haul business and the new business of

In 2012, our market share of all transatlantic traffic from Dublin and

flying on behalf of other carriers.

Shannon airports was 53% (2011: 49%). Our North Atlantic performance
has attracted several other air carriers to announce new transatlantic

In the absence of new aircraft deliveries for the next three to four years,

services from Dublin and Shannon to the US commencing in Summer

we anticipate strong annual cash generation. Not only does this give us

2013. The new United Airlines flight from Chicago to Shannon during the

the ability to withstand the crises and disruptions to which the industry is

Summer and the United Airlines service from Dublin to Washington will,

prone, but it will allow us to invest to improve and grow our business. We

however, carry the Aer Lingus code and will be available to our customers

see opportunities to develop Aer Lingus, and create value for shareholders,

via the Aer Lingus website.

by making selective investments in three principal areas:
•

Increased ownership mix of our existing fleet

Generally, we are responding to these competitive developments in the

•

Slot ownership – particularly at Heathrow – in support of our core

Irish market with a renewed focus on inbound markets and inbound

business, and

traffic on the other end of ex-Ireland routes, principally in Germany

Upgrades to our customer facing IT systems, particularly if this

and the Benelux region on short haul services and the US on long haul

supports our drive to enhance ancillary revenues and make it easier for

services. We are particularly pleased with our momentum on long haul.

•
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As previously mentioned we now generate approximately 60% of our total

In addition to this substantial financial strength, Aer Lingus owns significant

long haul bookings from the US. This has the added advantage of reducing

assets which are not recognised on its balance sheet, including an attractive

our annual requirement to purchase US dollars to meet our fuel costs. In

slot portfolio at London Heathrow, JFK and Dublin airports, as well as a

addition, we will continue to actively manage our network and address

globally recognised brand.

under-performing routes as well as tactically managing capacity where
demand conditions prevail so as to maximise revenue and yield-per-seat

Conclusion

performance.

Aer Lingus has changed significantly since the loss making years of 2008
and 2009 but there are still many opportunities to be seized and some

From a cost perspective, non-controllable cost inflation will continue to

challenges to be addressed. We are faced with some headwinds moving

be a challenge. Forward fuel prices are currently higher than for 2012 but,

into 2013, not least from inflation in non-controllable costs, particularly

we have good protection for the first half of 2013 in particular as a result

airport charges, but also from continuing weakness in our primary markets

of our fuel hedging programme. Airport charges are likely to significantly

(i.e. Ireland and the UK). However, we leave 2012 with good momentum

increase in 2013. On a steady state basis (i.e. assuming the same passenger/

in our long haul business. In 2013, management will remain focused on

movement volumes as 2012) airport price increases, notably at Dublin,

creating demonstrable value for our shareholders. We will continue to

London Heathrow, Spanish and Italian airports, are expected to add

explore commercial opportunities to grow our business profitability and

approximately €15 million to our costs in 2013. While some of this inflation

build on recent accomplishments such as the Virgin “wet lease” agreement

may be offset by positive yield growth, we nonetheless expect that it will

and the extension of the successful Aer Lingus Regional franchise

be difficult to fully pass through fuel cost and airport charge inflation to

agreement. In addition, we cannot afford to let up in our pursuit of cost

passengers, particularly with the implementation of austerity policies by

reduction measures to ensure the continuing competiveness and flexibility

several European governments and the subsequent expected knock-on

of the Group in 2013 and subsequent years.

impact on customers’ discretionary income in 2013.

We remain focused on delivering value to our shareholders. Over the last

We have now reached the third anniversary of our Greenfield cost savings
agreement with our unions. In the absence of a deal to resolve the pension
issue (which would have to incorporate continued pay restraint), we are
likely to face pressure for wage increases in 2013. As I previously noted, we
will be implementing a range of targeted and co-ordinated cost reduction
measures across our business to preserve, and most importantly progress,
the savings generated through our Greenfield programme to ensure our

three years we have turned Aer Lingus around, instituted a new annual
dividend policy and generated total shareholder return in the upper quartile
of the European industry. With a view to the future, and with shareholder
consent, we have embarked on a process to reduce the Group’s capital
which, if court approval can be obtained, will give us the ability to maintain
or, if appropriate, enhance our distributions to shareholders. Refer to the
“Principal risks and uncertainties” section and note 3.2 to the Financial

operating margin remains amongst the highest of our European peers.

Statements for further details.

Balance sheet strength

I would like to thank our staff and management team for their hard work

Aer Lingus continues to benefit from significant balance sheet strength. As
set out in Note 23, gross cash balances as at 31 December 2012 were
€908.5 million, an increase of €13.7 million over the prior year. All Group

in 2012 and their continued focus in 2013. In addition, I would like to
thank our shareholders for their support of our efforts since 2009 and in
future years.

borrowings are associated with aircraft asset financing. The Aer Lingus debt
maturity profile is spread over the years to 2023.

Christoph Mueller
Chief Executive Officer
7 March 2013
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Our business

Oil prices stabilised in the second half of 2012 following the dramatic

Aer Lingus was established in 1936 by the Irish Government to provide air
services between Ireland and the UK. Today, we operate as an independent
airline providing direct passenger and cargo transportation services from

increase between 2009 and 2011. As a result of the increase in jet fuel
prices and a relative strengthening of the US$ against the euro in 2012, our
fuel bill in 2012 was €26.9 million, or 8.1%, higher than in 2009 in spite

Ireland to the UK, Europe and also to the US.

of capacity deployment (measured by ASKs) in 2012 being 12.0% below

We are committed to serving airports located at convenient, central

airport charges with London Heathrow and Spanish airport authorities in

capacity deployed in 2009. Inflationary pressure also manifested itself in

locations which enhance connectivity for our customers. This airport
selection is offered at more competitive prices than most other European
legacy carriers. We further enhance connectivity options to worldwide
destinations through a wide range of airline partners. This diverse range of
partners epitomises our concept of “open network architecture”, whereby
our neutrality allows us to partner across alliances and offer connectivity

particular significantly increasing passenger taxes and fees in 2012.
The outlook for the Irish and UK economies remains uncertain in 2013,
with GDP growth projected to remain in low single digit figures. In Ireland,
the impact of austerity measures and tax increases required under the EU/
IMF financial assistance programme will continue to constrain personal

through major hubs to worldwide destinations.

finances and therefore continue to weaken domestic demand for leisure

Historically, Aer Lingus existed to connect Ireland to the world – and

in 2013 which may constrain opportunities for yield growth, particularly

travel. Similar forces are likely to apply in some of our other key markets

the world to Ireland. Over the last few years, we have started to widen
the scope of our business to provide an alternative, convenient way for
European passengers to connect to the U.S – and vice versa - for city pairs
with no direct flights. Increasingly, we are looking for opportunities to
apply our business model and cost base in other ways, for example our
“wet lease” agreement with Virgin Atlantic Airways Limited announced in

on short haul services. In December 2012, the International Air Transport
Association (“IATA”) released an updated financial forecast for 2013
showing that worldwide commercial airlines net profits are expected to
increase to US$8.4 billion from US$6.7 billion in 2012. However, IATA
expects European airline industry profits to be flat in 2012 and 2013 with
the growth in profitability coming from Asia Pacific and North and Latin

December 2012 and expanded Aer Lingus Regional franchise model.

America regions.

Our market

Key performance highlights

2012 was characterised by challenging macroeconomic conditions and by
weak underlying demand in some of the key markets in which we operate.

An analysis of the key performance priorities we set for 2012 in the prior
year, the progress we achieved in 2012 on those targets and our 2013
priorities are as follows:

In Ireland, our primary market, the economic environment remained
difficult in 2012 from a demand perspective. Full year GDP growth is

Continued emphasis on demand led network management

expected to be 0.9% (source: Department of Finance Monthly Economic

2012 priority: Continue to pursue the disciplined approach of recent years

Bulletin - February 2013) and the unemployment rate in Ireland remained

to the ongoing design of the Aer Lingus route portfolio in order to maximise

high in the year at 14.8% (source: CSO). The Irish air travel market is largely

revenue per seat as a key determinant of profitability, while recognising

dominated by non-business, leisure travellers and therefore continues to be

that there are unsold seats on many of our flights offering an opportunity to

adversely impacted by changes in the level of disposable income available.

improve profitability by improving load factor.

However, the principal Irish airports (Dublin, Cork and Shannon), recorded
an overall 0.4% increase in passenger numbers in 2012 with Dublin Airport

Progress achieved in 2012 and relevant performance indicators: We

recording an increase of 1.9% in passenger traffic year-on-year (source:

maintained our disciplined approach to capacity deployment with overall

anna aero). The economic environment in the UK for 2012, which is

capacity increasing by just 0.5% compared to 2011. Short haul capacity,

another key market for the Group, is forecast to have been weaker than

as measured by ASKs, decreased by 0.4% whereas long haul capacity

that in Ireland with zero % GDP growth expected for the year (source: HM

increased by 2.3%. Through fleet and network scheduling adjustments

Treasury, January 2013).

and an emphasis on marketing to inbound and transfer passengers on
short haul, and with increased demand on long haul, passenger numbers

In Europe, policy actions taken by the European Central Bank partially

increased year-on-year resulting in a positive performance with respect to

eased concerns about the ability of the European Union to mitigate risks

RPKs and load factor.

related to sovereign debt default and the future of the euro currency. In
spite of these actions, concerns remain with regard to eurozone financial
stability, the long term viability of the euro and economic growth across the
region as a whole.
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Network performance – Capacity
(as measured by ASKs)
Short haul (million)

2012

Growth vs.
prior year %

2011

Growth vs.
prior year %

2010

12,464

(0.4%)

12,509

2.6%

12,188

(7.8%)

Long haul (million)

6,221

2.3%

6,084

0.0%

6,081

(24.1%)

Total network (million)

18,685

0.5%

18,593

1.8%

18,269

(13.9%)

Network performance – Load Factor

2012

Growth vs.
prior year pts

2011

Growth vs.
prior year pts

2010

Growth vs.
prior year pts

Short haul

75.4%

0.8 pts

74.6%

(0.3 pts)

74.9%

(0.5 pts)

Long haul

82.5%

4.9 pts

77.6%

(0.8 pts)

78.4%

5.3 pts

Total network

77.7%

2.1 pts

75.6%

(0.5 pts)

76.1%

1.6 pts

Growth vs.
prior year %

As noted earlier, our Irish and UK markets remained relatively weak in 2012 and on this basis, we sought to generate additional passenger traffic by focusing
marketing efforts on the inbound segments of routes to Ireland across both long and short haul services. Approximately 47% of bookings are now sourced
from outside Ireland and approximately 60% of long haul bookings are now made from the U.S. These trends have served to protect our traffic, yields and
load factor and helped to increase profitability.
2013 priority: 2013 short haul capacity deployment on our mainline operations is expected to be lower than 2012 as a result of the introduction of two
further A319 aircraft to replace two A320 aircraft. However, long haul capacity will increase by approximately 11% in order to serve increased demand in
the transatlantic market which performed strongly in 2012. We intend to add additional frequencies to the Boston and Chicago services in Summer 2013
and will deploy the long haul A330 aircraft which is returning to the mainline Aer Lingus long haul fleet following its previous deployment on the enhanced
codeshare agreement with United Airlines.
Optimising fare revenue per seat
2012 priority: Continue to increase average fare revenue per seat as a cornerstone of our commercial strategy while acknowledging both the uncertain
consumer markets in which we operate and that our principal competitor is Europe’s largest low cost / low fares airline.
Progress achieved in 2012 and relevant performance indicators: Total average fare revenue per seat for 2012 was €88.70 which is 7.8% higher than 2011
and 12.8% higher than 2010. Our ability to increase both components of fare revenue per seat (i.e. average passenger yield and load factor) has been a
critical factor in mitigating inflationary pressure on non-controllable costs such as fuel and airport charges and therefore to protect and grow profitability.

Fare revenue per seat (€)

2012

Growth vs.
prior year %

2011

Growth vs.
prior year %

2010

Growth vs.
prior year %

Short haul

68.67

3.9%

66.09

5.5%

62.63

9.9%

Long haul

289.12

16.6%

248.03

4.0%

238.61

27.4%

Total network

88.70

7.8%

82.31

4.7%

78.62

11.4%

2013 priority: We expect that the current soft demand conditions noted earlier will continue to apply, particularly on short haul. Nonetheless, we continue
to focus on growth in revenue per seat as a fundamental driver of our commercial strategy. We intend to pursue this growth through a combination of
measures including:
•

Continuation of the existing pricing, distribution and marketing strategies designed to stimulate inbound traffic on transatlantic services and also
business traffic from core European destinations (e.g. Benelux countries, Germany, etc.).

•

Continue to optimise revenue per seat by remaining competitive for leisure passengers through active pricing and promotion; more active yield
premium management from closer in bookings and business travellers and increased “Flex” fare family penetration across our short haul network. We
will exploit the opportunity afforded by unsold seats to improve load factor where we can.

Following three years of increases in passenger yields, our ability to increase yields, particularly on short services, will be limited in 2013 primarily as a
result of weak economic conditions in our key Irish and UK markets and also due to expected increases in airport taxes and charges on ticket prices for
customers. These increased charges will feed through in higher travel costs for passengers and therefore we recognise that our ability to grow that portion
of the ticket price that we retain in the face of this inflationary pressure on travel costs may be limited.
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Continued growth in retail revenue in 2012
2012 target: During the year, we sought to further drive retail revenue per passenger with the focus on improving our offer in order to provide passengers
with the customised additional features they would like at affordable prices.
Progress achieved in 2012 and relevant performance indicators: Following a significant refresh of the retail revenue offering in 2011, we continued to
develop this category of revenue and enjoyed the full year benefits of actions taken in the prior year. Fare family revenues, advanced seat selection fees
and the Sky Deli brand of onboard catering have all positively contributed to retail revenue growth in 2012 and has allowed us to continue the positive
trend in retail revenue per passenger growth for a third successive year:

Retail revenue per passenger

2012

Growth vs.
prior year %

2011

Growth vs.
prior year %

2010

Growth vs.
prior year %

18.28

3.1%

17.73

0.3%

17.67

5.5%

2013 priority: We have a number of additional retail revenue opportunities in our product pipeline. These include the roll out of inflight wi-fi connectivity
services across the long and short haul fleets with initial deployment on our long haul services for Summer 2013. Inflight catering opportunities will also
contribute to retail revenue performance in 2013 with the launch of pre-order meals on short haul services in December 2012 and the launch of an
upgraded meal offering for long haul passengers in February 2013. We are also exploring the development of significantly upgraded reward and affinity
card programmes to drive increased customer engagement and incremental retail revenue.
Effective fleet management
2012 priority: Continue to maintain an appropriate fleet composition in order to serve the Group’s markets cost effectively and flexibly. This involves
maintaining a balanced approach to both (i) the mix of aircraft type in order to ensure that the appropriate level of capacity is available to match underlying
demand and (ii) the mix of owned and operating leased fleet in order to have the ability to expand or reduce the fleet in response to the evolving demand
environment.
Progress achieved in 2012 and relevant performance indicators: Our young fleet age continues to help us drive our competitive unit cost position. At 31
December 2012, the average age of the Aer Lingus fleet was 7.1 years.
We introduced two leased A319 aircraft into the fleet in early 2012 to replace operating leased A320 aircraft exiting the fleet. The economics associated
with the A319 aircraft type are appropriate for some of the lower demand routes within our network and should drive further operating and cost
efficiencies. The specific movements in the mainline Aer Lingus fleet during 2012 are as follows:
Description

No. of aircraft

Total mainline fleet at 31 December 2011

43

A319 aircraft acquired on operating lease

2

A320 aircraft returned to lessor

(2)

A330 aircraft returning from enhanced codeshare with United

1

Total mainline fleet at 31 December 2012

44

An analysis of our aircraft fleet at 31 December 2012 is:
Aircraft type

A319

A320

A321

A330-200

A330-300

Total

No. of aircraft

2

32

3

3

4

44

Of the total fleet of 44 aircraft, 26 aircraft are either owned or financed leased with the remaining 18 aircraft on operating leases.
2013 target: An A320 aircraft which we previously carried on our balance sheet as “held for sale” will be deployed in our mainline short haul services in
2013 to offset the redeployment of one of our current A320 short haul fleet aircraft for the Virgin “wet lease” operation. Two leased A319s will join the
fleet in 2013 to replace two A320 aircraft in our mainline short haul services, one of which will return to lessor and a second that will serve the needs of
the “wet lease” with Virgin Atlantic. In total, we will require four A320 aircraft for the Virgin Atlantic “wet lease” operations. As noted, two A320 aircraft
will be redeployed from our mainline short haul fleet and a further two A320 aircraft will be secured on medium term operating leases.
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For 2013, in order to serve underlying market demand, an additional A330 will be deployed in the Summer 2013 schedule. The Group had an A330
aircraft return to the fleet in 2012 following the conclusion of the enhanced codeshare with United Airlines for the operation of the Washington Dulles –
Madrid service. The additional capacity will service existing routes. No other changes are expected in long haul capacity. We have orders in place for Airbus
A350 aircraft for our long haul network but do not expect to take delivery before 2016. We will, however, likely begin to incur pre-delivery payments
(PDPs) from 2015. As a result of the above, we do not anticipate short term capital expenditure for new aircraft. As noted in the Chief Executive Officer’s
review however, we may seek opportunities to develop Aer Lingus through investment in increased ownership of our existing fleet.
The fleet movements planned for 2013 are as follows:
Description

No. of aircraft

Total fleet at 31 December 2012

44

A319 aircraft to be acquired on operating lease

2

A320 aircraft to be acquired on operating lease

2

A320 aircraft to exit fleet

(1)

Total fleet at 31 December 2013

47

Ongoing focus on cost management and operational efficiencies
2012 priority: We are fully aware of the extremely competitive environment in which we operate, particularly as we compete with one of Europe’s low
cost leaders on the majority of short haul routes ex-Ireland. For this reason, we have continued our sustained focus on achieving cost and operational
efficiencies across the organisation. In 2012, we experienced significant price inflation in relatively non-controllable costs such as fuel (24.2%) and airport
charges (7.1%). Against this backdrop, we continued to focus attention on reducing, and where possible, eliminating controllable costs from the business.
Progress achieved in 2012 and relevant performance indicators: We completed our three year “Greenfield” cost reduction programme in 2012. The original
goal for this programme was to achieve operational cost savings with an annual value of €97 million across both staff and non-staff cost categories. At the
end of 2012, we have exceeded this target with total annual cost savings achieved of €104.2 million.
Annual value of savings achieved
in year during 2012

Total savings as at December
2011

Total annual value of Greenfield
savings achieved

Staff

6.7

55.7

62.4

Non-staff

13.2

28.6

41.8

Total

19.9

84.3

104.2

€ million

Unit cost per ASK is a key performance metric used by us to track the cost competitiveness of the Group both over time and against other carriers. Yearon-year progression in unit cost per ASK is set out below:
Cent
Operating cost per ASK
% increase/(decrease) versus prior year
Operating cost per ASK (excl. fuel, airport charges, other gains/losses)
% increase/(decrease) versus prior year

2012

2011

2010

7.1

6.7

6.4

6.0%

4.7%

4.9%

3.7

3.7

3.7

0.0%

0.0%

8.8%

On a total basis, operating costs per ASK increased by 6.0% from 2011 to 2012. However, as a result of the efficiencies gained through cost restructuring,
cost saving, staff cost control and procurement initiatives, operating costs per ASK that are more directly under our control (i.e. excluding fuel, airport
charges and other gains and losses) remained relatively flat year on year.
2013 priority: Notwithstanding the success of the Greenfield programme, we are acutely aware of the need for ongoing cost reduction and control to
ensure that the competitiveness and profitability of Aer Lingus is maintained. In 2013, we will not be implementing a formal cost saving programme to
replace Greenfield, but rather we will continue to pursue cost savings and cost elimination across the business through a range of targeted and co-ordinated
staff and non-staff initiatives.
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Quarter by quarter review of 2012
Q1 2012
Trading in the first quarter of 2012 was significantly ahead of the 2011 comparative period owing to the impact of industrial action in Q1 2011 which
disrupted operations and was estimated to have cost the Group approximately €15 million in lost revenue and additional costs. Total revenue increased
by 15.4% with overall passenger yield increasing by 8.4% and passenger numbers up 6.6%. Long haul performance was particularly strong with long haul
revenue up 24.6% and long haul yield up 11.2%. Retail revenue per passenger was 8.5% ahead of prior year. Total load factor increased by 2.1 points.
Losses were €36.1 million compared with €53.7 million in Q1 2011.
Q2 2012
In Q2 2012, the robust trading performance of the Group continued. Average yield per passenger increased by 5.3% over prior year period with long haul
yields increasing by 7.8%. Capacity was 0.4% lower but load factor was 3.1 points higher than Q2 2011 reflecting the success of our strategy of carefully
matching capacity deployment with underlying demand. Passenger numbers in Q2 2012 increased by 1.2%. The impact of these favourable variances saw
total revenue increase by 6.7% over prior year period.
Increasing fuel prices and unfavourable movements in the EUR/US$ exchange rate were reflected in Q2 2012 with fuel cost increasing by 28.3% compared
to 2011. In addition, airport charges also increased by 8.3%, mainly as a result of price increases at London Heathrow causing total operating costs to be
5.8% higher. However the positive revenue performance more than compensated for the increased operating costs and overall operating profit, before
net exceptional items, increased by 17.8% to €31.7 million. At the half year, we recorded an operating loss, before net exceptional items, of €4.4 million
compared with €26.8 million for the first 6 months of 2011.
Q3 2012
We continued to trade strongly over the key summer months. The year to date momentum in yield and load factor performance continued with long
haul recording a particularly positive performance. In Q3 2012, total passenger yield was 7.2% ahead of 2011 with long haul 11.5% ahead. Load factor
achieved was 86.1%, 1.7 points higher than Q3 2011 with capacity decreasing by 0.6%. Total revenue increased by 5.7% to €460.8 million. In Q3 2012,
significantly weaker demand was noted on core routes to London during the Olympic Games which adversely impacted performance.
Inflationary pressure on costs continued in Q3 2012 however, with fuel 27.7% higher and airport charges 8.1% higher following price increases noted at
Spanish airports and London Heathrow. Overall, in spite of the significant cost inflation and the negative impact of the London Olympic Games, operating
profit of €90.9 million was only 2.9% below the 2011 comparative, leaving us with a year to date operating profit at the end of the quarter of €86.5 million,
29.7% ahead of 2011.
Q4 2012
In Q4 2012, we recorded an operating loss, before net exceptional items, of €17.4 million (2011: loss of €17.6 million). Revenue increased by 8.0% which
offset a total increase of 7.5% in operating costs. This resulted in an operating loss for the quarter that was 1.1% below prior year.
Passenger fare revenue increased by 9.2% compared to Q4 2011 driven by a 0.5% increase in passenger numbers and an 8.6% increase in yield per
passenger. Overall capacity in Q4 2012 was 0.8% lower than prior year. Load factor increased by 1.9 points overall with long haul increasing by 7.7 points
compared to Q4 2011 but short haul decreasing 1.4 points.
Operating costs in Q4 2012 were 7.5% up on Q4 2011 due to a combination of factors but principally fuel and airport charges. Total fuel cost increased
by 11.1% year on year to €83.8 million (2011: €75.4 million). The average fuel price paid per tonne (excluding into-plane costs) in Q4 2012 was
US$1,002 compared to US$952 in Q4 2011. Airport charges increased by 3.9% to €66.6 million (2011: €64.1 million) as a result of significant increases
in charges levied by particular airport authorities in 2012 (notably London Heathrow and Spanish airports). Other costs increased by 7.3% driven largely
by overheads, maintenance and reduced gains on FX currency hedging.
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Introduction
Aer Lingus delivered an operating profit, before net exceptional items, of €69.1 million for 2012 (2011: profit of €49.1 million). This excellent operating
result builds on the strong performance achieved under the successful turnaround strategy for the Group and represents the third consecutive year of
operating profitability since 2009. From a loss before exceptional items of €81.0 million in 2009, we have successively reported operating profits, before
exceptional items, of €52.5 million in 2010, €49.1 million in 2011 and now €69.1 million for 2012.
The 2012 operating result was achieved against a difficult economic backdrop, characterised by weak demand in our key Irish and UK markets and also
significant inflationary pressure on non-controllable costs, principally fuel and airport charges. In addition to an effective performance on revenue and
cost control, the 2012 full year result has also benefited from the non-recurrence of operational disruption in Q1 2011 which was estimated to have cost
approximately €15 million in lost revenue and additional costs.
Net profit before tax of €40.6 million for 2012 was €43.8 million, or 51.9% below the figure recorded for 2011. However, the decrease in pre-tax profit
can be attributed to exceptional items and is not reflective of the underlying profitability of the business. In 2011, exceptional gains were recorded on the
surrender of the Group’s leasehold interest in the Head Office Building at Dublin Airport to DAA plc and also from releases of amounts from the cash flow
hedging reserve relating to foreign currency hedges on long haul aircraft orders that became surplus to requirements. In 2012, exceptional items include
costs associated with restructuring our Shannon aircraft maintenance operations and legal and professional fees associated with Ryanair’s third takeover
offer for the Group which was formally made on 17 July 2012.
Passenger revenue

Passenger fare revenue (€ million)

2012

2011

% Increase/
(decrease)

1,159.8

1,068.0

8.6%

Passenger numbers (‘000s)
(excluding Aer Lingus Regional and UA codeshare)

9,653

9,513

1.5%

ASKs (million)

18,685

18,593

0.5%

Load Factor

77.7%

75.6%

2.1 pts

Yield per passenger (€)

120.15

112.27

7.0%

Fare revenue per seat (€)

88.70

82.31

7.8%

Passenger fare revenue for the year was 8.6% ahead of 2011 driven by higher passenger numbers (+1.5%), an increase in load factor (+2.1 pts), and
increased yield (+7.0%). Capacity (measured by ASKs) increased by just 0.5%. The positive figures fully reflect the success of our current strategy of carefully
managing capacity deployment across the network, focusing on higher yielding, time sensitive demand to drive increases in yield and fare revenue per seat.
Short haul
Short haul performance

2012

2011

% Increase/
(decrease)

Short haul passenger Revenue
(€ million)

816.3

781.0

4.5%

Short haul passengers (‘000s)
(excluding Aer Lingus Regional)

8,674

8,616

0.7%

Load Factor

75.4%

74.6%

0.8 pts

Yield per passenger (€)

94.11

90.65

3.8%

Fare revenue per seat (€)

68.67

66.09

3.9%

Short haul fare revenue increased by 4.5% in 2012 to €816.3 million (2011: €781.0 million). The positive revenue performance was driven by a 0.7%
increase in passenger numbers (excluding Aer Lingus Regional), a 0.8 pt increase in load factor and a 3.9% increase in fare revenue per seat. Yield per short
haul passenger increased by 3.8% and continues a positive trend in yield growth on short haul over the past three financial years.
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€

2012

Growth vs.
prior year %

2011

Growth vs.
prior year %

2010

Growth vs.
prior year %

Short haul yield per passenger

94.11

3.8%

90.65

5.5%

85.92

11.4%

Short haul capacity, measured by ASKs, decreased by 0.4% in 2012, with the decrease attributed to more effective network management as opposed to cancellation
of services (the decrease of 0.4% would actually have been greater were it not for the impact of the industrial dispute on Q1 2011 on the overall 2011 comparatives).
Two A319 aircraft were introduced to the fleet in Q1 2012 to replace two higher capacity A320 aircraft, one of which exited in June 2012 and the second in August
2012. Short haul capacity has been proactively managed over the past three years in line with our strategy to better match network capacity with underlying market
demand.
Short haul capacity deployment

2012

2011

2010

Capacity growth/(decline) year on year %

(0.4%)

2.6%

(7.8%)

Overall, time sensitive and business orientated routes continued to perform well in 2012. Robust trading was noted across central European routes such as Spain,
Italy, Portugal and Germany offsetting some weakness in the UK market. In Q3 2012, we experienced particularly weak trading on London routes as a result of the
Olympic Games. For the duration of the Olympic Games, there was a distinct lack of business demand on such routes. However traditional key leisure routes such
as Spain, Portugal and Italy performed strongly during the holiday months of Q3, somewhat offsetting this negative impact.

In 2013, we plan to introduce two further A319 aircraft into the mainline short haul fleet to replace two A320 aircraft. This development will reduce overall
capacity across the fleet.
Long haul
Long haul performance

2012

2011

% Increase/
(decrease)

Long haul passenger Revenue
(€ million)

343.5

287.0

19.7%

Long haul passengers (‘000s)
(excluding UA codeshare)

979

897

9.1%
4.9 pts

Load Factor

82.5%

77.6%

Yield per passenger (€)

350.82

319.96

9.6%

Fare revenue per seat (€)

289.12

248.03

16.6%

Under the revised Group strategy implemented from 2009, the long haul business of Aer Lingus was fundamentally changed with capacity significantly cut
by terminating under-performing routes and re-focusing long haul services on key routes where significant benefits could be realised from partnerships and
interlining with other carriers. The overall aim of this approach was to restore long haul services to profitability and this goal has been achieved.
Long haul capacity deployment

2012

2011

2010

Capacity growth/(decline) year on year %

2.3%

0.0%

(24.1%)

Total long haul revenue in 2012 increased by 19.7% compared to 2011. The excellent performance reflected strong market demand which saw passenger
numbers increase by 9.1%, load factor increase by 4.9 pts and yield per passenger increase by 9.6%. The strong performance was achieved alongside an
increase in capacity of 2.3% in the year. The increase in capacity can be partly attributed to the industrial action which disrupted operations in Q1 2011.
As noted with short haul, we have successfully achieved strong yield growth on long haul services over each of the last three financial years. Demand
continues to be strong and we will deploy the returning aircraft from the enhanced codeshare with United Airlines on our own long haul fleet during
Summer 2013.

€
Long haul yield per passenger

2012

Growth vs.
prior year %

2011

Growth vs.
prior year %

2010

Growth vs.
prior year %

350.82

9.6%

319.96

5.2%

304.07

18.9%
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Business class passengers increased by 10.4% and accounted for approximately 22% of total long haul revenue in 2012 (2011: 22%). The load factor
achieved in business class was 65% (2011: 61%). Our continued ability to attract business class passengers reflects our focus on improving the business
class experience on long haul services and the connectivity provided to business travellers though our open network architecture and partnerships with
connecting airlines in US, Europe and Middle East.
Retail revenue
Retail revenue performance

2012

2011

% Increase/
(decrease)

Retail revenue (€ million)

176.5

168.7

4.6%

Retail revenue per passenger (€)

18.28

17.73

3.1%

Retail revenue continues to be a key area of focus. In 2011, we introduced a number of initiatives which, alongside an increase in passenger numbers,
helped to increase retail revenue in 2012 overall by 4.6% and retail spend per passenger by 3.1%. The initiatives we introduced in 2011 included advanced
seat selection, pay-to-use lounge access and also a new inflight catering offering branded “Sky Deli”, which performed well in 2012. Retail revenue per
passenger has followed a positive trajectory since 2010:

€

2012

Growth vs.
prior year %

2011

Growth vs.
prior year %

2010

Growth vs.
prior year %

Retail revenue per passenger

18.28

3.1%

17.73

0.3%

17.67

5.5%

We are currently working on new products and initiatives to continue the growth in this revenue category on an overall and per passenger basis by
attracting increased passenger discretionary spend. The most significant elements of retail revenue continue to be onboard sales revenues, baggage fees,
on-line booking fees and seat selection fees.
Cargo
Cargo revenue performance

2011

% Increase/
(decrease)

45.7

43.0

6.3%

28,140

27,653

1.8%

2012

Cargo revenue (€ million)
Cargo tonnes - scheduled (‘000s)

Aer Lingus’ strategy is to carry cargo on both long haul and short haul services where turnaround times permit. We utilise available hold capacity of
passenger aircraft to generate additional revenue through cargo services as opposed to operating dedicated cargo aircraft. Cargo revenue increased
by 6.3% in 2012 to €45.7 million as a result of a 1.8% increase in tonnes carried and a 4.4% increase in the yield per scheduled cargo tonne flown.
Approximately 80% of cargo revenue is earned on our long haul services.
Operating costs
€ million
Total operating costs, before net exceptional items

2012

2011

% Increase/
(decrease)

1,324.2

1,239.2

6.9%

Total operating costs, before net exceptional items, increased by 6.9% to €1,324.2 million (2011: 1,239.2 million). This increase was driven primarily by
higher fuel costs and higher airport charges as capacity increased by only 0.5% and pay continued to be frozen under the Greenfield programme. Fuel
and airport charge costs made up 49.3% (2011: 45.5%) of the total Group operating expenses in 2012 and we are generally a price taker in both cost
categories.
€ million

2012

2011

% Increase/
(decrease)

Fuel cost

358.6

288.7

24.2%

Fuel costs represented 27.0% of total operating costs in 2012 (2011: 23.3%). Capacity deployment increased by 0.5% overall, which resulted in no
significant increase in block hours (+1.0%) and hence fuel burn. The increase in fuel cost was predominantly driven by adverse movements in price and FX.
The average cost of fuel per tonne (including into-plane fees) increased by 12.3% from US$937 in 2011 to US$1,052 per tonne in 2012. In addition, the
weaker euro also significantly increased cost. The average US$ to euro exchange rate in 2012 of 1.29 compares unfavourably to the average rate of 1.40
in 2011. In euro (€) terms, the fuel price per tonne (including into-plane fees) rose from €668 in 2011 to €817 in 2012. Part of this increase was protected
by our dollar hedging programme, and effects are reported as part of “Other gains and losses” discussed below.
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€ million

2012

2011

% Increase/
(decrease)

Staff cost

266.7

260.6

2.4%

The increase in staff costs year on year is primarily driven by an increase in FTEs across the Group resulting from recruitment required to support increased
operational activity and to provide the skills we need for the future. In particular this includes recruitment of flight crew, operations and catering staff and
apprentices in our maintenance department. Pay rates remained frozen under the Greenfield deal.
€ million

2012

2011

% Increase/
(decrease)

Airport & en-route charges

356.7

335.3

6.4%

Aer Lingus is a price taker in respect of airport charges, which represented 22.3% of total operating expenses in 2012 (2011: 22.2%). During 2012, higher
passenger volumes, significant price increases (particularly at London Heathrow and Spanish airports) and unfavourable FX movements contributed to
an increase in cost year on year. En-route charges increased by 2.8% largely due to the impact of unfavourable FX movements and an overall increase in
flights in 2012 as 2011 flight volumes were negatively impacted by an industrial dispute in Q1 2011. In 2013, and on a steady state basis (i.e. assuming
the same passenger/movement volumes as 2012), price increases, notably at Dublin, London Heathrow, Spanish and Italian airports, are expected to add
approximately €15.0 million to costs.

€ million

2012

2011

% Increase/
(decrease)

Maintenance costs

60.1

58.1

3.4%

Maintenance costs increased year on year by 3.4% due to a 1.0% increase in block hours flown in 2012 compared to 2011. In addition, a large proportion
of our maintenance costs are denominated in US$ and the relative strengthening of the US$ against the euro in 2012 drove an adverse variance on such
costs.

€ million

2012

2011

% Increase/
(decrease)

Depreciation

76.1

79.8

(4.6%)

The reduction in depreciation charge year on year is largely due to aircraft related costs. In 2011, accelerated depreciation was provided on retrofits of
A330 aircraft, with such charges not repeated in 2012. In addition, an A320 aircraft that was included in our fleet for most of 2011 was classified as “held
for sale” for most of 2012 and therefore was not depreciated. As at 31 December 2012, this aircraft has been taken back into our fleet on the basis of our
plans to deploy it on our mainline services in 2013. The reduction in depreciation charge associated with aircraft was offset by higher depreciation on IT
and premises costs, both of which have seen investment in recent years.

€ million

2012

2011

% Increase/
(decrease)

Aircraft operating lease costs

46.1

43.9

5.0%

Our aircraft operating lease costs are denominated in US$. The increase in aircraft operating lease costs year on year is driven by unfavourable movements
in the EUR/US$ FX rate in 2012 whereby the rate moved from an average of 1.40 in 2011 to 1.29 in 2012. The increase in cost due to FX movements was
somewhat offset by timing of returns and acquisitions of operating leased aircraft in 2011 and 2012.

€ million

2012

2011

% Increase/
(decrease)

Distribution costs

47.0

46.7

0.6%

The increase in distribution costs on prior year is attributable to higher credit card handling charges, computer reservation system fees and interline service
charges due to higher passenger numbers and higher yields offset by a decrease in advertising spend relative to 2011.
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€ million

2012

2011

% Increase/
(decrease)

Ground operations and other costs

126.2

129.1

(2.2%)

2011 ground operations and other costs were adversely impacted by aircraft and crew hire-in costs and additional flight cancellation charges as a result
of operational disruption in Q1 2011. In addition, non-recurring project costs, specifically in the area of IT, were incurred in 2011. There is therefore an
underlying increase in ground operations and other costs in 2012 which is primarily attributed to an increase in volume related costs and hardware and
software licence fees associated with continuing investment to improve our IT infrastructure.

€ million

2012

2011

% Increase/
(decrease)

Other gains/losses

(13.3)

(3.0)

343.3%

Other gains and losses relate primarily to net gains arising on the maturity of US$ and GBP currency contracts which are used to manage FX exposure.
Aer Lingus is structurally short US$ in any financial year. This is due to the fact that a significant portion of our cost base is denominated in US$ (including
fuel, aircraft hire, certain airport charges and an element of our maintenance costs) while the majority of our revenue is generated in euro. The extent to
which we are short US$ varies from year to year, depending upon the strength of our US$ denominated long haul revenue ticket sales on one hand and
the dollar cost of fuel on the other. In 2012, we were short some US$260 million. In addition, we also earn GBP revenues which exceed the level of costs
we incur in that currency. This typically leaves us with an annual GBP surplus.
We seek to protect ourselves from fluctuations in the US$ and GBP exchange rates through a systematic hedging programme. In 2012, the average US$
rate on our maturing US$ hedging contracts of €1 = US$1.39 compared favourably to the actual average US$ exchange rate in the spot market of 1.29.
The average actual hedged rate of surplus GBP sold in 2012 was €1 = £0.84 which compared unfavourably to the average actual GBP spot rate of 0.82.
These differences drove a net gain of €13.3 million in 2012 which provided some offset to the increase in fuel costs described above.
For 2013, and as detailed in the fuel, currency and emissions hedging section below, as at 31 December 2012 we had hedged US$132 million of our total
expected 2013 US$ trading requirement at an average rate of €1 = US$1.35. At 31 January 2013, the forward average US$/EUR rate for 2013 was 1.36.
Therefore, should the US$ spot rate remain close to this average forward rate for the rest of the year, we are likely to incur a small loss on our US$ hedging
in contrast to the significant gain recorded in 2012.
An overview of FX rates for 2012 is as follows:
Foreign currency rate

31 December

Average during year

2012

2011

2012

2011

Euro/US$

1.32

1.30

1.29

1.40

Euro/GBP

0.82

0.84

0.82

0.87

Greenfield
In 2012, we achieved new savings under our Greenfield cost reduction programme with an annual value of €19.9 million. When combined with the €84.3
million of annual cost savings already achieved at the start of the financial year, we have now achieved a total annual cost saving of €104.2 million which
exceeds our €97 million goal for the three year programme. The savings achieved in 2012 were split as €6.7 million staff savings and €13.2 million non-staff
savings. The initiatives undertaken to deliver the 2012 savings achieved included fuel management, overtime reduction, aircraft insurance savings, stock
disposals and sourcing and supplier management improvements. Although the formal Greenfield programme has come to an end we continue to pursue
cost saving opportunities and initiatives throughout the business.
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23.0

13.0

41.8

28.0

28.6

56.0

55.7

74.0

62.4
13.2
6.7

Total Greenfield
targeted savings
(original plan 2009)

Revised February
2011

2011 exit run rate

Non Staff

Staff

New savings
achieved 2012

Annual value of
savings at December
2012

Other

Net exceptional items
2012 net exceptional costs of €26.5 million compare to a net exceptional gain of €37.2 million recorded in 2011. The 2012 exceptional costs include
€17.2 million for restructuring, a large portion of which relates to costs associated with the relocation of A330 hangar maintenance from Shannon to
Dublin. As the majority of our A330 fleet is based in Dublin for operational purposes, the relocation of this maintenance activity will provide future
efficiencies in maintenance operations for the Group. €4.0 million relates to capital asset value write downs. This includes a €2.2 million impairment in
the carrying value of an A320 aircraft which was available for sale for most of 2012 but which now will be deployed on our mainline short haul services in
2013. An amount of €9.8 million was incurred in legal and professional fees associated with the third Ryanair offer for the Group in 2012. The costs noted
were offset by the release of an impairment provision of €4.8 million.
Finance income and expense
€ million

2012

2011

% Increase/
(decrease)

Finance income

15.3

15.4

(0.6%)

Finance expense

(17.1)

(17.3)

1.2%

Net finance expense

(1.8)

(1.9)

5.3%

Average cash

996.8

929.0

7.3%

Average debt

560.7

560.0

0.1%

The net finance expense for the year of €1.8 million is 5.3% lower than the net finance expense in 2011. Finance income decreased by 0.6% in spite
of a 7.3% increase in average cash due to lower average interest rates secured on our deposits in 2012 compared to 2011 (i.e. 1.4% in 2012 compared
to 1.6% in 2011). Finance expense decreased by €0.2 million as a result of a decrease in the overall average finance lease rate incurred (2.5% in 2012
compared to 2.6% in 2011). Average debt in 2012 was 0.1% higher than in 2011 in spite of debt repayments made in the year primarily as a result of the
US$ strengthening against the euro and the timing of aircraft acquisitions in 2011.
Tax charge
€ million

2012

Total tax charge/(credit)

2011

6.5

13.2

Effective tax rate

16.1%

15.6%

Carried forward tax losses

438.2

424.9

The total tax charge in the current year of €6.5 million primarily relates to movements in deferred tax with minimal cash taxes payable (see Note 12). The effective
rate of 16.1% is largely driven by permanent disallowable items.
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Cash flow, cash and debt
Significant cash flow movements in 2012 are as follows:

3.1

(22.0)

79.5

(41.1)
(2.2)

17.3

75.2
40.6

Profit before
tax

Depreciation

Provisions

7.7

Working
capital

Net capex

Net interest
paid

Other (incl.
exceptional
items)

(16.0)

(2.5)

(5.5)

(45.2)

75.2

908.5

894.8

Gross cash
December
2011
1

Free cash flow
(FCF1)

Free cash flow

Interest
accrued

Debt repaid

Dividend

Investment
in JV

FX

Gross cash
December
2012

Free cash flow represents cash generated from operating activities less net capital expenditure (purchases of fixed assets exclusive of finance lease raised

less proceeds from disposals) plus or minus net interest received/paid.
Overall gross cash increased by €13.7 million to €908.5 million (2011: €894.8 million). Free cash inflow in 2012 of €75.2 million represents a €100.1
million improvement in free cash flow compared to 2011. The 2011 cash flow however included €116.1 million of capital expenditure driven by aircraft
acquisitions in H1 2011. Significant cash flow movements in 2012 included working capital outflows of €22.0 million, net capital expenditure of €41.1
million and a €16.0 million dividend payment in July 2012. The 2012 net capital expenditure was mainly due to engine purchases, capitalised aircraft
maintenance and facility upgrades. The €22.0 million working capital outflow was a result of a lower trade payables balance at 31 December 2012 than
in the prior year due to our willingness to trade prompt payment for reduced costs. In addition, we experienced a timing issue with respect to recovery of
taxes and charges on interline passengers from our partner airlines. We bill our partners for these costs in arrears. The higher proportion of interline traffic
at year end has therefore adversely impacted working capital.
Significant movements in gross debt in 2012 are as follows:

5.5

(531.6)

(577.2)
(5.1)
Gross debt
December 2011

Interest accrued

45.2
Debt repaid
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At 31 December 2012, 66% of gross debt was denominated in US$. The Group however holds an equivalent amount of gross cash in US$ to mitigate the
potential impact of FX on the financial statements hence the offsetting €5.5 million FX in both gross cash and gross debt.
The Aer Lingus debt maturity profile extends until 2023 with finance lease repayments of approximately €42 million and €118 million due in 2013 and
2014 respectively.
Fuel, currency and emissions hedging
To achieve greater certainty on costs, we manage our exposure to fluctuations in the market prices of fuel and foreign currency through hedging. At 31
December 2012 our estimated fuel requirements for 2013 and 2014 were approximately 448,000 metric tonnes in each year which were hedged as
follows:
Fuel hedging

2013

2014

% expected fuel requirement hedged

57.3%

7.1%

Average price per tonne
(excluding into-plane costs)

$994

$952

Our main foreign currency exposure is to the US$. At 31 December 2012, our forward purchases of US$ comprised:
US$ currency hedging

2013

2014

Forward purchases of US$ ($ million)

132.0

63.0

Average rate (US$ to EUR)

$1.35

$1.32

At 31 December 2012, we had sold GBP£40.0 million forward for 2013 at an average rate of GBP£0.85. In addition, we had US$235 million hedged
against part of the cost of nine new A350 aircraft due for delivery in 2016 to 2019 at an average rate of US$1.39.
The EU emissions trading system (“EU ETS”) became effective for airlines from 1 January 2012 requiring that all flights departing from and arriving at
EU airports attract a charge for a portion of their carbon emissions. This charge is to be met by submission to the EU of carbon allowances, and aircraft
operators have been provided with a portion of their allowance requirement as a “free” allocation based upon their share of total EU activity in 2010. In
November 2012 the European Commission (EC) proposed a one year moratorium on the ETS scheme in respect of flights which were not entirely within
the EU in 2012. Aer Lingus is fully compliant with EU ETS for 2012 and received free allowances equivalent to 81% of its 2012 requirement. The balance
of the 2012 requirement (i.e. 19%) was purchased for €1.4 million.
Based on the current scheme (assuming no further derogations) and associated free allocation for 2013, we estimate that the ETS cost of compliance in
2013 would be circa €2.1 million based on carbon prices of €6.70 per tonne at the reporting date.
Basic and diluted earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to the owners of the parent by the weighted average number of shares in issue
during the year, excluding treasury shares.
Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume conversion of all dilutive
potential ordinary shares. As at 31 December 2012, dilutive potential ordinary shares relate to share options granted that have satisfied specific performance
conditions as set out in the underlying option agreement. The weighted average number of dilutive potential ordinary shares in existence for purposes
of 2012 diluted EPS was 157,534 (2011: nil).
Earnings per share

2012

2011

Profit attributable to owners of the parent
(€ million)

34.1

71.2

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (‘000s)

530,093

529,761

Dilutive effect of options and long term incentive plan (‘000s)

158

-

530,251

529,761

6.4

13.4

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for dilutive earnings per share
‘000s)
Basic and diluted earnings per share (cent)
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Dividend
On 4 May 2012, we announced a new dividend policy and indicated that the Group intends to pay a dividend for those future years in which we make
an operating profit, provided that the payment of a dividend is appropriate and prudent in the context of our financial position, strategic objectives and
prospects. We indicated that, subject to these conditions, we expected to pay a dividend of approximately three cent per share for 2011, 2012 and 2013.
Aer Lingus Group plc paid its first dividend of three cent per share, amounting to approximately €16 million, on 31 July 2012. In response to the strong
financial and operating performance of the Group in 2012, the Board will recommend the payment of a final dividend for 2012 of four cent per share to
the AGM. If approved by shareholders at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting, the dividend will be paid as soon as practicable thereafter. The level
of any dividend to be paid in respect of 2013 will be evaluated by the Board at the end of the year.
Update on capital reduction process
On 4 November 2011, Aer Lingus shareholders approved a special resolution at an Extraordinary General Meeting (“EGM”) to take the necessary steps to
seek the approval of the High Court (“the Court”) to create up to €500 million of distributable reserves on our balance sheet.
The matter was heard by the High Court in July 2012. Objections were made by the trustees of both the Irish Airlines Superannuation Scheme and the
Irish Airlines (Pilots) Superannuation Scheme. Since the judgement was issued, a hearing to allow further submissions as to the appropriate order to be
made has been adjourned on a number of occasions in order to allow progress to be made in discussions regarding the funding shortfall in the pension
schemes. On 26 February 2013, the High Court set 6 March 2013 as the date on which it would hear submissions as to the appropriate order to be made.
Submissions were made on behalf of the parties on 6 March 2013 and the High Court is expected to deliver its judgement regarding the form of the order
on 13 March 2013.
Significant balance sheet movements
The Group’s balance sheet remains strong. Gross cash balances have increased by €13.7 million to €908.5 million (2011: €894.8 million). The Group’s
net cash position increased significantly by €59.3 million to €376.9 million (2011: €317.6 million) and at 31 December 2012, the Group holds net assets
of €834.7 million (31/12/2011: €836.7 million).
The following significant balance sheet movements also occurred in 2012:
•

Capital expenditure of €44.4 million was incurred, largely driven by the acquisition of aircraft engines, capitalised aircraft maintenance, facility
upgrades and other equipment costs.

•

The Group acquired a 33.33% equity interest in a leasing company (“the Joint Venture”). At 31 December 2012, the fair value of the Group’s interest
in the Joint Venture was €10.8 million (equivalent to its carrying value). Refer to Note 16 for further details.

•

At 31 December 2011, an A320 aircraft was classified as held for sale with a carrying value of €9.8 million. In December 2012, a management decision
was made to re-introduce the aircraft to the fleet due to operational requirements. The aircraft has therefore been reclassified to property, plant and
equipment. See Note 17 for details.

•

The net derivative hedging position decreased €33.9 million year on year. The market value of the outstanding derivatives contracts has fallen in
comparison to 2011. This is mainly due to unfavourable movements in the underlying euro/US$ exchange rate.

•

Other reserves decreased by €15.8 million in 2012. The decrease in Other reserves was driven by the adverse movement in the underlying euro/US$
exchange rate. This is linked to the derivative hedging position above as movements in both are being driven by the same underlying factors.

•

Provisions increased by €3.4 million in 2012. The increase is due to the creation of provisions for the A330 Shannon hangar maintenance restructuring
offset by utilisation of the Greenfield provision.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Board of Aer Lingus is responsible for the Group’s risk management systems, which are designed to identify, manage and mitigate potential material
risks to the Group’s strategic and business objectives.
Risk Management:
Board of Aer Lingus
Board Audit Committee

Board Safety Committee

Board Risk Committee
Internal Audit Function

Air Safety Office

Non-Flight Risks

Flight & Flight Safety

All key non-flight risks are evaluated for inclusion on the risk register
within the categories set forth below. Any risks with a potential impact
of less than the threshold are delegated to departmental managers.
These risks are not included on the corporate risk register.
Corporate
Risk

Commercial
Risk

HR
Risk

Finance
Risk

IT
Risk

Operations
Risk

Risks relating to Flight & Flight Safety are separately monitored by
the Safety Committee. Safety is of paramount importance, and
the management and mitigation of risks associated with flight
safety is the subject of a discrete process, under the control of
the Board Safety Committee. Our safety process is described on
page 33.

The corporate risk management process seeks to mitigate the non-flight risks faced by the business and is designed to ensure that senior management are
focused on the material risks faced by the Group. After identification, each such risk is assessed in terms of its impact on the business should it occur,
and the likelihood of occurrence. A risk management plan is then developed, setting out the controls in place and the additional mitigating actions to be
applied. Responsibility for each such plan is assigned to a member of the Executive. This process is iterative and refreshed periodically. The effectiveness
and design of these controls are rated and an assessment is made of the residual risk that remains after the mitigating actions have been taken. The
management of each major risk is subject to review on a quarterly basis and progress is reported to the Board Risk Committee. The Executive Management
team formally reassesses the corporate risk register on a quarterly basis to ensure that new and emerging risks are appropriately captured and evaluated,
and that legacy issues which are no longer regarded as significant are removed. The principal corporate, non-flight risks facing the Group are described
below. This is not intended to be an exhaustive analysis of the risks which may arise in the ordinary course of business or otherwise. The arrows indicate
whether, in the Board’s opinion, the risk is increasing

, reducing

, or remaining broadly unchanged

.

Risk

Impact

Economic conditions

Our revenues and passenger numbers are very sensitive The Board reviews booking patterns and revenue forecasts on

Mitigation

to economic conditions in the markets in which we

a regular basis and takes action when necessary to maintain

operate. Continued weakness in the Irish and UK markets

an appropriate match between capacity and demand in the

in particular, but also in the continental European or Group’s markets. The Group attempts to compensate for
North American economies can have a significant weakness in the core Irish market by competing for inbound
negative impact on passenger volumes and fares. The traffic and by using its relationships with other airlines,
effect would be compounded by the Group’s high including Aer Lingus Regional, to flow transfer passengers
fixed cost base. Sustained weakness in these markets through its network and stimulate inbound traffic to Ireland.
could damage the Group’s profitability, cash flows and
ability to grow to the possible detriment of the Group’s
attractiveness as an investment for shareholders.
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Partnerships and alliances

Aer Lingus is not a member of any of the three global
alliances but nonetheless derives substantial passenger
revenues from its relationships with other airlines. These
airlines are typically members of one of those three
global alliances. The revenues make a very material
contribution to the Group’s fixed costs. If at some future
time these alliances were to restrict such relationships to
their own members, or if the relationships were to be
discontinued for other reasons, Aer Lingus could face the
loss of significant revenue and profit.

Aer Lingus invests significant management time and
effort in fostering existing relationships and building new
relationships that are consistent with existing partnerships.
Were the alliances to become “exclusive” in the future, Aer
Lingus could seek membership of one of them, but would
need to weigh the revenue benefits that would accrue
against the costs of membership.

Increased Competition

The Group’s markets are very competitive but, in
general, no airline appears at present to have significant
surplus capacity on any of our principal routes. If a new
competitor(s) were to enter any of our major markets,
and in particular our transatlantic routes, additional
capacity and the resulting competition for passengers
could result in lower fares and damage the Group’s
profits. In addition, any failure by the Group to operate
effective selling and marketing programmes or to offer
attractively priced products and services could be
significantly damaging to revenue and margins.

The Group monitors the schedules and intentions of its
current and likely future competitors. In the event that
future competition rendered any of its routes uneconomic,
the Group would consider reductions in capacity to restore
profitability.

Staff productivity and

Aer Lingus has a largely unionised workforce and
collective bargaining takes place on a regular basis across
a range of issues including but not limited to: pay, rosters
and pensions. A breakdown in the bargaining process
could have the potential to result in industrial action,
disrupting operations and adversely affecting business
performance. Threatened strike action relating to the
pensions issue during the third and fourth Quarters
of 2012 resulted in lost bookings. The Greenfield
agreements include productivity commitments which
are an important element of the Group’s cost reduction
programme and any reversal of them might result in
failure to achieve cost savings targets. The Greenfield
agreements were for a three year term and their expiry
at the end of 2012 exposes the Group to the risk of rising
staff costs.

The Group seeks to maintain open and constructive
relationships with staff representatives, while recognising that
it may from time to time prove difficult to reach agreement
on certain issues. The Group will seek to consolidate and
build on existing cost stability and productivity commitments.

relations
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Pensions

IASS

IASS
The great majority of Aer Lingus staff (other than pilots) Aer Lingus is attempting to assist in the achievement of a fair
are members of the Irish Airlines Superannuation outcome that will improve the pension prospects of affected
Scheme (“IASS”). This pension scheme is unusual for a IASS members in a way that will balance the interests of all
parties, including shareholders and is seeking to achieve this
number of reasons.
in a manner that reflects its firm view that it has no legal
Firstly, it is a multi-employer scheme, with the principal obligation for the deficit in the scheme.
other employers being the Dublin Airport Authority
(“DAA”) and Shannon Airport Authority (“SAA”).

The key elements of the Aer Lingus proposal are as follows:

Firstly, the IASS would be closed to new members and benefit
Secondly, the contribution rate is fixed and cannot accrual for members would cease. The IASS investment
be changed without the agreement of employer policy would be changed by the trustees to reduce risk by
and employee. For this reason, from the employer’s investing in fixed income products whose cashflows broadly
perspective, it is a defined contribution scheme. match the IASS obligations. This approach would result in
However, under the trust deed and rules, the pension higher pensions than on a wind-up of the IASS, but is at the
scheme targets benefits linked to final salary and length sole discretion of the IASS trustees. Aer Lingus would make
of service. The funding rate and investment performance no financial contribution to the IASS (beyond its regular
is inadequate to support these target benefits and, as contributions), which in any event would be discontinued
a result, a substantial deficit has arisen in the scheme. when the IASS closes to future accrual.
On 31 December 2012, this deficit was estimated to be Secondly, Aer Lingus would establish new defined
some €779 million on the minimum funding standard contribution arrangements on competitive terms in respect
basis. Mathematically, approximately 65% of the of the future service of its own employees. Subject to the
schemes liabilities are associated with current or former uptake of Aer Lingus employees, the overall increase in
employment costs attributable to the new DC Scheme is not
members of Aer Lingus staff.
expected to be significant.
Aer Lingus strongly believes that the current funding
position of the IASS is unsustainable and that it must Thirdly, Aer Lingus is prepared to put in place arrangements
to improve the future pensions of affected IASS members
now be addressed by the IASS trustees. The deficit in the
provided the balance between costs and benefits is in the
scheme is so significant that, had the IASS been wound
interests of all parties, including shareholders. In particular,
up on 31 December 2012, current employees and
Aer Lingus is seeking employment cost stability over the
former employees who are not yet in receipt of a pension coming years. If put in place, any such arrangements are
(deferred members) would have received approximately likely to include a once off initial contribution by Aer Lingus
5% of their expected IASS pension benefits.
to any new DC funds of those affected IASS members, and
such contributions would favour those closer to retirement,
or on lower incomes. However, the extent to which Aer
Lingus would be prepared to make a contribution would
be linked to the strength of the commitment of staff to
stabilising employment costs.
In combination, these three elements have the potential to
provide fair and sustainable pension benefits for affected
IASS members significantly beyond the level of coverage
which the IASS current funding status can sustain.
The discussions which were held during 2012 at the LRC,
and which subsequently involved the Labour Court, staff
representatives and a technical group of actuaries and
lawyers are complex and involve many parties. In November
2012 Aer Lingus agreed to participate in a process proposed
by IBEC and ICTU in which the Labour Court would set out
an interim recommendation regarding the main parameters
for the resolution of the pension issues.
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That recommendation was issued in January 2013. Since
that time the “Technical Group” has worked to turn the
recommendation into a proposed solution. The matter has
been referred back to the Labour Court and re-engagement
is expected to take place in the Court on 11 March 2013.
There can be no certainty that agreement would be
reached between all parties involved. It is also clear that our
requirement that Aer Lingus must be in a position to present
a business case to shareholders, in terms of employment
cost stability, to justify any contribution to be made to new
pension arrangements has proved deeply controversial with
staff representatives. We have made it clear to all parties
that we will seek shareholder approval of any agreement
that may be reached. In the meantime Aer Lingus continues
to meet its legal obligations, which are to pay the monthly
employer contributions to the scheme.
Pilots’ Scheme

Pilots’ Scheme

Aer Lingus pilots are members of the Irish Airlines (Pilots) Aer Lingus has recently agreed to engage in a process of
Superannuation Scheme (“the Pilots’ Scheme”). On discussion with parties affected by the funding shortfall in
31 December 2012 the Pilots’ Scheme was estimated the Pilots’ Scheme in an attempt to assist in the achievement
to have a minimum funding standard deficit of

of a fair outcome that improves the pension prospects of

approximately €218 million. As with the IASS, the liability affected Pilots’ Scheme members in a way that will balance
of Aer Lingus to contribute to the Pilots’ Scheme is fixed the interests of all parties, including shareholders and
at the current contribution rates and, accordingly Aer employees. As is the case with the IASS, the process of
Lingus has neither a constructive nor a legal obligation discussion will be complex and involve many parties. There
to increase its rate of contributions to the Pilots’ Scheme,

can be no certainty that agreement will be reached between

even if the scheme is found to have insufficient funds to all parties involved.
pay all members the benefits relating to their current or
past service.

Notwithstanding Aer Lingus’ involvement in the two sets of
discussions outlined above, it remains the Group’s position,
supported by firm legal advice, that it has no legal or
constructive obligation in respect of either the IASS or the
Pilots’ Scheme, other than to continue to pay the fixed rate
contributions as set out in the trust deeds of these schemes.
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Cost recovery

The Group operates in an extremely competitive market. The Group seeks to mitigate pressure on its margins by
The core Irish market is very price sensitive, with a implementing fuel surcharges on long haul flights, using
substantial majority of passengers travelling for leisure

hedging techniques to reduce the volatility in fuel prices

or family reasons. Fuel and airport charges represented

and by actively managing those costs over which the Group

some 49.4% of the Group’s total costs in 2012. Volatility has more control. The Group pays close attention to the
in the price of jet fuel can have a significant negative

profitability of individual routes and is prepared to consider

impact on costs and airport charges are largely outside reductions in capacity or other actions if cost increases
the Group’s control. The Group is particularly vulnerable erode margins.
to increases in charges at Dublin, which is its hub airport.
In 2012, the Group became subject to the EU carbon
emissions trading scheme (ETS), which requires the
Group to buy credits for CO2 emissions in excess of a
free allowance. This has added to cost. Uncertainty over
the future of the ETS makes it difficult to determine how
best to hedge the Group’s exposure to that cost over
the medium term. The nature of our markets can make
it very difficult to pass cost increases on to passengers
without an adverse impact on traffic volumes.
Organisational capacity

The Group is engaged in a change programme to create

The programme office continues to monitor the progress

a flexible, entrepreneurial company with a competitive of important projects being implemented in the business.
cost base. The extent of change that is required is

Initiatives are being launched to improve the engagement of

significant and a challenge for the Group’s managers staff and assist managers to improve their own performance.
and staff at all levels. The Group is reliant on third party The change programme receives the close attention of
support for certain important initiatives.
Operational disruption

Executive Management and their direct reports.

Long term disruption, or the inability to recover promptly The Group remains exposed to potential future events, the
from short term disruptions, can have a material adverse nature and timing of which may be outside its control and
impact on the Company’s business in terms of lost which can occur at short notice.
bookings and revenue, additional cost and damaged
customer confidence.

Fleet

The Group seeks to maintain a balance between owned Commercial

operations,

network

planning,

fleet

and leased aircraft to give it the flexibility to reduce management and supplier management are integrated
capacity at short notice by handing back leased aircraft.

under the Chief Commercial Officer to give the best

Maintaining this flexibility can result in higher operating

overview of likely fleet requirements. The Company also

costs.

In addition, the Group has commitments to undertakes an ongoing review, in terms of production

purchase new aircraft costing some €937 million over and possible delays, of the ordered aircraft program.
the period to 2019. There is a risk that these aircraft may The Group regularly prepares and updates 5 year plans to
not meet the Group’s needs if market conditions or the assist it in managing its fleet and order book. The Group
Group’s business changes in the period up to delivery. maintains significant cash balances, partly in response to its
There is also the risk that the Group may not be able to aircraft order book.
raise finance to fund these purchases in the future and
have to rely on its own resources.
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IT systems

The Group is dependent on IT systems for most of its The Group has put in place and continues to invest in,
primary business processes. The performance and technology security initiatives and disaster recovery and
reliability of these systems is critical to our ability to business continuity arrangements to mitigate the risk of a
operate and compete effectively. Any failure of a critical critical system failure. Project teams have been established
IT system or inability of a software supplier to support a to manage the IT upgrades and third party support will
critical IT system for example in the areas of passenger

be sought where Aer Lingus lacks the necessary skills

bookings and yield management could adversely impact or resources, including in relation to project and risk
revenue generation and financial performance.

In management. The Group will give high prioritisation to the

addition, Aer Lingus has identified the need to upgrade

upgrade of its passenger management system. This project

important parts of its core revenue management,

will be very tightly managed and controlled.

passenger management and staff rostering system.
These projects are complex and will require substantial
third party support. The passenger management system
covers the basic applications around customer services,
reservation and check in: any problems encountered in
upgrading this system could have a significant adverse
effect on customer experience, sales across all channels,
distribution and workflow efficiency.
Capital Reduction

Failure to obtain court approval of the capital reduction

Aer Lingus Group plc sought and received shareholder

would substantially reduce the Group’s financial

approval to increase its distributable reserves by means of

flexibility and ability to pay dividends or buy back shares

a capital reduction in an Extraordinary General Meeting

in the future. The Board continues to believe that it is

held on 4 November 2011 and the matter was heard by

in the best interest of shareholders to enable Aer Lingus

the High Court in July 2012. Objections were made by the

to have greater flexibility to consider a return of capital

trustees of both the Irish Airlines Superannuation Scheme

to shareholders (or the redemption or repurchase of

and the Irish Airlines (Pilots) Superannuation Scheme.

ordinary shares) in excess of the limits currently imposed

Since the judgement was issued, a hearing to allow further

by the Company’s balance sheet.

submissions as to the appropriate order to be made
has been adjourned on a number of occasions to allow
progress to be made in discussions regarding the funding
shortfall in the pension schemes. On 26 February 2013,
the High Court set 6 March 2013 as the date on which it
would hear submission as to the appropriate order to be
made. Submissions were made on behalf of the parties on
6 March 2013 and the High Court is expected to deliver
its judgement regarding the form of the order on 13 March
2013.

Reliance on third parties

The Group is dependent on third party suppliers for Each of these key relationships is actively monitored by a
certain important parts of its operation. Services provided nominated manager.
range from aircraft heavy maintenance and technical
support to airport facilities to ground handling outside
the Republic of Ireland to the franchisee operating
Aer Lingus Regional. Any failure or inability of a major
supplier to provide the contracted services could cause
significant disruption to the Group’s operations and
result in financial loss.
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Banking

The Group has substantial cash, cash equivalents, The Group actively monitors its counterparty exposures and
deposits and debt securities totalling €908.5 million at 31 moves funds if credit ratings fall to an unacceptable level.
December 2012. Of this amount €41.8 million has been The Group does, however, remain exposed to systemic risks
placed since 2008 on long term deposit with various Irish affecting the Eurozone and its members. As at 31 December
banks. The balance of the funds is deposited across a

2012 deposits are allocated across a wide portfolio of banks.

range of banks with deposit limits and maturities linked 96% of all cash is deposited with banks incorporated in AAA
to credit rating. The bulk of the money is placed with

rated sovereign jurisdictions. 4% of all cash is deposited with

banks in the UK, US, the Netherlands, France, Australia, banks incorporated in Ireland, linked to long-term deposits
Germany, Canada, Denmark, Sweden and Norway. The connected to debt. As at the 31 of December 2012 Aer
deposits are broadly split between US$ (40%) and euro Lingus had deposits or investments with 27 counterparties
(60%). Any failure of a bank holding deposits is likely to in order to reduce concentration risk.
result in significant loss to the Group. In addition, any
restructuring of the Euro zone or its membership could
result in significant loss to the Group if it caused the
failure of one of the counterparty banks, or result in the
creation of a foreign exchange exposure which does not
currently exist. Any such restructuring, if it were to occur,
would also be likely to have a significant adverse impact
on consumer confidence and therefore on the Group’s
bookings and revenues.
Financial

Details of the principal financial risks to which the Group
is exposed, and the approach to mitigating them, are set
out in Note 3 to the financial statements.
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Colm Barrington (Chairman)

Andrew Macfarlane (Chief Financial Officer)

significantly contributed to the Board in these

Colm Barrington was appointed to the Board in

Andrew Macfarlane was appointed Chief

and in other areas since his initial appointment

September 2008 and was appointed Chairman

Financial Officer and a member of the Board on

in January 2008.

in October 2008.

3 October 2010. He is a Fellow of the Institute
of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales

David has served as a member of the Safety and

He is Chief Executive Officer and a Director of

and holds an MA in Economics from Selwyn

Risk Committees since January 2009.

Fly Leasing Limited, the NYSE listed, Irish based

College, Cambridge. Andrew originally joined

aircraft leasing company. He was Managing

Aer Lingus as Interim Chief Financial Officer on

Montie Brewer

Director of Babcock & Brown in Dublin from

21 December 2009. Prior to his appointment he

Montie Brewer was appointed to the Board on

1994 to 2007, specializing in aircraft lease

most recently served as Chief Financial Officer

25 January 2010. He is an airline veteran and a

management and financing. Prior to that he

of Rentokil Initial plc and his career has covered

recognised industry innovator in airline pricing,

held a number of senior executive management

the leisure, business services, real estate and

sales and distribution strategies. Most recently

positions in GPA Group Plc from 1979 to

accounting sectors. His early career was with

he was President and CEO of Air Canada. He is

1993 when he was appointed President of GE

Ernst & Young, where he spent 12 years, reaching

currently a Non-Executive Director of Allegiant

Capital Aviation Services Limited following its

the position of Corporate Finance Partner in

Travel Company, recognised as one of North

acquisition of GPA.

1987. In addition he has held the position of

America’s most innovative airline and travel

Chief Financial Officer at Land Securities Group

groups. He holds a BA in Business Administration

Colm’s many years of experience in executive

plc and Holiday Inn, and also served as a Non-

& Transportation Management from Michigan

leadership positions in the aircraft leasing

Executive Director of Invensys plc.

State University.

and Fly Leasing, have provided him with a

Andrew’s prior experience as Chief Financial

Montie’s direct executive level experience in

range of knowledge, skills and expertise of

Officer in a number of listed entities has

the aviation industry enables him to bring airline

direct relevance to his roles as Director and

equipped him with the necessary skills and

specific skills and expertise to bear on the Board

Chairman of Aer Lingus and as a member of

expertise to address the challenges he faces as

of Aer Lingus.

the Remuneration, Appointments and Safety

Aer Lingus Chief Financial Officer and Executive

Committees.

Director.

Christoph Mueller (Chief Executive Officer)

David Begg

Christoph

businesses of GPA, GE, Babcock & Brown

Montie has served as a member of the Risk
Committee since June 2010.

Chief

David Begg was appointed as a Non-Executive

Laurence Crowley

Executive Officer and a member of the Board on

Director effective on 28 January 2011. From

Laurence Crowley was appointed to the Board

14 September 2009. Prior to this he was Aviation

January 2008 - January 2011 he served as an

on 9 January 2009 and is the Senior Independent

Director at TUI Travel plc. He has extensive

ESOT nominee on the Board. He has been

Director on the Board. He is Chairman of the

experience within the aviation industry, having

General Secretary of the Irish Congress of Trade

Middletown Centre for Autism, Ecocem Limited,

held senior executive positions in Daimler Benz

Unions since 2001. For five years prior to that

Realex Payments and the Economic and Social

Aerospace, Lufthansa AG, the Sabena Group,

he was Chief Executive of Concern Worldwide,

Research Institute. He is also a member of the

DHL and Deutsche Post AG prior to his roles

an international humanitarian organisation

Board of An Bord Gáis Eireann, the Gate Theatre

at TUI Travel plc. He serves as a Non-Executive

working in 27 countries and with offices in

and a number of other companies. He previously

Board member of Tourism Ireland.

Dublin, London, Belfast, New York and Chicago.

served as Governor of the Bank of Ireland

He is a member of the National Economic and

(where he completed his term in 2005) and

Christoph’s executive level experience within

Social Council and he also sits on the Executive

as Executive Chairman of the Michael Smurfit

the aviation industry has equipped him with the

Committee of the European Trade Union

Graduate School of Business at University

ideal skills and expertise for the fulfilment of his

Confederation. He served as a governor of the

College Dublin. He is also a past Director of

role as Aer Lingus Chief Executive Officer and

Irish Times Trust from 2002 to 2012 and as a

Elan Corporation. Previously, he was a partner

Executive Director.

Director of the Central Bank from 1995 to 2010.

in KPMG Stokes Kennedy Crowley Chartered

He holds a Master’s Degree in International

Accountants, where he specialised in corporate

Relations from Dublin City University.

restructuring and insolvency. Laurence holds a

Mueller

was

appointed

Christoph has served as a member of the Safety

Bachelor of Commerce degree from University

Committee since August 2010.
David has particular skills, expertise and

College Dublin and is Fellow of the Institute

experience in the area of industrial relations

of Chartered Accountants in Ireland. In 2004,

together with executive leadership skills and has

he was conferred with an honorary Doctorate
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in Laws by the National University of Ireland.

During Danuta’s many years of experience at

Thomas Moran

In 2009 he was awarded an Honorary CBE

executive level in the mobile telecommunications

Thomas Moran was appointed to the Board on

by Queen Elizabeth II for services to UK-Irish

industry, amongst the skills she has developed is

25 August 2006. Tom has served as Chairman of

relations.

an advanced expertise and understanding of the

the Board of Mutual of America Life Insurance

customer. This expertise is of particular relevance

Company since June 2005 and has served as

Laurence has vast experience as both a

to Aer Lingus. Danuta also has significant

its President and Chief Executive Officer since

Chartered Accountant and Board member. This

expertise in the area of Remuneration and

October 1994. He has participated in its growth

experience enables him to make a significant

has experience of chairing the Remuneration

from a small retirement association to a mutual

contribution to the Board as both Non-Executive

Committee of another listed entity.

life insurance company with more than $14.5

Director and Senior Independent Director. His

billion in assets. Tom is a graduate of Manhattan

accounting experience is of particular relevance

Danuta has served as Chair of the Remuneration

College and has extensive business experience

to his Chairmanship of the Audit Committee.

Committee since January 2009.

and is on the Boards of the Irish Chamber of

Laurence has served as Chairman of the

Francis Hackett

States Council for Commerce and Industry Inc.

Appointments Committee since January 2009.

Francis Hackett was appointed to the Board

He is also Chairman of the Board of Concern

He also served as a member of the Audit

on 9 February 2006. Francis is a solicitor of

Worldwide US.

Committee since January 2009 and assumed the

over twenty years standing. He is the former

Chairmanship of that Committee in December

managing partner of Eversheds Solicitors,

Tom applies his vast experience and expertise

2010.

Dublin.

in the areas of pension and retirement-related

Mella Frewen

Francis

in

commerce and executive leadership to his

Mella Frewen was appointed to the Board on

commercial law, corporate law, regulatory,

roles as Aer Lingus Non-Executive Director and

1 January 2011. She is Director General of

telecommunications and information technology

member of the Audit Committee.

FoodDrinkEurope, representing the European

law and contributes commercial and legal

Food and Drink industry, based in Brussels and

expertise to the Board of Aer Lingus.

Commerce in the USA and the Ireland-United

matters, the US market, Irish-United States
has

extensive

experience

has worked in the agri-food sector in Europe for

Tom has served as a member of the Audit
Committee since October 2011.

over 20 years. She has Bachelor and Master of

Francis has served as Chairman of the Safety

Science degrees from the National University of

Committee since January 2009.

Ireland and completed a post-graduate course

Nicola Shaw
Nicola Shaw was appointed to the Board on

in marine biology at the Universite Libre de

Colin Hunt

25 January 2010. Nicola is Chief Executive of

Bruxelles. She also holds diploma in International

Colin Hunt was appointed to the Board on 31

High Speed 1, the railway between St Pancras

Operations Management from INSEAD.

January 2008. Colin is a Managing Director at

International in London and the Channel Tunnel

Macquarie Capital and has responsibility for the

connecting with the international high speed

Mella has significant experience of the interaction

firm’s activities in Ireland. Previously he served

routes between London and Paris and London

between business and the institutions of the

as Special Adviser to the Ministers for Finance

and Brussels. Prior to that she served as Director,

European Union. Her knowledge, expertise

and Transport of Ireland. An economist by

Bus – UK, Ireland and Germany for FirstGroup

and skills in this area contribute to the Board’s

profession, he was Research Director and Chief

plc. She previously worked in senior positions

understanding in working and interacting with

Economist at Goodbody Stockbrokers, Head

in both the UK Strategic Rail Authority and the

these institutions.

of Trading Research at Bank of Ireland Group

Office of the Rail Regulator. She holds a BA in

Treasury and a country risk analyst at NatWest.

Modern History and Economics from Oxford

Mella has served as a member of the Risk

He is a graduate of University College Cork and

University and an MSc in Transport from MIT.

Committee since October 2011.

Trinity College Dublin. He is also Chairman of
the Inspire Ireland Foundation.

Danuta Gray

Nicola’s significant experience in transport and
with regulation enables her to bring directly

Danuta Gray was appointed to the Board on 25

Colin’s experience as an economist, in banking

relevant skills and expertise to the Board of

August 2006. Most recently Danuta was Chief

and in executive leadership enables him to

Aer Lingus. Her understanding of the financial

Executive of O2 Ireland, a position she held

contribute significantly to the Board and is

and performance fundamentals of UK listed

since 2001. She is a graduate of the University of

particularly relevant to his role as Chairman of

companies and those in the transport sector

Leeds. She is a member of the Paddy Power and

the Risk Committee.

make her ideally suited for membership of both

Old Mutual Plc Boards. She is also a member

the Audit and Remuneration Committees.

of the Board of two not-for-profit organisations,

Colin has served as Chairman of the Risk

Barretstown Gang Camp and Headstrong

Committee since January 2009.

(Centre for Youth Mental Health). She is also a

Nicola has served as a member of the Audit and
Remuneration Committees since June 2010.

former Director of Irish Life & Permanent plc.
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Christoph Mueller

Stephen Kavanagh

Fergus Wilson

Chief Executive Officer

Chief Commercial Officer

Chief Operating Officer

See Board of Directors on page 30.

Stephen Kavanagh is a graduate of University

Fergus Wilson was appointed as the Chief

College Dublin and joined the Company in

Operating Officer with effect from 1 January

Andrew Macfarlane

1988. He undertook a number of analytical

2012. Fergus had served as COO on an interim

Chief Financial Officer

and management roles in fleet scheduling and

basis since July 2011 and from 2006 led the

See Board of Directors on page 30.

business planning departments before being

Maintenance and Engineering function as

appointed Operations Planning Manager in

Post Holder for Continuing Airworthiness and

Andrew Cornish

2003 with responsibility for the integration

Maintenance. He was appointed to the senior

Chief Customer and Brand Officer

of network, aircraft and crew planning, and

management team in 2002 in the role of Deputy

Andrew Cornish was appointed as Chief

a focus on improved productivity and asset

Chief Engineer having previously served in

Customer and Brand Officer with effect from 1

utilisation. Stephen was appointed to the senior

senior management roles within the former

February 2012. He brings a wealth of customer

management team in March 2006 as Planning

regional airline Aer Lingus Commuter. Fergus

experience from different industries. Most

Director and was appointed as Corporate

is a licensed aircraft maintenance engineer in

recently, he served as Chief Executive of MDL

Planning Director in November 2007. In 2009

airframe, powerplant and avionic disciplines

Marinas Group plc. Prior to that he was the

he was appointed as Chief Commercial Officer

having initially served an apprenticeship with

Managing Director and Group Board Director of

in addition to his planning and commercial

Aer Lingus, joining in 1978. He holds an MBA

Manchester Airports Group; Divisional Managing

responsibility for the long haul and short haul

from the Open University Business School and

Director of the Unipart Group of Companies,

business.

brings a wealth of knowledge and experience of

and he held a number of senior positions with

Aer Lingus’ Operations with him to the role of

Eastman Kodak. Andrew is responsible for most

Donal Moriarty

of the customer facing teams in the Company

Executive Counsel

COO.

and represents the needs of the customer on the

Donal Moriarty was appointed as Executive

Executive Team. He is responsible for ensuring

Counsel with effect from 1 January 2012. The

Ravindra Simhambhatla

that the product proposition and delivery

Executive Counsel Function ensures that the

Chief Technology Officer

continue to meet the excellent standards being

existing expertise within each of the Legal,

Ravi Simhambhatla was appointed as the Chief

achieved at present.

Company Secretarial, Aero-political/Regulatory

Technology Officer with effect from 18 June

Affairs and Public Relations areas are directly

2012. Mr Simhambhatla’s career to date spans

Michael Grealy

represented on the Executive Team. In this

three continents, bringing with him a wealth

Chief People & Change Officer

manner, guidance and advice is provided directly

of global experience in technology innovation,

Michael Grealy is a graduate of Trinity College

to the Executive Team and the Board on the

gained from working in senior Director and

Dublin. He was appointed Chief People &

legal, regulatory, compliance and reputational

CIO roles in the aviation, software and motor

Change Officer in September 2009. Formerly

implications of their decision making. Donal is

industries. Prior to working for Aer Lingus, Mr

Head of Group Human Resources and a member

a solicitor and was Company Secretary at Aer

Simhambhatla worked for Tesla Motors as Vice

of the Group Executive Committee of Bank of

Lingus from early 2009 to September 2012.

President Information Technology. He has

Ireland, Michael has extensive experience at a

Prior to joining Aer Lingus he spent 9 years with

particularly strong experience of technology

senior level in human resources within major

software company IONA Technologies, most

within the aviation industry having spent five

industries in Ireland, France and the US. As a

recently as Assistant General Counsel. Prior to

years with Virgin America. He joined Virgin in

former Head of Group HR in Bank of Ireland

that he worked in practice as a solicitor in the

2006 during its startup phase and pioneered a

(2001-2006), Michael was a key member of the

Corporate Department of William Fry. Donal is a

systems architecture and infrastructure designed

senior management team and was central to

graduate of University College Dublin.

to drive differentiated customer experiences

the alignment of the Group’s HR strategy with

and support strong e-commerce platforms. He

the Group’s business strategy, as well as the

also spent a year in Dublin in the 1990s while

implementation of a number of major change

working with GE Information Services.

initiatives. Michael was subsequently Chief
Executive, Alternative Investments and Global
Distribution with Bank of Ireland. Michael has
also held senior Human Resources positions in
Boston Scientific and Seagate Technology.
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SAFETY AND SECURITY STATEMENT

Aer Lingus Safety Management System

The Group places great emphasis on proactive and predictive systems

Safety is a corporate value of Aer Lingus. We actively manage safety as
an integral part of all operations, both in the air and on the ground. We
are committed to maintaining a safe, healthy and sustainable working
environment wherever we operate – for our staff, our customers and the

to manage safety. The SMS involves the ongoing routine collection and
analysis of safety data during the ordinary course of business, which enables
proactive management. This includes a Flight Data Monitoring Programme,
a Confidential Safety Reporting System and a Hazard Identification and

public.

Risk Analysis (HIRA) programme. The principles of air safety management

We are committed to implementing, developing and improving strategies,

around the prevention of accidents and incidents and cover all aspects

are integral to all Aer Lingus’ training programmes. Courses are designed

management systems and processes to ensure that all our activities uphold
the highest level of safety performance. It is also our objective to promote
the safety, health and welfare of all employees and all those affected by
our activities so far as reasonably practicable. Safety depends on the cooperation of all employees in the organisation. Our aim is not simply to

of our operation, including the handling of dangerous goods, aviation
security and emergency response planning. Staff training in all operational
departments is mandatory. Training records and processes are regularly
subject to external review and audit. Aer Lingus is subject to regular safety
reviews, in particular from the Irish Aviation Authority (IAA) and our partner

avoid accidents but to motivate and empower people to work safely.

airlines.

In order to fulfil the commitments explicit in the Aer Lingus Safety Policy,

In 2012, the Air Safety Office continued its mission of delivering training to

management will enforce the requirement to proactively manage risk in
the control of all activities of personnel and of the use of resources that
are directly related to, or necessary for, the delivery of service to our
customers. Recruitment practices, training and supervision of employees,
and the procurement of equipment to support service delivery activity are
all factors in the successful management of safety. Aer Lingus management
will ensure that all staff adhere to safety policy and controls, and that their
working environment remains conducive to carrying out their assigned

all operational divisions, and now also routinely trains staff from our third
party handling contractors.
Aer Lingus is registered as an IOSA Operator under the IATA Operational
Safety Audit Programme. The IOSA programme is an internationally
recognised and accepted evaluation system designed to assess the
operational management and control systems of an airline.

duties.

Aircraft maintenance, repair and overhaul are critical to the safety and

The Aer Lingus Safety Management System (SMS), as described in the

optimisation of its fleet utilisation. The Aer Lingus maintenance system is

comfort of Aer Lingus’ passengers, the efficient use of its aircraft and the

Safety Manual, provides the mechanism for management to deliver on this
commitment.

subject to repeated audit inspections by the IAA.
There is a programme of continual review to ensure ongoing compliance

Aer Lingus’ SMS is directed by the Safety Manager. This role reports directly
to the Chief Executive, ensuring continued accountability and awareness
of these issues and their importance within the Group. The Safety Manager
has responsibility for the co-ordination and oversight of the key SMS
components; Air Safety, Health and Safety, Security, Quality Assurance and

with the Safety, Health and Welfare at Work Act 2005, and the General
Applications Regulations 2007 and with all relevant safety regulations, as
well as the integration of Health & Safety into the Airline’s flight safety &
accident prevention programme.

Emergency Response Planning

Information and advice for customers on air travel and health is available

The Aer Lingus SMS is subject to an ongoing continuous improvement

Cara, and through onboard announcements and videos.

on the Group’s website, www.aerlingus.com, in the inflight magazine,

programme. In 2012 the process of integrating safety management into
the wider business continued, with improved linkages between such
diverse elements as training, strategic sourcing and operations control.
In 2012, Aer Lingus published a company wide Safety Plan, setting out
objectives and goals to ensure that all employees maintain their focus on
safety performance. The plan was co-ordinated and monitored by the
Air Safety Office, with quarterly progress reports published internally to
all managers and employees. In 2013, the Safety Plan has been further
enhanced to incorporate safety actions aimed at ensuring that Aer Lingus’
safety management activity conforms to best practice through the review of
industry benchmark publications.

Air Safety
Aer Lingus’ Air Safety Office acts as an independent monitor of air safety risk
management. This office focuses on accident prevention, hazard and risk
analysis and promotes best practice and awareness throughout the Group.
The Air Safety Office is also responsible for management of Flight Data
Monitoring. This is a safety process whereby flight performance is regularly
monitored using telemetry to identify any areas of risk and is used in both
operational and maintenance planning. The Air Safety Office operates the
Group’s Air Safety Reporting System, its incident and happening database
and a Confidential Safety reporting system.

33
ANNUAL REPORT 2012

SAFETY AND SECURITY STATEMENT Aer Lingus Group Plc

Aer Lingus participates in a number of International Air Safety Organisations
and forums including; European Aviation Safety Agency (EASA), European
Commercial Aircraft Safety Team (ECAST), International Air Transport
Association (IATA), International Air Carrier Association (IACA), the Irish
Aviation Authority (IAA) Safety Management Working Group, the United
Kingdom Flight Safety Committee (UKFSC), the Flight Safety Foundation
(FSF), the UK Flight Data Monitoring Forum and the National Bird Hazard
Committee. Through its involvement with the international aviation
community, Aer Lingus enhances its safety awareness by means of
information sharing, ensuring that at all times the Group is fully compliant
with international best practice in the safety arena.

Quality Assurance
The Quality Management System provides regulatory compliance
oversight of both technical and operational activities, as well as all third
party and partner airline contracts. In 2012, Aer Lingus consolidated its
quality oversight management structure. The previously separate divisions
of Operational Quality Assurance and Technical Quality Assurance have
now been integrated into one. The new group performs the oversight and
internal audit function of Aer Lingus and contracted organisations in order
to comply with the requirements of the IAA, EASA and EU-Ops legislation.
The Quality Manager also co-ordinates Aer Lingus’ association with the
IATA IOSA.

Board Committee on Safety
The Board has a Safety Committee, which assists the Board in discharging its
responsibility for safety, including ensuring that adequate safety regulations
and procedures are in place across the Group, that such regulations and
procedures are complied with and reviewed from time to time, and also
ensuring that appropriate procedures are in place so that any crisis or
accident can be properly managed.
In this role the Committee met four times in 2012, with the Chief Executive
Officer, the Safety Manager and the Corporate Health & Safety Advisor
in attendance, to be appraised of safety performance and developments
within the organisation. One of these meetings was convened in the
Company’s new Emergency Response Centre in Hanger 6 at Dublin
Airport, where the Committee were presented with an overview of the Aer
Lingus Emergency Response Plan.

Security
The Group’s Corporate Security Office acts in an advisory and consultative
capacity in relation to all aspects of both corporate security and aviation
security. The aim of aviation security is to protect passengers, crew, staff and
members of the public and civil aviation in general from acts of unlawful
interference.
Aer Lingus ensures that both directly employed staff, handling agents
and contracted agencies across the network are made aware of the need
for a high level of security at all times. Aer Lingus achieves this aim by
compliance with all aviation security statutory and regulatory requirements
in jurisdictions where we operate. In 2012 alone over 800 company
employees across the organisation received aviation security training.
We fully co-operate with law enforcement agencies and adopt a proactive
approach to the development of best practice in all areas of aviation

Health and Safety
The Company maintains a well established Health and Safety Office, which
focuses on workplace safety, health and welfare. Under the direction of the
Corporate Health & Safety Advisor, who co-ordinates the implementation
of health and safety policy across the Group, the office also regularly
reviews and develops policy. The Health and Safety Office focuses on
accident prevention via a hazard and risk assessment programme. The
health and safety officers run a continuous programme of health and safety
training in consultation with line departments, advising departments on
development of health and safety and manages incident reporting and
occupational accident investigation procedures.

security.
Aer Lingus continues to ensure its Disruptive Passenger Policy is followed.
This policy has been made available to all staff and handling agents to
minimise disruption to passengers and prevent and detect behaviour that
causes discomfort, inconvenience or injury to other passengers, crew or
ground staff.
In January 2013, the IAA took over the role of Appropriate Authority in
the area of Aviation Security in Ireland, the role previously held by the
Department of Transport, Tourism and Sport. Included in this role is

It is Aer Lingus policy to have as a constant objective the creation and
maintenance of a safe working environment for its staff and the Group
has a Safety Statement, based on compliance with all relevant legislation
and regulations, which specifies how this should be implemented. Annual
reviews are carried out to ensure compliance and system effectiveness. Aer
Lingus Health and Safety personnel are members of a number of safety
organisations including; Institution of Occupational Safety and Health, The
International Air Transport Section of the US National Safety Council, and
the Aviation Ground Safety Council (UK). In addition, the Group operates
an Employee Assistance Programme (EAP), which is a resource that

oversight of compliance with aviation security regulation.
The Corporate Security Office is responsible for development and
implementation of the Aer Lingus Air Carrier Security Programme (ACSP),
which sets out the policies and processes by which regulatory requirements
are met in each aspect of our operations.
Security forms part of the IOSA programme and Aer Lingus continues to
maintain successful compliance with the IATA Operational Safety Audit
(IOSA).

provides education to staff on matters pertaining to health and information
to facilitate improved attendance management.
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Aer Lingus is an organisation committed to social responsibility. We value

due to the “buy on board” products and pre-order meal service whereby

the contribution made by our people in delivering the care, attention

food is purchased based on individual passenger needs.

and dedication required of a world class airline. Aer Lingus is continually
building on its long-standing tradition of Irish welcomes as an airline loved

Emissions to Waters/Sewers

by its passengers because of our great value fares, friendly and caring

Aer Lingus is subject to regulation and licensing in relation to surface water

service.

and sewer emissions from operations such as de-icing, fuel/oil spillages
and catering sewer emissions. Aer Lingus has pollution prevention policies

Environment

and procedures in place across its network and works closely with airport

Aer Lingus acknowledges its responsibility in terms of the environmental

authorities to ensure full compliance and to avoid penalties and fines.

impact of its operations. Balancing the protection of the environment with
people’s need to travel is essential for both ethical and business reasons.

Supporting Charitable Organisations
Aer Lingus has a strong tradition of providing support for good causes and

Throughout 2012 we implemented multiple projects aimed at improving

community initiatives both within Ireland and overseas. The airline made a

our fuel efficiency. The airline continues to pursue initiatives to offset the

significant contribution to a wide range of organisations in 2012.

impact of its operations on the environment.
UNICEF – Change for Good
Fleet

In 2012, Aer Lingus passengers and crew raised $1.1 million for UNICEF’s

Aer Lingus operates a very young and fuel efficient fleet. The average age

Change for Good™ programme, by placing unused currencies into the

of the fleet was 7.1 years as at 31 December 2012.

special envelopes on flights. This brings the total amount generated by
this long running partnership between the airline and UNICEF to over $16

Air Emissions

million to date. The money raised onboard is used, by UNICEF, to provide

Aer Lingus operates a focused “fuel conservation plan” to minimise

thousands of children in deprived areas of the world with the essentials for

fuel burned and the emission of greenhouse gases. This plan harnesses

a safe and healthy childhood.

available cost efficiencies and as emissions are directly proportional to
fuel burn, it also reduces emission levels and it has had a measurable

Aer Lingus crew visited Zambia in March 2012 to see for themselves the

impact on fuel and emission efficiency. On an ongoing basis, engines are

difference money raised by Change for Good™ is making to children’s lives

monitored, maintained and overhauled to maximise fuel efficiency and

there. In response to the crisis caused by the conflict in Syria in December

minimise emissions, and environmental upgrades are added on overhaul

2012, Aer Lingus passengers generously donated over $140,000 to

where available. This engine conditioning monitoring aims to give advance

support UNICEF’s lifesaving work in the region. 2012 also marked the

warning of impending deterioration of parts, allowing for preventative

15th anniversary of the Aer Lingus partnership with UNICEF Ireland and

maintenance which contributes to ensuring efficient engines and therefore

a special event with UNICEF Goodwill Ambassador & actor Liam Neeson

has both emission control and fuel burn benefits. Aer Lingus also performs

was held in Dublin to mark the occasion.

engine water washes on both engines types in the fleet, which improves
fuel burn and also results in lower emissions. In addition, airframes are

Employee Support

inspected and maintained to ensure minimum drag. Aer Lingus’ continued

Aer Lingus encourages and supports employees involved in fundraising

commitment to maintaining a young fleet also improves operational fuel

for charitable initiatives through their sports clubs and associations. In

efficiencies due to the use of newer technology and this will continue in

addition, the Company participates and facilitates charitable donations

the future.

by its employees through payroll deductions for Air Concern. This Dublin
Airport based initiative provides financial assistance to families in need in
the community working with the Ballymun Money Advice Service.

Waste Management
Aer Lingus is committed to waste management including the collection,
transport, processing, recycling, disposal and monitoring of waste materials.

Ethical

As with all airlines, Aer Lingus must store and/or handle potentially

The Aer Lingus Code of Business Conduct and Ethics aims to ensure the

hazardous waste as a result of its operations (e.g. solid/liquid waste
from maintenance operations). These operations are subject to detailed
legislation and regulation. All staff involved in these operations receive
appropriate training and Aer Lingus ensures that processes applied both
internally and, by third parties engaged to treat such waste, are in line with
best practice. Non-hazardous waste from aircraft is also subject to controls
and licensing. Aer Lingus continues to achieve reductions in catering waste

highest ethical standards in conducting business activities with customers
and suppliers. The code supplements established procedures, regulations
and authority levels already in place. Staff contracts contain an obligation
to comply with Group policies. Under the Code of Business Conduct and
Ethics, employees have a responsibility to declare in writing any potential
conflict of interest which might affect their impartiality in carrying out their
duties; maintain confidentiality of information at all times; and ensure they
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do not accept gifts, entertainment or favours from customers or suppliers

International Hurling event including teams from New York, San Francisco,

which could compromise them. In addition, there is a specific procurement

Canada, Buenos Aires, Asia, Europe and Australia.

policy, which governs the purchase of significant goods and services.

Supporting Businesses

Our People
We value people with the determination and passion to deliver great

Aer Lingus supports many organisations and initiatives focused on

customer service, and drive our business forward. We recognise the

promoting business and international trade.

importance of the contribution made by our people in delivering our “Great

Through the Aer Lingus Viscount Awards, now in their fifth year, Aer Lingus

in everything we do allows us to stand out from our competitors. Aer Lingus

Care, Great Fare” promise to customers. We believe that taking Great Care

promotes the economic ties between Northern Ireland and Great Britain
– in particular in the South of England. Aer Lingus is proud to provide a
gateway via Belfast City airport to London Heathrow and Gatwick routes
for those businesses to connect with their markets across the water.
Aer Lingus also supports the “Gateway to Europe Expo” initiative, giving
support in the form of flights for Irish businesses exhibiting in cities across
North America, in an effort to encourage US business to locate and invest
in Ireland.

supports learning and development of employees to ensure the safe and
efficient operation of the business and to ensure we deliver on our promise
to our customers.
Recruitment
We are committed to recruiting the best people and to developing their
careers throughout their time with Aer Lingus. As a result, our airline is
viewed as an employer of choice.
Through our recruitment policies and procedures we provide equal access
to all qualified candidates and avoid all forms of discrimination. Our
objective is always to select the candidate most suitable for each position,

Sports Sponsorship
The airline continued its support of community based sports initiatives
throughout 2012.

on the basis of pre-set selection criteria.
The Group fills vacancies through the provision of opportunities for existing
staff to progress within the organisation, combined with the recruitment of

Aer Lingus was proud sponsor of Ireland’s Olympic Team and welcomed
Team Ireland on board its special homecoming flight from London to
Dublin, in August.

specific expertise and skills externally. Aer Lingus operates a highly effective,
low cost recruitment model, where over 95% of external recruitment needs
are sourced through the Group’s website, www.aerlingus.com.
Learning and Development

Travel assistance was provided for Ireland’s Paralympics team travelling to

Aer Lingus is committed to providing high-quality learning to support the

Lisbon to a training camp in advance of the Paralympics Games.

safe and efficient operation of the business with the primary focus on
mandatory training requirements, in particular air safety, aviation security,

Aer Lingus also supported Special Olympics and Celebral Palsy Sport

health and safety and operational training. In addition, there is a particular

Ireland through their charitable fundraising initiative, the Paris2Nice cycle.

focus on customer service training to ensure that a consistent, satisfactory

The six day, 700km cycle took placed in September 2012.

customer experience is delivered. The majority of cabin crew and pilot
training is designed and delivered in-house through dedicated facilities

Aer Lingus is the official airline partner of Dublin GAA under a three

on-site so as to ensure a consistent standard and quality of training.

year sponsorship agreement, building on existing support for the Galway

In recent years we have re-activated Cadetship and Apprenticeship

Hurling Supporters Club and other local GAA initiatives.

programmes for the recruitment and training of Pilots, Aircraft Mechanics
and Engineers.

In Northern Ireland, Aer Lingus signed a two year deal with Ulster

Finally, there is also an increased emphasis being placed on developing

Rugby as Official Airline Sponsor. Aer Lingus provides Ulster Rugby

our managers and supervisors to ensure we continuously develop the

with air travel as well as supporting the development of travel and

competence of our management capability.

accommodation packages for supporters to and from Northern Ireland.
Equality and Diversity
In 2013, Aer Lingus will host the first ever International Hurling Festival.

Aer Lingus is fully committed to being an equal opportunities employer

The Hurling Tournament, in association with the Gathering and supported

regardless of nationality or ethnic origin, race, gender, sexual orientation,

by the GAA and Etihad Airways, will be staged at Pearse Stadium with other

marital status, disability, age and religious or political belief. The Group

festival events, including music and dance, taking place in venues around

proactively ensures compliance with all relevant equality legislation.

Galway City. Teams from all over the world will compete in this unique

During 2012 a total of 36 different nationalities worked across the Group.
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Flexible Working
Aer Lingus recognises that changes in personal circumstances affect
employees’ lives and work. In order to recognise the diverse needs of
employees, and to ensure fairness and consistency across the Group, Aer
Lingus has a flexible working policy. The objective of this policy is to help
staff achieve a healthier balance between their working lives and personal
responsibility without compromising business needs and to retain valued,
experienced and trained employees. The policy includes flexible working
and leave arrangements such as flexitime, part-time work, job sharing,
paternity leave, bereavement leave and compassionate leave.
Communication and Consultation with Employees
Aer Lingus has multiple communication channels in place to keep all
employees up-to-date on key issues and developments, including an
intranet, notice boards, webcasts, email, newsletters, road shows and
department briefings and specific websites for pilots and cabin crew. We
fully recognise the values and rights of employees under current legislation
with regard to worker participation. In addition, the Group engages
extensively with worker representatives in relation to all key developments
and change initiatives within the business.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
Year ended 31 December 2012
Introduction
The Directors present their report to shareholders, together with the
financial statements of Aer Lingus Group plc and the Auditors’ report
thereon, for the year ended 31 December 2012.

Principal activities and future developments

% of issued

Name

Shares held

Ryanair Limited

159,231,025

29.82%

Minister for Finance of Ireland

134,109,026

25.11%

Denis O’ Brien

20,308,822

3.8%

share capital

The principal activities during the year continued to be the provision of air

As far as the Company is aware, other than stated above, no other person

travel services. The Chairman’s Statement and Chief Executive Officer’s

or Company has an interest of more than 3% in the share capital of the

Review on pages 2 to 8 reports on developments during the year, on the

Company.

state of affairs at 31 December 2012, on events since 31 December 2012,
and on likely future developments. Further information with respect to

Accounting policies

the review of the business and future developments is contained in the

The Group accounts are prepared under International Financial Reporting

Operating and Financial Review on pages 9 to 22. The financial statements

Standards as adopted by the EU. The principal accounting policies, together

for the year ended 31 December 2012 are set out in detail on pages 60

with the basis of preparation of the accounts are set out on pages 68 to 78.

to 118.

Dividends

Information on the key performance indicators applicable to the Group are

On 4th May 2012 the Company announced a change to its dividend policy.

detailed in the Financial Highlights on page 1, the Chairman’s Statement

The Company paid its first dividend of three cent per share on 31 July 2012.

on pages 2 to 4, the Chief Executive Officer’s Review on pages 5 to 8 and

On 6 February 2013, the Board announced that it would recommend a

in the Operating and Financial Review on pages 9 to 22.

dividend payment of four cent per share in respect of the year ended 31

Results for the year and state of affairs as at 31
December 2012

December 2012, subject to shareholder approval at the AGM.

Principal risks and uncertainties

The consolidated income statement for the year ended 31 December 2012

Information on the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group are

and the consolidated statement of financial position at that date are set out

detailed on pages 23 to 29. The Financial Risk Management policies are

on pages 60 and 62 respectively. The profit for the year after tax amounted

set out in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.

to €34.0 million (2011: profit of €71.2 million).

Directors and Secretary

The movement on consolidated retained earnings for the year is as follows:

The names of the current Directors appear on pages 30 to 31. The
Directors who served during the year are listed in the table below:

€m
Director

Status

Colm Barrington

Current Independent

David Begg

Current Non-Independent (former ESOT nominee)

Montie Brewer

Current Independent

Leslie Buckley

Retired Non-Independent (Minister’s nominee)

Laurence Crowley

Current Independent(1)

Mella Frewen

Current Independent

€13.8 million and a net decrease in other reserves (principally the cash

Danuta Gray

Current Independent

flow hedging reserve) of €15.8 million. A detailed reconciliation of the

Francis Hackett

Current Non-Independent (Minister’s nominee)

movement is provided in the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Colin Hunt

Current Non-Independent (Minister’s nominee)

on page 64.

Andrew Macfarlane Current Non-Independent (Executive)

Balance as at 31 December 2011
Comprehensive income for the year taken
to retained earnings
Balance as at 31 December 2012

(72.8)
13.8
(59.0)

Total equity decreased by €2.0 million during the year as a result of
the comprehensive income taken to retained earnings for the year of

Independent / Non-Independent

Thomas Moran

Current Independent

Substantial interests in share capital

Christoph Mueller

Current Non-Independent (Executive)

As at 31 December 2012, the Directors are aware of the following

Nicola Shaw

Current Independent

substantial interests in the share capital of the Company which represent
more than 3% of the issued share capital.
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Aer Lingus has determined that Mr Crowley is an independent director
notwithstanding the related party disclosure required under IAS 24, as set out in Note
35. At the time of Mr Crowley’s appointment to the Board of Aer Lingus in 2009, Aer
Lingus undertook an assessment of his independence. Aer Lingus determined that
the existence of the business relationship with Realex was not such that it affected or
impaired Mr Crowley’s independent judgement and he was, therefore, determined
to be independent in character and judgement. As part of its assessment, the
following factors were considered; the monetary value of the Aer Lingus business to
Realex was not significant and was diminishing; Mr Crowley did not hold any shares
in Realex; Mr Crowley’s remuneration as a Realex Non-Executive Director was a
modest fixed fee and not, in any way, linked to Realex’s performance; Aer Lingus’
business relationship with Realex predated Mr Crowley’s appointment as a NonExecutive Director of Realex; the expenditure incurred by Aer Lingus in its business
relationship with Realex was immaterial.
(1)

financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union (EU). The financial
statements are required by law to give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Company and the Group and of the profit or loss of the Group.
In preparing these financial statements the Directors are required to:
•

select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

•

make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

•

state that the financial statements comply with IFRSs as adopted by the
European Union , and

•

prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it
is inappropriate to presume that the Group and the parent Company
will continue in business.

Mr Leslie Buckley retired from the Board on 21 June 2012.
Mr Colm Barrington, Mr David Begg, Mr Montie Brewer, Mr Laurence
Crowley, Ms Mella Frewen, Ms Danuta Gray, Mr Andrew Macfarlane, Mr
Christoph Mueller, Mr Thomas Moran and Ms Nicola Shaw were re-elected
as Directors at the Company’s Annual General Meeting (AGM) held on 4

The Directors are also required by applicable law and the Listing Rules
issued by the Irish Stock Exchange, to prepare a Directors’ Report and
reports relating to Directors’ remuneration and corporate governance. In
accordance with the Transparency (Directive 2004/109/EC) Regulations

May 2012.

2007 (“the Transparency Regulations”), as amended by Transparency

The interest of the Directors in office at 31 December 2012 in the shares of

required to include a management report containing a fair review of the

the Group are outlined in the Report of the Remuneration Committee on

business and a description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing

Directors Remuneration on page 56.

the Group.

On 24 September 2012, the Board of Directors announced that in addition

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper books of account that

to his normal responsibilities as a Director of the Company, during 2012

disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the

the Board had asked Francis Hackett to take on additional responsibility

Company and the Group and to enable them to ensure that the financial

in chairing a legal committee of the Board to support management in

statements comply with the Companies Acts 1963 to 2012 and, as regards

relation to Aer Lingus’ application to the High Court for a capital reduction,

the Group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. They are

the issues faced by the pension schemes of which Aer Lingus Limited

also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and the Group

is a participating employer and related matters. Mr Hackett’s terms of

and for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud

appointment have been amended in order to reflect his assumption of

and other irregularities.

(Directive 2004/109/EC) (Amendment) Regulations 2012, the Directors are

these additional responsibilities.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the

Other than Mr Hackett’s arrangement to support management in relation

corporate and financial information included on the Group’s website.

to Aer Lingus’ application to the High Court for a capital reduction, the

Irish legislation governing the preparation and dissemination of financial

issues faced by the pension schemes of which Aer Lingus Limited is a

statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

participating employer and related matters as described above there were
no contracts or arrangements entered into during the year in which a

Internal control

Director was materially interested and which were significant in relation

The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s system of internal

to the Group’s business.

control. Those systems which are maintained by the Group, can only provide

Ms Meabh Gallagher replaced Mr Donal Moriarty as Company Secretary
with effect from 21 September 2012. Ms Gallagher did not receive any
share awards during 2012.

reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or
loss. An outline of the Group’s Internal Control processes is included in the
Corporate Governance Statement on pages 40.

During the year ended 31 December 2012, the then Company Secretary

Issue and purchase of own shares

(Mr Donal Moriarty) was granted a conditional award of 190,000 shares

The Company received authority from shareholders at its last Annual

under the Long Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”) in respect of the vesting period

General Meeting on 4 May 2012 to allot relevant securities up to a nominal

1 January 2012 to 31 December 2014. Any vesting of these shares is

value of €8,811,661 and purchase up to 10% of its own shares and to

subject to the achievement of the performance targets outlined in the LTIP

reissue such shares purchased by it and not cancelled as treasury shares

and the rules of the LTIP.

with a maximum and minimum price at which such treasury shares may
be issued set at 95% and 125%, respectively, of the then market price of

Directors’ Responsibilities Statement

such shares. The Company did not exercise these authorities during 2012.

The Directors are responsible for preparing the annual report and the

These authorities are due to expire at the Company’s forthcoming Annual

financial statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

General Meeting and shareholders will be requested to renew them. Details

Irish company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements
for each financial year. Under that law the Directors have prepared the

of the proposed renewal of the authorities will be set out in the notice of
the meeting.
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Share ownership restrictions

the price risk and cash flow risk, external environment, key strategic

Since Aer Lingus’ entitlement to obtain or to continue to hold or enjoy the
benefit of the licences, permits, consents and privileges that enable Aer
Lingus to carry on business as an air carrier in Ireland and/or internationally
can be adversely affected if too many of the Ordinary Shares are held

aims and performance measures;
•

Details of earnings per ordinary share on page 89;

•

Details of derivative financial instruments on page 94;

•

Details of key performance indicators relating to employee matters,
e.g. change in number of employees, on page 88.

by non-EU nationals, the Directors are given certain powers under the
Articles of Association to take action to ensure that shareholdings of nonEU nationals in the Company’s share capital are not of such a size or type

Events after the reporting date

which could jeopardise Aer Lingus’ air carrier rights. The Directors have

Events after the reporting date are disclosed in Note 38 to the financial

the power to designate a maximum percentage of the Company’s share

statements.

capital which may be held by Non-EU nationals and have determined that
in excess of 50% of the Company’s issued share capital are required to be

Financial risk management

held by EU shareholders.

Details regarding financial risk management are set out at Note 3 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Political contributions
No political donations were made by the Group during the year.

Subsidiary companies

Corporate Governance Statement– Year ended 31
December 2012
The Report of the Remuneration Committee on Directors’ Remuneration is

Details of the Group companies are set out in Note 18 to the consolidated

set out on pages 49 to 57. The Directors’ Corporate Social Responsibility

financial statements.

Statement is set out on pages 35 to 37.

Books of account

The Company is committed to maintaining the highest standards of

The measures taken by the Directors to secure compliance with the
Company’s obligation to keep proper books of account are the use of
appropriate systems and procedures and employment of competent
persons. The books of account are kept at Dublin Airport, Co. Dublin,
Ireland.

corporate governance and the Directors recognise their accountability
to the Company’s shareholders in this regard. The Company therefore
applies the UK Corporate Governance Code (June 2010) published by the
Financial Reporting Council in the UK and the Irish Corporate Governance
Annex published by the Irish Stock Exchange (together the “Codes”) in
respect of its corporate governance practices.

Independent auditors
The independent auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers, are prepared to
continue in office in accordance with the provisions of S.160 (2) of the
Companies Act, 1963. Section 160(2) of the Companies Act, 1963 provides
that the auditor of an Irish company shall be automatically re-appointed at
a company’s annual general meeting unless the auditor has given notice
in writing of his unwillingness to be re-appointed or a resolution has been
passed at that meeting appointing someone else or providing expressly
that the incumbent auditor shall not be re-appointed. In this respect, Irish
company law differs from the requirements that apply in other jurisdictions,
for example in the U.K., where auditors of a public company must be
re-appointed annually by shareholders at the annual general meeting.
The Auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers, are willing to continue in office.
Accordingly, the Directors have not proposed a resolution to re-appoint

Under Statutory Instrument 450/2009 European Communities (Directive
2006/46/EC) Regulations 2009 and the Listing Rules of the Irish Stock
Exchange (ISE), the Directors are required in this statement to describe how
the principles of the Codes have been applied by the Company in the year.
A copy of the UK Corporate Governance Code (June 2010) can be
obtained from the Financial Reporting Council’s website, www.frc.org.uk.
A copy of the Irish Corporate Governance Annex can be obtained from the
ISE’s website, www.ise.ie.

Statement of compliance
Except as disclosed below, the Directors consider that the Company has
complied with all relevant provisions of the UK Corporate Governance

PricewaterhouseCoopers as such a resolution can have no effect.

Code and the Irish Corporate Governance Annex throughout the year.

Transparency (Directive 2004/109/EC) Regulations 2007

•

As required by Statutory Instrument 277/2007 Transparency (Directive
2004/109/EC) Regulations 2007 as amended by Transparency (Directive
2004/109/EC) (Amendment) Regulations 2012 the following sections of the

Rotation of Directors: The Minister for Transport of Ireland (acting
through the Minister for Finance of Ireland in his capacity as shareholder)
has specific rights under the Company’s Articles of Association in
relation to the nomination and rotation of up to 3 Directors. These

Company’s Annual Report shall be treated as forming part of this report:

rights may not comply with the requirement under the UK Corporate

•

for Board appointments and make recommendations to the Board

The Chairman’s Statement and Chief Executive’s Review on pages 2
to 8;

•

Operating and Financial Review on pages 9 to 22 and the Principal
Risks and Uncertainties on pages 23 to 29, which include a review of

Governance Code that the Appointments Committee lead the process
regarding Board appointments and the requirement under the UK
Corporate Governance Code that all Directors be submitted for reelection annually.
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Board of Directors

renewal in relation to the Board of Directors.

Role
The duties of the Board and its committees are set out clearly in formal
terms of reference which are reviewed regularly and state the items
specifically reserved for decision by the Board.

Board Independence
During 2012, of the Non-Executive Directors, Mr Montie Brewer, Mr
Laurence Crowley, Ms Mella Frewen, Ms Danuta Gray, Mr Thomas
Moran and Ms Nicola Shaw were considered to be independent by the

The Board is responsible for the leadership, control and oversight of
the Company. There are matters formally reserved to the Board for
consideration and decision. The Board is responsible for establishing

Board. During the entirety of 2012, at least half the Board, excluding the
Chairman comprised Non-Executive Directors determined by the Board to
be independent.

overall group strategy. It approves the Group’s commercial strategy and

As at the date of this report, of the Non-Executive Directors, Mr Montie

the operating budget and monitors performance through the receipt of

Brewer, Mr Laurence Crowley, Ms Mella Frewen, Ms Danuta Gray, Mr

monthly operating information and financial statements. The approval of

Thomas Moran and Ms Nicola Shaw are considered to be independent

acquisitions is also a matter reserved for the Board. Similarly, there are

by the Board. Therefore, as at the date of this report, at least half the

authority levels covering capital expenditure which can be exercised by

Board excluding the Chairman, is comprised of Non-Executive Directors

the Chief Executive or by the Chairman and Chief Executive jointly. Beyond

determined by the Board to be independent. It is the Company’s intention

these levels of authority, projects are referred to the Board for approval.

to continue to review the composition of the Board to endeavour to
continue to comply with this requirement in the UK Corporate Governance

Other matters reserved to the Board include treasury policy; internal

Code and to ensure the Directors bring the right range of skills, knowledge

control; audit and risk management; remuneration of the Non-Executive

and experience to the Board to discharge its obligations to the Company

Directors; pension schemes; corporate governance; corporate social

and its shareholders.

responsibility and the appointment or removal of the Company Secretary.
The Board has delegated responsibility for the management of the
Company, through the Chief Executive, to executive management. The
Board also delegates some of its responsibilities to Board Committees,
details of which are set out below.

External Directorships
The Board believes it is beneficial for Executive Directors to hold nonexecutive directorships with other companies or industry associations
provided that such roles do not impact their ongoing obligation and
responsibility to the Company. The Board permits executives to accept

Board Size and Membership

such positions and to retain any related fees. Mr Mueller serves as a non-

The Board currently comprises twelve Directors – two Executive Directors

executive member of the Board of Tourism Ireland. Further details are set

(Christoph Mueller, Chief Executive Officer and Andrew Macfarlane,

out on page 30.

Chief Financial Officer) and ten Non-Executive Directors (including the
Chairman). Detailed biographies of current Directors are set out on pages
30 and 31 together with a detailed description of the skills, expertise and
experience that each of the Directors brings to the Board.

Chairman
Mr Colm Barrington was appointed as Chairman on 3 October 2008.
The Chairman was determined by the Board to be independent on his

In circumstances where (a) the Minister for Transport of Ireland (acting
through the Minister for Finance of Ireland) is entitled to nominate three
Directors to the Board; and (b) there are two Executive Directors; a Board
comprising thirteen Board members is normally required by Aer Lingus in
order to comply with provision B.1.2 of the UK Corporate Governance
Code. The Minister has one unfilled vacancy at his disposal and therefore
the Board currently comprises twelve Directors. The Board considers
that the Board currently comprising twelve Directors is cohesive and
that between them the Directors bring the breadth and depth of skills,
knowledge and experience that are required to lead the Group. The Board
also considers that the Directors have sufficient time to discharge their
responsibilities.

appointment to the Board. The Chairman is responsible for the effective
working of the Board and the Chief Executive is responsible for running the
business of Aer Lingus Group plc. The division of responsibilities between
the Chairman and the Chief Executive is clearly established and has been
set out in writing and approved by the Board. Throughout 2012, the roles
of Chairman and Chief Executive were independent of each other.
The Chairman and the Company Secretary work closely together in
planning a forward programme of Board meetings and establishing their
agendas. During 2012, the Chairman ensured that the Board was supplied
in a timely manner with information in a form and of a quality to enable it to
discharge its duties and oversaw the roll out of a fully-packaged application
for the iPad tablet device to the Board to improve the efficiency of both

As can be seen from the biographies of the Directors set out on pages 30 to
31, the Company has access to the skills, expertise and experience it needs
for its business. It can call upon four Directors with expertise of the transport
sector (three in the aviation sector), three Directors who are accountants,
one lawyer, an economist, a trade union leader as well as Directors with
expertise in the technology, communications and the European Union. In
addition many of the Directors hold or have held Chief Executive Officer
positions in other companies. Mr Leslie Buckley retired from the Board
on 21 June 2012. The Board is committed to a policy of refreshment and

preparing and conducting Board meetings. The Chairman encourages
openness, debate and challenge at Board meetings. The Chairman holds
a number of other directorships and the Board considers that these do not
interfere with the discharge of his duties to Aer Lingus.

Senior Independent Director
Mr Laurence Crowley has been the Senior Independent Director (SID)
since his appointment on 9 January 2009. The role of the SID is clearly
established and has been set out in writing and approved by the Board.
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The SID is available to all shareholders who have concerns that cannot be

by the Board. Recommendations to shareholders for the re-election of

addressed through the normal channels of Chairman, Chief Executive or

Non-Executive Directors for terms beyond six years will be made only after

Chief Financial Officer.

review by the Board.

Terms of appointment

Induction and development

The Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer have service
contracts with the Company which have notice periods of 12 months or

New directors are comprehensively briefed on the Company and its
operations, including the provision of extensive induction materials on

less.

appointment. An induction process is clearly established and has been set

The terms upon which each of the Non-Executive Directors has been

development and understanding of the business, Directors engage with the

out in writing and approved by Board. In addition, to aid their ongoing

appointed are set out in letters of appointment which reflect the form

executive and senior management teams on a continuing basis.

recommended by the UK Corporate Governance Code. Subject to the

A procedure is in place under which Directors, in furtherance of their

requirement for annual election for all Directors as required by the UK
Corporate Governance Code, it is the Company’s policy that each NonExecutive Director will be appointed for a fixed period not exceeding

duties, are able to take professional advice, if necessary, at the Company’s
expense.

three years (with the potential for a second three year term), subject to

The Company Secretary is responsible for ensuring that Board procedures

satisfactory performance and re-election at any annual general meeting

are followed and all Directors have access to her advice and services. The

where this is required. None of the Non-Executive Directors is a party to

Company Secretary ensures that the Board members receive appropriate

any service contract with the Company that provides for benefits upon

training as necessary. The Company Secretary is responsible for advising the

termination.

Board on all corporate governance matters.

The Minister for Transport of Ireland (acting through the Minister for

The Company has an insurance policy in place which insures the Directors

Finance of Ireland in his capacity as shareholder) has specific rights under

in respect of legal action taken against them in respect of their reasonable

the Company’s Articles of Association in relation to the nomination and

actions as officers of the Company.

rotation of up to three Directors. These rights may not comply with the

Meetings

requirements in the UK Corporate Governance Code (June 2010) that
the Appointments Committee lead the process for Board appointments
and make recommendations to the Board regarding Board appointments
and that all Directors be submitted for re-election at regular intervals. The
Minister for Transport of Ireland is entitled to nominate up to three Directors
for appointment. The number of Directors eligible to be nominated by the
Minister for Transport of Ireland is dependent on the proportion of the
total issued ordinary share capital held by the Minister for Finance. From 1
January 2012 to 21 June 2012, the date of retirement of Mr Leslie Buckley,
the Minister for Transport of Ireland nominated his full entitlement of three
Directors (Mr Francis Hackett, Dr Colin Hunt and Mr Leslie Buckley). As of
21 June 2012, the Minister has one unfilled vacancy at his disposal.

Retirement and re-election
Under the Articles of Association, one-third of the Directors who are
subject to retirement by rotation retire from office at each AGM. However
in compliance with the UK Corporate Governance Code, all Directors,
with the exception of those nominated by the Minister for Transport of
Ireland (acting through the Minister for Finance of Ireland), will retire at
the forthcoming AGM and following review are being recommended for

The Board has a fixed schedule of meetings each year and may meet more
frequently as required. There were 8 scheduled Board meetings in 2012.
In addition there were 7 conference call meetings which were not prescheduled and were convened at short notice. Therefore, there were a
total of 15 Board Meetings held in 2012. Details of Directors’ attendance at
these meetings is outlined in the table on page 47. In line with best practice
guidelines, all Directors, other than Mr Leslie Buckley who retired from the
Board on 21 June 2012, attended in excess of 75% of the pre-scheduled
Board meetings in 2012.
For regular Board meetings, the agenda will usually comprise of reports
from the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and executive
management. The practice is to have the agenda and supporting papers
circulated to the Directors seven days ahead of each meeting. It is inevitable
that there will be occasions when circumstances arise to prevent Directors
from attending meetings. In such circumstances, it is practice for the absent
Director to review the Board papers with the Chairman and convey any
views on specific issues. It should also be noted that the time commitment
expected of Non-Executive Directors is not restricted to Board meetings. All
of the Directors are to be available for consultation on specific issues falling

are not subject to these provisions in relation to retirement.

within their particular fields of expertise. The Chairman and Non-Executive
Directors meet at least annually as a group without the Executive Directors
present. In addition a further meeting each year consists of the Senior

It is the Board’s policy to regularly review the Chairmanship of its

Independent Director and the other Non-Executive Directors, without the
Chairman being present.

re-election. Directors nominated by the Minister for Transport of Ireland

committees. Appointments to committees are for a period of up to three
years, which may be extended for a further three-year period provided the

Performance evaluation

Director is re-elected by shareholders and remains independent, or in the

The Board and its committees undertake an annual evaluation of their
performance of how well they are functioning as an effective board
applying best principles of governance, whether each Director continues
to contribute effectively and demonstrate commitment to the role and to

case of some committees, a majority of the Directors on the committee
remain independent. A Director being a member of the same Board
committee for more than six years may be permitted only after review
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identify areas for development. The Chairman’s performance is evaluated

•

by the Senior Independent Director and the Non-Executive Directors at
least once a year. In addition to being evaluated by the Chairman, the
Directors are also obliged to assess their own performance.

•

and the financial reporting process;
to monitor the integrity of the financial statements of the Company
and any formal announcements relating to the Company’s financial

In 2012 the performance evaluation was externally facilitated. The external

performance and reviewing significant financial judgements contained

consultant appointed to undertake the external evaluation is independent
and has no connection with the Company or any of the Directors. A

to monitor the statutory audit of the annual and consolidated accounts

therein;
•

to review and monitor the effectiveness of the Company’s internal

questionnaire was sent to each Director for completion. Following the

financial controls and its systems of internal controls, internal audit

completion of the questionnaire, a report was prepared to the Board by the

and risk management systems (the review of risk management systems

external assessor. The evaluation covered Board processes, composition,

has been delegated to the Risk Committee to complete. The Risk

effectiveness, strategy, risk management and evaluations of the full Board,

Committee reports to the Audit Committee and the Board in this

Board Committees and individual Board members. The assessor prepared a
detailed evaluation report and presented it to the Chairman and the matter

regard);
•

was subsequently discussed by the Board. The report outlined the findings
and made recommendations for consideration and implementation by the

to monitor and review the results of the Company’s internal audit
function and the annual internal audit plan;

•

Board.

to make recommendations to the Board in relation to the appointment,
re-appointment and removal of the external auditors and to approve
the terms of engagement of the external auditors;

Remuneration

•

to monitor and review the external auditors’ independence and

Details of Directors’ remuneration is set out in the Report of the

objectivity (in particular the provision of additional services to the

Remuneration Committee on Directors’ Remuneration on pages 49 to 57.

audited entity) and the effectiveness of the audit process taking into
consideration relevant professional and regulatory requirements;

Share ownership and dealing

•

auditors to supply non-audit services, taking into account relevant

Details of the shares held by Directors are set out in Table 2.2 on page 56.

ethical guidance regarding the provision of non-audit services by the

The Company has a policy on dealing in shares that applies to all Directors
and senior management. Under the policy, Directors are required to obtain
clearance from the Chairman before dealing in company shares. Directors

external audit firm and to report to the Board;
•

is in possession of price-sensitive information.

to report to the Board, identifying any matters in respect of
which it considers action or improvement is needed and making

and senior management are prohibited from dealing in company shares
during designated prohibited periods and at any time which the individual

to develop and implement policy on the engagement of the external

recommendations as to the steps to be taken; and
•

to review the Company’s goodfaith reporting/policy.

The Audit Committee discharged its obligations throughout the year. The

Board committees

following is a summary of the principal work undertaken by the Audit

The Board has established five permanent committees to assist in the

Committee during 2012:

execution of its responsibilities. These are the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee, the Appointments Committee, the Safety

•

2012 and considered reports from the internal auditors on the

Committee and the Risk Committee. Ad hoc committees are established

implementation of that plan;

from time to time to deal with specific matters. Terms of reference for each
of the permanent committees have been documented and approved by

the Committee reviewed and approved the internal audit plan for

•

following the review and approval of the 2011 external audit plan in
late 2011, the Committee considered reports from the external auditors

the Board. Copies are available on request from the Company Secretary.

on the implementation of that plan in the context of the Preliminary
All Chairmen of the Committees attend the Company’s AGM and are
available to answer questions from the shareholders.

Results and audit of the 2011 Accounts and the 2011 Annual Report;
•

the Committee frequently met with and received reports from each
of the internal and external auditors, including receipt of the report of

Audit Committee

the external auditor on any key matters arising from the statutory audit

The Board has established an Audit Committee consisting of at least three

and on any significant weaknesses in internal control in relation to the

Non-Executive Directors considered by the Board to be independent.
During 2012 the Audit Committee consisted of Mr Laurence Crowley
(Chairman), Ms Danuta Gray, Ms Nicola Shaw and Mr Tom Moran. Mr
Crowley is a Chartered Accountant and is the Committee’s financial expert.
In addition, all other members of the Audit Committee have recent and
relevant financial experience. The Audit Committee met nine times during
the year. Attendance at meetings held is set out in the table on page 47.
The main role and responsibilities of the Audit Committee are set out
in written terms of reference, which encompass those set out in the UK
Corporate Governance Code, and Statutory Instrument 220/2010 European
Communities (Statutory Audits) (Directive 2006/43/EC) Regulations 2010,

financial reporting process;
•

the Committee monitored and reviewed the internal and external
auditors performance;

•

the Committee monitored the independence of the external auditors;

•

the Committee reviewed the 2012 profit forecast and Day 14 circular
to shareholders and recommended their approval to the Board.

•

the Committee considered whether or not to recommend the reappointment of the external auditors;

•

the Committee reviewed the Preliminary Results Announcement
for the year ended 31 December 2011 which was published on 28
February 2012;

including:
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•
•

•

•

the Committee reviewed the Annual Report for the year ended 31

Remuneration Committee

December 2011 which was published on 29 March 2012;

The Remuneration Committee of the Board comprises three independent

the Committee reviewed the Notice of Annual General Meeting

non-executive Directors. During 2012 the Committee members were

including the statement on dividend policy, which was published on

Ms Danuta Gray (Chairman), Mr Colm Barrington and Ms Nicola Shaw.

29 March 2012;

Mr Colm Barrington was determined by the Board to be independent

the Audit Committee jointly conducted (with the Risk Committee), an

on his appointment to the Board and therefore his membership of the

annual review of Aer Lingus’ system of internal financial control and

Remuneration Committee is in compliance with the requirements set out

risk management systems and reported to the Board in this regard;

in the UK Corporate Governance Code.

the Committee reviewed the Q1, 2012 Interim Management
Statement published on 3 May 2012;

•

the Committee reviewed the half-year report published on 31 July
2012;

•

the Committee considered reports from consultants on taxation
matters and compliance;

•

the Committee reviewed the

Q3, 2012 Interim Management

Statement published on 7 November 2012;
•

the Committee reviewed the external audit plan for 2012 year end;

•

the Committee reviewed and updated its Terms of Reference;

•

the Committee reviewed reports of the Risk Committee on the Group
Corporate Risk Assessment Process;
The Committee reviewed and monitored Bid Defence;

•

The Committee reviewed and monitored the Capital Reduction
Project; and
The Committee provided reports to the Board regarding the work of
the Committee.

pension rights and any compensation payments. It also determines the
conditions of employment of the senior management team. It met eight
times during the year. Attendance at meetings held is set out in the table
on page 47.
The Remuneration Committee’s principal duties in relation to Directors’
remuneration include:
(a) to determine and agree with the Board the framework or board policy
for the remuneration of the Chief Executive, the Chairman of the
other senior management members as it is designated to consider;
(b) to set remuneration policy so as to ensure that senior management are
provided with appropriate incentives to encourage performance and
are rewarded for their individual contributions to the success of the
Company in a fair and responsible manner;

The Audit Committee has a process in place to ensure that the independence
of the audit is not compromised, which includes monitoring the nature
and extent of services provided by the external auditors through its annual
review of fees paid to the external auditors for audit and non-audit work. In
2012, the fees paid to PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC) for non-audit work
were approximately 0.8 times the audit and audit related fees (€403,000
in fees for non-audit work versus €491,000 for audit and audit related
fees). The fees for non-audit work were principally in the following areas:
Independent reports as reporting accountants on the profit estimate and
profit forecast of the Group in connection with the Ryanair offer as required
by Rule 28.3 of the Takeover Rules (Republic of Ireland); and separate
tax advisory services. The independent reports were contained within the
document entitled “Reject Ryanair’s Offer” issued by the Company on 31
July 2012. The committee believed that PwC were best placed to provide
these specific services due to their knowledge of the Group. The Committee
was conscious of the need to ensure the objectivity and independence of
the external auditors and therefore in 2012 engaged other professional
advisors for both taxation and other projects.

(c) to approve the design of, and determine targets for, any performancerelated pay schemes operated by the Company and approve the total
annual payments made under such schemes; and
(d) to monitor and approve the total remuneration package of the
Chairman, each Executive Director and relevant senior management
members, within the terms of the agreed policy.
The Remuneration Report for year ended 31 December 2012 is set out
on pages 49 to 57. At the Annual General Meeting held on 4 May 2012,
shareholders were asked to receive and consider the Remuneration Report
for year ended 31 December 2011. Shareholders had similarly been asked
to vote on the Remuneration Report for year ended 31 December 2010
at the previous AGM. These resolutions are often referred to as a “Say
on Pay” resolution. The resolutions were passed by shareholders at each
of the AGMs. While it was not mandatory to put such a resolution to
shareholders, it is now best practice to do so and its inclusion reflected the
Group’s commitment to continuing to enhance its corporate governance
practices. A “Say on Pay” resolution regarding the Remuneration Report
for year ended 31 December 2012 will also be submitted to shareholders

The Audit Committee also reviews the safeguards which the external
auditors have put in place to ensure their objectivity and independence in
accordance with professional and regulatory requirements.

at the forthcoming AGM.
Appointments Committee
The Appointments Committee of the Board comprises four Non-Executive

The Audit Committee continued its policy, restricting fees paid to its external
auditor firm for non-audit work to €200,000 per annum, unless the Audit
Committee is satisfied that there are good reasons for exceeding this limit.
As indicated above, the Audit Committee was satisfied that, during 2012,
there were good reasons for exceeding this limit. The policy also provides
that the Chairman of the Audit Committee must be consulted in advance if
it is proposed to engage the external auditor firm for any individual piece
of non-audit work where the fee is likely to exceed €50,000.

remuneration for all Executive Directors and the Chairman, including

Board, the Executive Directors and the Company Secretary, and such

•

•

The Remuneration Committee has delegated responsibility for setting

Directors, a majority of whom are independent Non-Executive Directors.
During 2012 the Appointments Committee consisted of Mr Laurence
Crowley (Chairman), Mr Colm Barrington, Dr Colin Hunt and Mr Thomas
Moran. The role of the Appointments Committee is to lead the process
for considering Board appointments. The Appointments Committee may
not be chaired by the Chairman of the Board on any matter concerning
the succession to the Chairmanship of the Board. The Appointments
Committee met twice during the year and also took a number of decisions
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by written resolution in lieu of a meeting. Attendance at the meetings held

•

is set out in the table on page 47.

the Committee.

The Appointments Committee’s terms of reference include the following:
(a) to review regularly the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge, experience and diversity) required of the Board
compared to its current position and make recommendations to the
Board with regard to any changes;
(b) to give full consideration to succession planning for Directors and senior
management, taking into account the challenges and opportunities
facing the Company; and
(c) to be responsible for identifying and nominating, for the approval of
the Board, candidates to fill Board vacancies as and when they arise.
Before recommending an appointment, the Committee will evaluate the
balance of skills, knowledge and experience of the Board and has regard to
the issue of diversity, including gender diversity.
The following is a summary of the principal work undertaken by the
Appointments Committee during 2012:
•

the Appointments Committee reviewed the Committee structure of

Risk Committee
The Board has a Risk Committee, which was established to consider the
significant risks facing the Group (other than those relating to safety) and
the manner in which they are addressed, and to recommend to the Board
the most effective way of assessing these risks. The Risk Committee jointly
conducts with the Audit Committee, an annual review of Aer Lingus’ system
of internal financial control and risk management systems and reports to
the Board in this regard.
The current composition of the Committee is Dr Colin Hunt (Chairman), Mr
David Begg, Mr Montie Brewer and Ms Mella Frewen. The Risk Committee
met four times during the year. Attendance at meetings held is set out in
the table on page 47.
The following is a summary of the principal work undertaken by the Risk
Committee during 2012:
•

the Appointments Committee reviewed succession planning within
the organisation;

•
•

risk management systems and reported to the Board in this regard;
•

the Appointments Committee reviewed and approved changes to the

and Board in this regard;
•

•

the Committee provided reports to the Board regarding the work of

throughout 2012, the Risk Committee monitored key risks facing the
Group and considered detailed reports from management in relation

organisation structure and the following appointment to the Executive
Team: Mr Ravi Simhambhatla (Chief Technology Officer); and

the Risk Committee reviewed and approved the Company’s Corporate
Risk Assessment Process for 2012 and reported to the Audit Committee

the Appointments Committee reviewed the change to the terms of
appointment of Mr Francis Hackett;

the Risk Committee jointly conducted (with the Audit Committee), an
annual review of Aer Lingus’ system of internal financial control and

the Board;
•

the Committee provided reports to the Board regarding the work of

to these risks; and
•

the Risk Committee provided reports to the Board regarding the work
of the Committee.

the Committee.
Safety Committee

Communications with shareholders

The Board has a Safety Committee, which assists the Board in discharging its

The Company attaches considerable importance to shareholder

responsibility for safety, including ensuring that adequate safety regulations

communication and has established an Investor Relations Programme. This

and procedures are in place across the Group, that such regulations and

programme includes the following elements:

procedures are complied with and reviewed regularly, and also ensuring
that appropriate procedures are in place so that any crisis or accident

•

analysts on key business issues through meetings with the CEO, the

can be properly managed. Throughout 2012 the Safety Committee was
comprised of Mr Francis Hackett (Chairman), Mr Colm Barrington, Mr
David Begg and Mr Christoph Mueller. The Safety Committee met four
times during the year. Attendance at meetings held is set out in the table
on page 47.

regular dialogue with institutional investors, fund managers and
CFO, executive management and senior management;

•

investor roadshows and conference calls;

•

issuance of Day 14 and Day 39 defence documents in relation to the
third Ryanair bid;

•

issuance of monthly traffic statistics;

The following is a summary of the principal work undertaken by the Safety

•

issuance of the Annual Report and the Half Yearly Report;

Committee during 2012:

•

issuance of preliminary annual results announcements and Q1 and Q3

•

•

interim management statements;
at each of its meetings in 2012, the Committee reviewed reports from
management on air safety, health and safety, quality and security;
•

•

financial results, press releases, results presentations, traffic statistics,

the Committee monitored and tracked the implementation of required
actions arising from the reports from management on air safety, health

analyst coverage and calendar of events;
•

AGM section on the Group’s website including the Notice of AGM,

and safety, quality and security;

the statement of AGM procedures, the Articles of Association, form of

the Committee conducted a meeting at the offices of the Irish Aviation

proxy, financial statements, AGM related announcements, results of

Authority (IAA) at which the IAA delivered a presentation on the safety

AGM and historic results. The statement of AGM procedures outlines

culture within Aer Lingus, the safety leadership in Aer Lingus and the

the manner in which shareholders can table agenda items, resolutions

safety management system in place;
•

investor relations section on the Group’s website, including full text of

and submit questions in advance of the meeting;

the Committee reviewed reports from management on two emergency
response exercises conducted in 2012; and

•

Dividend section on the Group’s website, including dividend policy,
dividend timetable, letter to shareholders;
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•
•

at the AGM, individual shareholders are able to question the Chairman

The risks facing the Group are regularly reviewed by management and

and the Board; and

the Risk Committee (as delegated to it by the Audit Committee, whose

the Company also responds throughout the year to numerous queries

terms of reference require it to keep under review the effectiveness of the

from shareholders on a wide range of issues.

Company’s internal controls and risk management systems).

In addition, the Board has taken the following steps to ensure that its

In accordance with the process outlined above, the Board confirms that it

members (particularly Non-Executive Directors) develop an understanding

has conducted an annual review of the effectiveness of the internal control

of the views of major shareholders:

systems in operation and that it has approved the reporting lines to ensure

•

the Chairman ensures that the views of shareholders are communicated

the ongoing effectiveness of the internal controls and reporting structures.

to the Board as a whole and also discusses governance and strategy

This review included a review of all material controls, including financial,

with major shareholders where appropriate;

operational and compliance controls and risk management systems. In its

the Chairman and Senior Independent Director are available to attend

review the Board considered the changes since the last annual assessment

meetings with shareholders to develop a balanced understanding of

in the nature and extent of the risks faced by the Group; the scope and

their views and concerns; and

quality of management’s ongoing monitoring of risks; the communication

Non-Executive Directors are available to attend meetings where

of the results of the monitoring to the Board and Board Committees; the

requested by major shareholders.

incidence of control failings or weaknesses that have been identified; and

•

•

the effectiveness of the Group’s financial reporting process. The description

Description of Internal control and risk
management systems

of the principal risks and uncertainties that the Group faces are set out on

In addition to the description below, the following sections of the

determines its and the Group’s risk tolerance in the implementation of

pages 23 to 29. The Board evaluates these risks as required and thereby

Company’s Annual Report shall be treated as forming part of the Board’s
description of the main features of the Group’s internal control and risk
management systems in relation to the process for preparing the Company’s
consolidated accounts:
•
•
•

the description of the principal risks and uncertainties which the

In addition to the matters described above, the other elements of the
Group’s internal control and risk management systems in relation to the
process for preparing the Company’s consolidated accounts are as follows:

Group faces on pages 23 to 29;

•

clearly defined organisation structures and lines of authority;

the review of the price risk and cash flow risk is set out at Note 3 to the

•

employment of competent persons;

consolidated financial statements;

•

a strong and independent Board that meets regularly during the year,

details regarding financial risk management are set out at Note 3 to the
consolidated financial statements;

•

strategy.

with separate Chairman and Chief Executive roles;
•

the description of how the Audit Committee discharged its obligations

management, information technology and security, project appraisal

throughout the year on page 43 to 44; and
•

corporate policies for financial reporting, treasury and financial risk
and corporate governance;

the description of the Risk Committee on page 45.

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems and for reviewing their
effectiveness. Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives and can provide reasonable,
but not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss. The
Board confirms that it has conducted an annual review of the effectiveness
of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems.

•

Board of Directors approval of all major strategic decisions;

•

clearly defined process and information system for controlling capital
expenditure including use of appropriate authorisation levels;

•

long term business plan;

•

detailed annual budget process, with budget reviewed and approved
by Board;

•

monthly monitoring of historic and forecast performance against
budget which is reported to the Board;

•

comprehensive system of internal financial reporting which includes

As recommended by the revised guidance for Directors on internal controls

preparation of detailed financial statements and key performance

(The Turnbull Guidance, October 2005) there is an ongoing Corporate Risk

indicators on a monthly basis and the preparation of the year end
consolidated financial statements;

Assessment Process for identifying, evaluating and managing the significant
risks faced by the Group, under financial, operational and compliance

•

an internal audit function which reviews and reports on key business
processes and controls;

controls and risk management systems. The process has been in place
throughout the accounting period and up to the date of approval of the

•

corporate compliance monitoring;

Annual Report and financial statements and its outputs are relied upon for

•

an audit committee which approves audit plans and deals with
significant control issues raised by internal or external audit; and

the purpose of preparing the Group’s consolidated accounts. The process
•

involves the Board considering:
•

the nature and extent of the key risks facing the Group;

•

the likelihood of these risks occurring;

•

the impact on the Group should these risks occur;

•

the actions being taken to manage these risks at the desired level; and

•

the procedures in place to monitor these risks.

regular communication with external auditors.
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Any system of internal control can provide only reasonable and not absolute assurance that material financial irregularities will be detected or that the risk
of failure to achieve business objectives is eliminated. The Directors, having reviewed the effectiveness of the system of internal financial, operational and
compliance controls and risk management, consider that the system operated effectively throughout the financial year and up to the date that the financial
statements were signed.

Going concern
After making enquiries, considering the cash available at the reporting date and considering the projections in the Group’s five year plan, the Directors
consider that the Company has adequate resources to continue operating for the foreseeable future. For this reason they have continued to adopt the going
concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

Accountability and audit
The Directors’ Responsibilities Statement in respect of the preparation of the financial statements is set out on page 39 with the responsibilities of the
Company’s Independent Auditors outlined on pages 58 to 59.
Table 1.1 Attendance at Board and Board Committee meetings in the year ended 31 December 2012
Name

Position

Board
(Scheduled)

Board
(Conference
Call)*

Colm Barrington

Chairman

8/8

7/7

David Begg

Director

8/8

5/7

Montie Brewer

Director

8/8

7/7

Leslie Buckley(1)

Director

2/4

1/4

Laurence Crowley

Director

8/8

7/7

Mella Frewen

Director

8/8

7/7

Danuta Gray

Director

8/8

4/7

Francis Hackett

Director

8/8

7/7

Colin Hunt

Director

8/8

5/7

8/8

7/7

8/8

6/7

8/8

7/7

7/8

7/7

Committees
Audit

Remuneration

Appointments

Safety

8/8

2/2

4/4
4/4

Risk

4/4
3/4

9/9

2/2
3/4

8/9

8/8
4/4
2/2

4/4

Chief
Andrew Macfarlane

Financial
Officer

Thomas Moran

Director

9/9

2/2

Chief
Christoph Mueller

Executive

4/4

Officer
Nicola Shaw

Director

8/9

8/8

* The conference call meetings of the Board were not pre-scheduled and were convened at short notice.
The attendance statistics are outlined above in the format “A/B”, where “A” represents the number of meetings attended by the Director and “B” represents
the total number of meetings held. Of the fifteen Board meetings held in 2012, eight were scheduled meetings and seven were conference call meetings.
(1)

Mr Leslie Buckley retired from the Board on 21 June 2012 and hence was available to attend a maximum of 4 scheduled Board meetings and 4

conference call meetings of the Board.

General meetings
The Company’s Annual General Meeting (AGM), which is held in Ireland, affords individual shareholders the opportunity to question the Chairman and
the Board. It is the Company’s policy for all Directors to attend the AGM. The Notice of the AGM, which specifies the time, date, place and the business to
be transacted, is sent to shareholders at least 21 working days before the meeting. At the meeting, resolutions are ordinarily voted on by means of a show
of hands. The votes of shareholders present at the meeting are added to the proxy votes received and the total number of votes for, against and withheld
for each resolution are announced. This information is made available on the Company’s website following the meeting.
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All other general meetings are called Extraordinary General Meetings

information given under the following headings on page 88 (Employee

(EGMs). An EGM called for the passing of a special resolution must be

Benefits), page 114 (Employee Participation, page 99 (Pensions and other

called by at least 21 clear days’ notice. Provided shareholders have passed

Post Employment Benefits) and page 113 (Long Term Incentive Plan) are

a special resolution at the immediately preceding AGM and the Company

deemed to be incorporated in this Report together with the information

allows shareholders to vote by electronic means, an EGM to consider an

given in the Corporate Governance Statement above.

ordinary resolution may, if the Directors deem it appropriate, be called at
14 clear days’ notice.

The Chief Executive is entitled, having obtained the prior consent of the
Remuneration Committee, to terminate his employment within six months

A quorum for a general meeting of the Company is constituted by seven

of a change of control if the Chief Executive has reasonable grounds to

or more shareholders entitled to vote, each being a member or a proxy

contend that such change of control has resulted or will result in a diminution

for a member or a duly authorised representative of a corporate member.

of his powers, duties or functions in relation to the Company or if, as a

The passing of resolutions at a meeting of the Company, other than special

consequence of the change in control, a contract of employment which

resolutions, requires a simple majority. To be passed, a special resolution

is less beneficial to the Chief Executive is offered to the Chief Executive

requires a majority of at least 75% of the votes cast.

which he declines to agree and upon such termination the Company is

Shareholders have the right to attend, speak, ask questions and vote at

obliged to pay the Chief Executive an amount equal to one years basic

general meetings. In accordance with Irish company law, the Company

salary for the financial year of the Company immediately preceding such

specifies record dates for general meetings, by which date shareholders

termination. In the absence of the Remuneration Committee giving its

must be registered in the Register of Members of the Company to be

consent, the Company is not obliged to make the foregoing payment to the

entitled to attend. Record dates are specified in the notes to the Notice

Chief Executive in the circumstances described.

of a General Meeting. Shareholders may exercise their right to vote by
appointing a proxy/proxies, by electronic means or in writing, to vote some

The Group has signed an agreement with Dublin Airport Authority plc

or all of their shares. The requirements for the receipt of valid proxy forms

(the “DAA”) for hangarage at Dublin Airport, under which one of the

are set out in the notes to the Notice convening the meeting. A shareholder,

requirements of the DAA is that the agreement may be terminated by the

or a group of shareholders, holding at least 5% of the issued share capital of

DAA if a change in control occurs with respect to the Company which

the Company, has the right to requisition a general meeting. A shareholder,

results in the Company and its associated companies controlling a majority

or a group of shareholders, holding at least 3% of the issued share capital

of hangarage space (measured by floor area) at Dublin Airport.

of the Company, has the right to put an item on the agenda of an AGM or
to table a draft resolution for inclusion in the agenda of a general meeting,

From time to time, the Company has entered into codeshare agreements

subject to any contrary provision in Irish company law.

with other airlines as well as aircraft finance leases and exchange and

The Group’s website, www.aerlingus.com, contains information in respect
of the Company’s annual general meeting.

interest rate hedging contracts with financial institutions. These agreements
contain provisions which allow for their early termination in the event of a
change of control.

Regulation 21 of European Communities (Takeover Bids (Directive
Information Required under Regulation 21(2)(c), (d), (f), (h) and (i) of the

Directors’ statement pursuant to the Transparency
Regulations

European Communities (Takeover Bids (Directive 2004/25/EC)) Regulations

Each of the Directors, whose names and functions are listed on pages 30 to

2006 (SI 255/2006)

31 confirms that, to the best of each person’s knowledge and belief:

For the purpose of Regulation 21(2)(c), (d), (f), (h) and (i) of the European

•

2004/25/EC)) Regulations 2006 (SI 255/2006)

the financial statements, prepared in accordance with IFRSs as

Communities (Takeover Bids (Directive 2004/25/EC)) Regulations 2006 (SI

adopted by the EU, give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities,

255/2006), the information given under the following headings on page

financial position of the Company and the Group and of the profit of
the Group and;

38 (Substantial Interests in Share Capital), 42 (Terms of Appointment),
42 (Retirement and Re-election), 54 (Non-Executive Directors, Executive

•

the Directors’ report contained in the annual report includes a fair

Directors and Service Contracts), 39 (Issue and Purchase of own shares

review of the development and performance of the business and the

and Share Ownership Restrictions), 109 (Called-Up Share Capital) and

position of the Company and Group, together with a description of the

111 to 114 (Share Premium, Capital Conversion Reserve Fund, and Other

principal risks and uncertainties that they face.

Reserves) are deemed to be incorporated in this Report. The Company’s
rules in respect of the appointment and replacement of Directors of the

On behalf of the Board of Directors

Company and amendment of the Company’s Articles of Association
are set out in the Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association

Colm Barrington			

and the relevant Articles of the Company’s Memorandum and Articles

Chairman				Director

of Association are hereby incorporated by reference in this Corporate
7 March 2013

Governance Statement.
For the purpose of Regulation 21 of European Communities (Takeover
Bids (Directive 2004/25/EC)) Regulations 2006 (SI 255/2006), the
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REPORT OF THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE ON DIRECTORS’
REMUNERATION
Letter from Chair of the Remuneration Committee
Dear Fellow Shareholders,

Operating profit/(loss) before net exceptional items – turnaround
(€m)

Introduction
2012 was another excellent year for Aer Lingus Group plc. It represented
the third consecutive year of profitability and further affirmation that

52.5

49.1

69.1

2010

2011

2012

the Aer Lingus management team, and indeed its entire employee base,
has successfully transformed Aer Lingus into a leaner, more efficient

(81.0)

and profitable organisation. Aer Lingus recorded an improvement in
performance against almost every key financial measure in 2012 as well as

2009

against a range of key non-financial measures.
We set out below and on the following pages our 2012 Remuneration
Report. Our remuneration policy at Aer Lingus incentivises both the
Executive Directors and the broader management team to deliver
on stretching performance targets and aligns with the interests of all
shareholders.

Aer Lingus also delivered improved performance in respect of non-financial
metrics which are central to the Group’s business strategy and consistent
with the Aer Lingus promise of “Great Care, Great Fare”. In particular, there
has been a significant improvement in punctuality, which is critical to our
customers and central to their decision to fly with Aer Lingus.
On Time Performance (arrivals within 15 minutes)

In addition to aligning remuneration with shareholder interests, we remain
committed to comprehensive disclosure in our Remuneration Report.
This provides shareholders with clarity and transparency on remuneration
arrangements at Aer Lingus. In addition, to allow shareholders the

77%

83%

88%

2010

2011

2012

opportunity to provide feedback to the Group, and in line with good
governance, the Group is, for the fourth time, putting forward a resolution
at the Annual General Meeting to allow shareholders to vote on the 2012
Remuneration Report.
The Remuneration Committee has worked hard to ensure that remuneration

2012 Review

for the Group’s Executive Directors and senior management is aligned with

During 2012, Aer Lingus delivered an excellent trading performance and

the interests of shareholders and motivates them towards, and rewards

recorded an operating profit, before net exceptional items, of €69.1 million.

them for, superior performance. In addition to fixed pay (salary, pension

The 2012 operating profit is 40.7% above 2011. This was achieved against

and related benefits), executives have the potential to receive an annual

the backdrop of a third Ryanair offer for the Group in 2012 which was a

bonus and awards under a Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP). As outlined

financial drain on your Group and had it not been well managed, could

over the past two years, the Remuneration Committee also put in place a

have represented a significant distraction to the Aer Lingus management

special incentive scheme, the “Transformational Performance Scheme” to

team. The 2012 operating result is also remarkable in light of substantial

incentivise the Chief Financial Officer and other senior managers to deliver

fuel and airport cost inflation and continuing weakness in our key Irish and

targeted savings under the Group’s Greenfield savings plan. This plan was

UK markets. This third consecutive year of strong profitability is a validation

central to the successful turnaround of Aer Lingus.

of Aer Lingus’ value carrier business model and again demonstrates that our
strategy is delivering a leaner, more efficient and profitable airline, to the
benefit of all our stakeholders, staff and shareholders.

2012 Fixed Pay
In line with the challenging market backdrop, and a broader market
expectation for public companies generally to exercise pay restraint at
a senior level, there were no changes to fixed pay arrangements of the
Executive Directors in 2012.
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Report of the Remuneration Committee on Directors’ Remuneration
Unaudited information
Consistent with this approach, there was also no change to the Chairman’s
fee or Non-Executive Directors fees during 2012. The decision to leave
Board fees unchanged should also be viewed against a backdrop of a
substantial increase in Board activity following the third hostile offer from
Ryanair in July.

Long Term Incentive Plan
The 2010 Long Term Incentive Plan award (covering the performance
period 1 January 2010 to 31 December 2012) vested on 6 February 2013.
This is the first award of shares that has vested under the scheme since its
introduction in 2007 and reflects the significant transformation that has
been achieved since 2009. Measuring Total Shareholder Return (TSR) over

2012 Annual Bonus
The performance of Aer Lingus in 2012 means that the annual bonuses
earned by the Executive Directors are at the upper end of the range between
target and maximum. Further details are set out in the Remuneration

the performance period, Aer Lingus ranked second of 10 companies in the
comparator group of European airlines and sixth of 38 in the comparator
group of companies in the ISEQ General Index. See Note 32.

Report.

Conclusion

Transformational Performance Scheme

Aer Lingus’ performance in 2012 has been very strong and the variable

The deferred bonuses earned in 2011 under the Transformational
Performance Scheme were paid in 2012. This special bonus scheme was
outlined in the Remuneration Reports of the last two years. The Chief
Financial Officer and other senior managers earned bonuses for delivering
Greenfield savings during 2011 which were ahead of target. In 2012, we
achieved new savings under our Greenfield cost reduction programme
with an annual value of €19.9 million. When combined with the €84.3
million of annual cost savings already achieved at the start of 2012, we
have now achieved a total annual cost saving of €104.2 million which

components of executive remuneration reflect that strong performance.
Remuneration at Aer Lingus is, as it should be, aligned with shareholders’
interests and primarily weighted to performance. Consistent with this
approach, and a desire to exercise (and be seen to exercise) pay restraint,
there were no changes to the fixed components of executive remuneration
in 2012. Throughout the following report, we have tried to provide
shareholders with greater clarity and transparency on remuneration at Aer
Lingus and through the vote on this report at our Annual General Meeting,
to afford shareholders the opportunity to have a “Say-on-Pay”.

exceeds our initial planned annual operating cost saving of €97 million
from the three year programme. No further awards will be made under the
Transformational Performance Scheme.

Yours sincerely,
Danuta Gray
Chair of the Remuneration Committee
7 March 2013
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Report of the Remuneration Committee on Directors’ Remuneration
Unaudited information
The Remuneration Committee

The incentive structures are designed to reinforce both short-term and long-

The Remuneration Committee of the Board is composed of three
independent Non-Executive Directors. Throughout 2012 the Committee
membership was Ms Danuta Gray (Chair), Mr Colm Barrington and Ms
Nicola Shaw. The Chairman of the Board, who was independent on
appointment, is deemed to be an independent member of this Committee.
The Committee determines, within the agreed terms of reference, the
remuneration policy in respect of the executive directors, the Chairman
of the Board, the Company Secretary and the other members of senior
management and monitors and approves these total remuneration packages
within the terms of the agreed policy. The Committee is also required to
approve the design of, and determine targets for, any performance-related
pay schemes operated by the Company and approve the total annual
payments made under such schemes.

term behaviour to align with the strategic plan and the long-term success of
the business. The incentive structures are also designed to be aligned with
the Company’s policy with regard to risk. During the year, remuneration
of Executive Directors and senior management was benchmarked against
both publicly quoted and private companies in Ireland and the design of
our remuneration was benchmarked against peer group airlines.
In 2012, the Remuneration Committee retained Towers Watson as its
external remuneration consultants and continued to review the Company’s
executive remuneration strategy for 2012 and beyond. Towers Watson also
provided the Company with market remuneration data for other senior
management roles. Apart from the provision of these services, Towers
Watson does not provide other services to the Company.

Remuneration Committee meetings during 2012

In making its decisions the Committee can seek advice from the Chief

The Remuneration Committee met eight times during 2012. Attendance at

Executive and the Chief People & Change Officer who are invited to attend

meetings held is set out in the table on page 47. The following is a summary

meetings of the Committee as and when appropriate. The Remuneration

of the principal work undertaken by the Remuneration Committee in 2012:

Committee can obtain external advice from independent firms of
•

remuneration consultants where necessary.

considered and approved Executive Directors’ and other senior
managers remuneration arrangements for 2012;

The remuneration of Non-Executive Directors is a matter for the Chairman

•

assessed and agreed the level of achievement against annual
performance related pay scheme targets for 2011 for Executive

and the Executive Directors. No individuals are involved in any decisions

Directors and other senior managers;

on their own remuneration.
•

Remuneration Policy

assessed and agreed the level of achievement against the
Transformational Performance Scheme targets for 2011 for Executive

The overriding aim of the Company’s remuneration policy is to ensure that
Executive Directors and senior managers are provided with appropriate

Directors and other senior managers;
•

Cost Reduction Program target for 2011 for employee gainsharing

incentives and rewarded for delivering shareholder value and contributing
to the success of the Company in a fair and responsible manner.

incentives;
•

Company’s strategy and to align their interests with those of shareholders.
Remuneration at Aer Lingus is primarily based on three principal elements
•

Fixed pay, including basic salary, pension and related benefits;

•

Annual bonus; and

•

Long-term incentive

reviewed and approved the 2012 share award grants under the
Company’s Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) to Executive Directors and

Remuneration arrangements are designed to enhance the focus of
Executive Directors and senior managers on the achievement of the

assessed and agreed the level of achievement against Greenfield

other senior managers;
•

considered the outcome of the performance conditions for the LTIP
share awards granted in 2009;

•

considered and approved the Remuneration Report for the financial
year 2011 Annual Report;

•

considered and approved the remuneration arrangements for new
executives appointed in 2012;

•
In addition, the Remuneration Committee introduced a special incentive
scheme, the “Transformational Performance Scheme” to incentivise the

ensure the retention of the services of the Chief Executive Officer;
•

Chief Financial Officer and other senior managers to deliver targeted
savings under the Group’s Greenfield savings plan. This plan was central to

considered options for arrangements to be put in place in order to
determined the vesting of a 2009 share option award to the Chief
Executive Officer;

•

developed an executive remuneration policy and design for 2013.

the successful turnaround of Aer Lingus.
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Report of the Remuneration Committee on Directors’ Remuneration
Unaudited information
Executive Directors

2012 Performance Related Bonuses

Mr Christoph Mueller (Chief Executive Officer) was an Executive Director

Performance related bonuses are payable to Executive Directors and senior

throughout 2012. The remuneration package for Mr Mueller as Executive

managers for meeting clearly defined and stretching annual profit targets

Director consists of basic salary, annual performance related bonus, a

and strategic goals set and monitored by the Remuneration Committee. In

pension contribution, premium-priced share options over shares in the

setting meaningful targets for the 2012 performance related bonuses, the

Company agreed as part of his recruitment arrangements in 2009, shares

Remuneration Committee was mindful of the need to maintain profitability

awarded under the Company’s LTIP, health insurance and a car allowance.

while also recognising the importance of motivating and retaining

Mr Mueller does not receive any additional fees for serving as a Director of

management to drive sustainable performance.

the Company. While Mr Mueller’s basic salary is subject to annual review,
he has voluntary agreed to freeze it at €475,000. This is the initial basic

In 2012 the annual performance related bonuses were subject to a cap of

salary that was agreed on his appointment in 2009 and itself represented a

150% of basic salary for the Chief Executive Officer, 100% of basic salary for

voluntary reduction from the applicable market rate.

certain senior executives, 75% of salary for certain other senior executives

In 2011, the Board consented to Mr Mueller accepting an appointment
to the Board of Tourism Ireland as a Non-Executive Director. Mr Mueller
retains his fees of €7,965 per annum from this external directorship.
Mr Andrew Macfarlane (Chief Financial Officer) was an Executive Director
throughout 2012. The remuneration package for Mr Macfarlane as
Executive Director consists of basic salary (which is subject to an annual
review but not necessarily increased), annual performance related bonus,
a pension contribution, shares awarded under the Company’s LTIP, health
insurance and a car allowance. Mr Macfarlane does not receive any
additional fees for serving as a Director of the Company. As disclosed in
the remuneration table of last year’s Remuneration Report, Mr Macfarlane
earned a deferred bonus in 2011 under the Transformational Performance
Scheme and this bonus (in the sum of €203,629) was paid in 2012. Mr
Christoph Mueller (Chief Executive Officer) did not participate in the 2011
Transformational Performance Scheme and as such did not receive a bonus
under this scheme.

and 40% and 30%, respectively for the other two categories of senior
management. The 2012 annual performance-related plan was funded with
a 70% weighting on the achievement of a clear financial performance target
and a 30% weighting on the achievement of measurable non-financial
targets related to customers and people. The financial performance criteria
in 2012 comprised stretching operating profit targets to align with the goal
of maintaining profitability. The strategic non-financial performance criteria
set stretching goals in the areas of customer targets and people targets.
Payout was limited to a pool driven by the above performance measures.
Individual payouts for Executive Directors and selected senior managers
were 75% based on the corporate performance and 25% based upon the
achievement of individual targets. Individual payouts for the remainder
of the senior management team were 30% based on the corporate
performance and 70% based upon the achievement of individual targets.
This emphasis on individual targets allowed the Company to take account
of the subtlety and complexity of the work undertaken at this level and to
focus participants on the right financial and strategic outcomes. The Group
was successful in achieving its targets for the 2012 financial year at the

In last year’s Annual Report, the Remuneration Committee flagged its
intention to introduce revisions to the remuneration arrangements in order
to retain and motivate the Chief Executive Officer to continue to deliver
superior performance. Due to the restrictions of the offer period under
the Irish Takeover Panel Rules which commenced on 19 June 2012 (when
Ryanair announced its offer), the Remuneration Committee has to date

upper end of the range between the target and maximum levels set by the
plan. The bonus payments to the Chief Executive Officer and to the Chief
Financial Officer are €646,667 and €398,599 respectively (136% and
121% of basic salary respectively). Executive Directors are not required to
defer their annual bonuses or convert them into shares. Performance versus
the corporate targets in 2012 is illustrated in the table below:

been unable to progress these arrangements to completion. As the Ryanair
offer has recently been prohibited by the EU Competition Commission, the
Committee intends to progress this issue and the new arrangements will be

Targets

Funding Potential
at Maximum

Outcome 2012

disclosed in due course.
Further details of the payments and benefits received by the Executive
Directors are set out in Table 2.1.

Financial Targets
Strategic Non-Financial
Targets

Basic Salary Reviews
The basic salaries of Executive Directors are reviewed annually with

Total

regard to personal performance, company performance, changes in
responsibilities and market practice. Following the review in 2012, and
consistent with the Group’s desire to exercise pay restraint, no changes
were made to basic salaries.
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Unaudited information
2011 Transformational Performance Scheme
The Transformational Performance Scheme was referenced and described in
detail in the Remuneration Reports of the 2010 and 2011 Annual Reports.
It was a special short-term bonus opportunity to support the Company’s
turnaround with performance criteria based upon the achievement of
a stretching 2011 in-year Greenfield Cost Reduction Programme target.
The scheme is applicable to the Chief Financial Officer and other senior
managers. As disclosed in the 2011 report, the bonuses were earned in
2011 but payment was deferred. The deferred bonuses earned under this
scheme were paid in October 2012. No further awards will be made under
this scheme.

General Index. TSR measures the change in value for shareholders arising
from changes in the Company’s share price plus the returns that would
arise for shareholders if dividends were reinvested in the Company’s shares
on the relevant ex-dividend date, net of corporation tax but before income
tax. The following financial underpin also applies: positive cumulative
EBITDAR (before exceptional items as determined by the Remuneration
Committee) of at least €100 million during the performance period and
positive EBITDAR as shown in the Company’s financial accounts in the final
year of the performance period (before exceptional items as determined by
the Remuneration Committee).
The maximum award under the rules of the LTIP is 150% of base salary.
Under the rules of the scheme the maximum number of shares that can vest

2013 Performance Related Bonuses
The structure of the 2013 performance related pay scheme is broadly
unchanged from that which applied in 2012. In 2013, the Group will
continue to focus its Executive Directors and senior managers on the
sustainable performance and health of the Group with annual performance
related bonus opportunities. The continued emphasis on individual targets
allows the Company to take account of the subtlety and complexity of the
work undertaken at this level and to focus participants on the right financial
and strategic outcomes.

is set at 125% of the shares which are the subject of the award , for superior
performance. However for the awards made in 2012, the Remuneration
Committee determined that the maximum number of shares that will be
capable of vesting will be reduced to 100% of the awards. Awards under the
LTIP can be made on an annual basis at the discretion of the Remuneration
Committee. There is no requirement in the LTIP for shares to be held for
a period following vesting.
Following a determination by the Remuneration Committee, the 2010 LTIP
award (covering the performance period 1 January 2010 to 31 December

Employee Gain-Sharing Incentive
In 2009, a provision was made for employee gain-sharing incentives for the
Greenfield Cost Reduction Program. 3,700 of the Group’s employees are
eligible to participate. Executive Directors and senior management are not
eligible to participate in these gain-sharing incentives. The funding for the
gain-sharing incentives was contingent on a minimum level of profitability
in a given fiscal year and the achievement of the Greenfield Cost Reduction
Program targets. Both the required minimum level of profitability and the
Greenfield Cost Reduction Program targets were achieved in 2012 and
therefore a sum of €6.25 million is payable to employees under these
arrangements.

2012) vested on 6 February 2013 at 108% of the shares which were the
subject of the award, based on superior performance. This is the first
award that has vested under the scheme since its introduction in 2007 and
reflects the significant transformation that has been achieved since 2009.
Measuring Total Shareholder Return (TSR) over the performance period,
Aer Lingus ranked second of 10 companies in the comparator group of
European airlines and sixth of 38 in the comparator group of companies
in the ISEQ General Index. The other companies in the comparator group
of European airlines were: Easyjet, Ryanair Holdings, Deutsche Lufthansa,
British Airways / International Airlines Group, Finnair, Air France / KLM,
Vueling Airlines, Air Berlin and SAS. On 6 February 2013, 486,717 shares
vested to the Chief Executive Officer and 440,607 shares vested to the

Long Term Incentive Plan

Chief Financial Officer in respect of the 2010 LTIP award.

Conditional awards of shares are granted to Executive Directors and
senior managers under the Company’s LTIP. The LTIP is a share based

In 2012, awards were made to the Chief Executive Officer and Chief

long-term performance award scheme which provides for the vesting of

Financial Officer of face value of 99% of their basic salaries.

shares subject to the achievement of minimum performance objectives,
as specified by the Remuneration Committee. In order to promote the

Information regarding LTIP awards to Executive Directors is set out in Table

long term sustainability of the Company, the performance conditions are

2.4 on page 57.

measured over a three-year period and are linked to the Company’s long
term value creation.

It is envisaged that awards under the LTIP will be made in 2013 broadly on
the same basis as was done in 2012. A review of the scheme commenced

As part of a review of the Company’s executive remuneration strategy, in

in 2012 and is ongoing in 2013. It is expected that the existing scheme will

2010 the Remuneration Committee modified the performance objectives

be replaced by a new Long Term Incentive Scheme to be operative from

for LTIP awards. The 2010, 2011 and 2012 performance conditions consist

2014 onwards.

of Total Shareholder Return (TSR) measured 50% against a comparator
group of European airlines and 50% against the companies in the ISEQ
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Unaudited information
Share Option Grant for Mr Mueller on recruitment

Non-Executive Directors Fees

As announced on 9 September 2009, Mr Christoph Mueller was granted

Non-Executive Directors are remunerated by way of directors’ fees. Non-

share options at the time of his recruitment in respect of 1,500,000 shares

Executive Directors’ fees are not pensionable and are not performance

in the Company, with effect from the 8 September 2009. The share options

related. They are not eligible to participate in any Aer Lingus bonus scheme

vest and become exercisable provided the closing price of the Company’s

or other share related incentive schemes.

shares remain above certain fixed prices (detailed below) for at least 25
of the 40 days prior to certain specific dates and further details relating
to the options are set out in Table 2.3 on page 57. The Remuneration
Committee selected performance criteria which it believes are sufficiently
stretching to reasonably incentivise Mr Mueller to deliver value for Aer

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2012, Non-Executive Directors’
fees were set at €32,400 per annum, the Chairman’s fees were set at
€126,000 per annum and an additional fee of €7,200 per annum was
payable to the Chairman of the Audit Committee. These fees were reduced

Lingus shareholders.

voluntarily in 2009 from €175,000 per annum for the Chairman and

The share option grant was disclosed in the Remuneration Reports contained

that voluntary reduction from 2009 levels, and the significant increase in

in the 2009, 2010 and 2011 annual reports, with each such Remuneration

Board activity following the third Ryanair hostile offer, director fees were

Report being approved by shareholders at annual general meeting.

maintained at the reduced current level.

In September 2012, the Remuneration Committee determined that the

As disclosed on 24 September 2012, in addition to his normal responsibilities

performance criteria in respect of the first tranche of 500,000 share options

as a Director of the Company, the Board asked Mr Francis Hackett to take

granted to Mr Mueller had been achieved, as the closing market share price

on additional responsibility in chairing a legal committee of the Board to

of €1.00 was achieved on at least 25 of the 40 days prior to 7 September

support management in relation to the Company’s application to the High

2012. The share options in respect of this tranche of 500,000 shares vested

Court for a capital reduction, the issues faced by the pension schemes of

on 7 September 2012 and are exercisable at a price of €0.573 per share.

which Aer Lingus Limited is a participating employer and related matters.

These share options have not yet been exercised by Mr Mueller. He was

Mr Hackett’s terms of appointment were amended in order to reflect his

restricted from exercising the options while Aer Lingus was subject to ‘‘offer

assumption of these additional responsibilities. Mr Hackett was paid fees of

period” restrictions caused by Ryanair’s offer for Aer Lingus announced in

€76,000 in 2012 in respect of these additional responsibilities.

from €45,000 per annum for Non-Executive Directors. Notwithstanding

June 2012.

Directors’ Concessionary Travel

Service Contracts

Directors and dependent members of their families can avail themselves

The Company has a service contract or letter of appointment with all Board

of concessionary travel on Aer Lingus services. The concession applies to

members.

their travel on vacation and is on a space available basis. It is not available

Executive Directors

the approval of the Office of the Revenue Commissioners for the level of

for their own individual business purposes. The Company has obtained

All service contracts with Executive Directors are on similar terms and have
notice periods of 12 months or less and comply with the recommendations
in regard to payments on termination in paragraph D.1.4 and D.1.5 of
the 2010 UK Corporate Governance Code and paragraph 3.5 of the EU
Commission 2009 Guidance on Remuneration.

reimbursement charge to be applied to such concession travel to defray the
marginal cost to the Company of the seat.

Directors’ Remuneration
Disclosures regarding Directors’ remuneration have been drawn up on an
individual Director basis in accordance with the requirements of both the

Non-Executive Directors

2010 UK Corporate Governance Code and the Irish Stock Exchange.

The terms upon which each of the Non-Executive Directors have been

Directors’ Pension Benefits

appointed are set out in letters of appointment which reflect the form
recommended by the 2010 UK Corporate Governance Code. It is the
Company’s policy that each Non-Executive Director is appointed for a
fixed period not exceeding three years (with the potential for a second
three year term), subject to satisfactory performance and re-election at
any Annual General Meeting where this is required. Recommendation
to shareholders for the election of Non-Executive Directors beyond six
years will only be made following review by the Board. None of the NonExecutive Directors is a party to any service contract with the Company that

Information regarding the pension benefits of the Directors is outlined in
Table 2.1 on page 55. The Company is required to make a contribution
at a rate of 25% of basic salary to pension arrangements as are agreed with
each of Mr Christoph Mueller and Mr Andrew Macfarlane.

Directors’ shareholdings
The interests of the Directors in office at 31 December 2012 in the shares
of the Group are outlined in Table 2.2 on page 56.

provides for benefits upon termination.
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Audited Information
The information on pages 55 to 57 forms part of the financial statements.
Table 2.1 Individual Directors’ remuneration for year ended 31 December 2012
Basic salary
and fees

Pension contribution

Annual Performance
Related Bonus

Other
benefits (1)

Total
2012

Total
2011

€’000

€’000

€’000

€’000

€’000

€’000

Christoph Mueller

(2)

475

119

647

52

1,293

1,244

Andrew Macfarlane

(3)(4)

330

107

399

40

876

1,055

805

226

1,046

92

2,169

2,299

126

-

-

-

126

126

32

-

-

-

32

32

Colm Barrington
David Begg
Montie Brewer

32

-

-

-

32

32

Leslie Buckley

(5)

16

-

-

-

16

32

Laurence Crowley

(6)

40

-

-

-

40

40

Mella Frewan

32

-

-

-

32

32

Danuta Gray

32

-

-

-

32

32

Francis Hackett

108

-

-

-

108

32

Colin Hunt

(7)

32

-

-

-

32

32

Thomas Moran

32

-

-

-

32

32

Nicola Shaw

32

-

-

-

32

32

-

-

-

-

-

13

Thomas Corcoran

(8)

Michael Johns

(9)

Total

-

-

-

-

-

5

514

-

-

-

514

472

1,319

226

1,046

92

2,683

2,771

(1) Other benefits relate principally to car allowances, medical/life assurance.
(2) In addition to the amounts above, an amount has been charged to the income statement in relation to the estimated cost of shares which
could vest under the share option award granted to Mr Mueller prior to his appointment as a Director and in relation to the estimated cost of
shares which could vest under the 2010, 2011 and 2012 LTIP awards. In respect of the share option award granted to Mr Mueller prior to his
appointment as a Director and the 2010, 2011 and 2012 LTIP awards to Mr Mueller, an amount of €577,380 has been charged in 2012.
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(3) In addition to the amounts above, an amount has been charged
to the income statement in relation to the estimated cost of shares
which could vest under the 2010, 2011 and the 2012 LTIP awards
to Mr Macfarlane. In respect of the 2010, 2011 and 2012 LTIP
awards to Mr Macfarlane, an amount of €397,902 has been
charged in 2012.
(4) Mr Macfarlane voluntarily agreed to reduce his basic salary by
approximately 23%. The figure set out in the table under “Basic
salary and fees” reflects the voluntarily reduced basic salary.
Other elements of remuneration payable to Mr Macfarlane are
calculated by reference to his unreduced basic salary.
(5) Mr Leslie Buckley retired as a Director on 21 June 2012.
(6) Mr Crowley received an additional fee of €7,200 per annum in
respect of his Chairmanship of the Audit Committee.

of his assumption of additional responsibilities in chairing a legal
committee of the Board to support management in relation to the
Company’s application to the High Court for a capital reduction,
the issues faced by the pension schemes of which Aer Lingus
Limited is a participating employer and related matters.
(8) Mr Thomas Corcoran retired as a Director on 6 May 2011.
(9) Mr Michael Johns retired as a Director on 28 February 2011.
Table 2.2 Interest of Directors in office at 31 December 2012 in the
shares of the Group
31 December 2012

1 January 2012*

Number of shares

Number of shares

200,000

200,000

500

500

Montie Brewer

-

-

Laurence Crowley

-

-

Mella Frewen

-

-

Danuta Gray

23,863

23,863

9,544

9,544

5,000

5,000

35,000

35,000

40,000

40,000

505,000

505,000

23,945

23,945

David Begg

Francis Hackett
Colin Hunt
Andrew Macfarlane

(1)

Thomas Moran
Christoph Mueller

(2) (3)

Nicola Shaw

On 8 September 2009, Mr Christoph Mueller was granted share options
in respect of 1,500,000 shares. In September 2012, the Remuneration
Committee determined that the performance criteria in respect of the
first tranche of 500,000 share options granted to Mr Mueller had been
achieved, as the closing market share price of €1.00 was achieved on at
least 25 of the 40 days prior to 7 September 2012. The share options in
respect of this tranche of 500,000 shares vested on 7 September 2012 and
are exercisable at a price of €0.573 per share. These share options have not
yet been exercised by Mr Mueller. He was restricted from exercising the
options while Aer Lingus was subject to ‘‘offer period” restrictions caused
by Ryanair’s offer for Aer Lingus announced in June 2012. Subject to
achieving the conditions specified in the Share Option Deed, the exercise
price of the second and third tranches of the share options is as follows:
the exercise price in respect of the options over 500,000 shares which may
become exercisable on or after the 7 September 2013 is 130% of €0.521
per share (being the average closing share price on the five days prior to the
date of grant) and the exercise price in respect of the options over 500,000
shares which may become exercisable on or after the 7 September 2014
is 170% of €0.521 per share (being the average closing share price on the
five days prior to the date of grant).
(2)

(7) Mr Hackett received additional fees of €76,000 in 2012 in respect

Colm Barrington

During the year ended 31 December 2010, Mr Andrew Macfarlane was
granted conditional awards of 407,970 shares under the LTIP in respect
of the performance period 1 January 2010 to 31 December 2012. On 6
February 2013, 440,607 shares vested to Mr Andrew Macfarlane in respect
of the 2010 LTIP award following achievement of the performance targets.
Of these, 229,115 shares were withheld for the purpose of discharging the
tax liability which arose upon the vesting. Mr Macfarlane’s shareholding
therefore increased by 211,492 shares on 6 February 2013. In April 2011
Mr Andrew Macfarlane was granted conditional awards of 500,000 shares
under the LTIP in respect of the performance period 1 January 2011 to
31 December 2013. In April 2012 Mr Andrew Macfarlane was granted
conditional awards of 440,000 shares under the LTIP in respect of the
performance period 1 January 2012 to 31 December 2014. Any vesting
of these shares is subject to the achievement of the performance targets
outlined above.
(1)

* Or date of appointment if later
With the exception of the shares vested on 6 February 2013 to Mr Andrew
Macfarlane and Mr Christoph Mueller in respect of the 2010 LTIP , there
was no change in the Directors’ interests in the period between 31
December 2012 and 7 March 2013.

During the year ended 31 December 2010, Mr Christoph Mueller was
granted conditional awards of 450,664 shares under the LTIP in respect
of the performance period 1 January 2010 to 31 December 2012. On
6 February 2013, 486,717 shares vested to Mr Mueller in respect of the
2010 LTIP award following achievement of the performance targets. Of
these, 253,092 shares were withheld for the purpose of discharging the
tax liability which arose upon the vesting. Mr Mueller’s shareholding
therefore increased by 233,625 shares on 6 February 2013. In April 2011
Mr Mueller was granted conditional awards of 600,000 shares under the
LTIP in respect of the performance period 1 January 2011 to 31 December
2013. In April 2012 Mr Mueller was granted conditional awards of 490,000
shares under the LTIP in respect of the performance period 1 January
2012 to 31 December 2014. Any vesting of these shares is subject to the
achievement of the performance targets outlined above.
(3)
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Table 2.3 Share Options
As at 31 December 2012 and subject to achieving the closing market share prices (as set out in the fourth column) below, for at least 25 of the 40 days prior
to the relevant dates noted below, there are outstanding options over 1,500,000 ordinary shares granted to Mr Christoph Mueller composed as follows:
Closing market
No. of

share price and

ordinary

relevant date for

shares

option to become

Exercise
price

Normal dates exercisable

Vesting Status

7 September 2012 until 7

Vested but not exercised

exercisable
Mr Christoph

500,000

€1.00

Mueller

€0.573 (1)

7 September 2012
500,000

€1.60

September 2019
€0.677(2)

7 September 2013
500,000

€2.20

€0.886(3)

7 September 2014
(1)

110% of €0.521 per share

(2)

130% of €0.521 per share

(3)

170% of €0.521 per share

7 September 2013 until 7

Pending (subject to achievement of

September 2019

performance criteria)

7 September 2014 until 7

Pending (subject to achievement of

September 2019

performance criteria)

Table 2.4 LTIP Awards (1)
LTIP
Award

Year

Performance Period

Vesting Status
Effective 6 February 2013, vested in the amount of 486,717 shares

Mr Christoph Mueller

450,664

2010

1 January 2010 - 31 December 2012

being 108% of award based on superior performance. Of these,
253,092 shares were withheld for the purpose of discharging the
tax liability which arose upon the vesting.

600,000

2011

1 January 2011 - 31 December 2013

Pending (subject to achievement of performance criteria)

490,000

2012

1 January 2012 - 31 December 2014

Pending (subject to achievement of performance criteria)
Effective 6 February 2013, vested in the amount of 440,607 shares

407,970

2010

1 January 2010 - 31 December 2012

Mr Andrew Macfarlane

(1)

being 108% of award based on superior performance. Of these,
229,115 shares were withheld for the purpose of discharging the
tax liability which arose upon the vesting.

500,000

2011

1 January 2011 - 31 December 2013

Pending (subject to achievement of performance criteria)

440,000

2012

1 January 2012 - 31 December 2014

Pending (subject to achievement of performance criteria)

Any vesting of these shares is subject to the achievement of the performance targets outlined above.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF AER LINGUS GROUP PLC
We have audited the financial statements of Aer Lingus Group plc for
the year ended 31 December 2012 which comprise the Consolidated
Income Statement, the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive
Income, the Consolidated and Company Statements of Financial Position,

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion:
•

with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, of the state of the

the Consolidated and Company Statements of Changes in Equity, the

group’s affairs as at 31 December 2012 and of its profit and cash flows

Consolidated and Company Statements of Cash Flows and the related
notes. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their
preparation is Irish law and International Financial Reporting Standards

the group financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance

for the year then ended;
•

the company financial statements give a true and fair view, in
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union as applied

(IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union and, as regards the company

in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Acts 1963 to

financial statements, as applied in accordance with the provisions of the

2012, of the state of the company’s affairs as at 31 December 2012

Companies Acts 1963 to 2012.

and cash flows for the year then ended; and

Respective responsibilities of directors and
auditors

•

the financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance
with the requirements of the Companies Acts 1963 to 2012 and, as
regards the group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.

As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement set
out on page 39, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the
financial statements giving a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to
audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance
with Irish law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland).
Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s
Ethical Standards for Auditors.

Matters on which we are required to report by the
Companies Acts 1963 to 2012
•

We have obtained all the information and explanations which we
consider necessary for the purposes of our audit.

•

In our opinion proper books of account have been kept by the
company.

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for
the company’s members as a body in accordance with Section 193 of the
Companies Act, 1990 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving

•

books of account.
•

In our opinion the information given in the Directors’ Report is
consistent with the financial statements and the description in the

these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to

Corporate Governance Statement of the main features of the internal

any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may

control and risk management systems in relation to the process for

come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

The Company Statement of Financial Position is in agreement with the

preparing the group financial statements is consistent with the group
financial statements.
•

The net assets of the company, as stated in the Company Statement

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures

of Financial Position, are more than half of the amount of its called-up

in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the

share capital and, in our opinion, on that basis there did not exist at

financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused

31 December 2012 a financial situation which under Section 40 (1) of

by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of: whether the accounting

the Companies (Amendment) Act, 1983 would require the convening

policies are appropriate to the group’s and the company’s circumstances

of an extraordinary general meeting of the company.

and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the directors;
and the overall presentation of the financial statements. In addition, we
read all the financial and non-financial information in the Annual Report to
identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements. If we
become aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies
we consider the implications for our report.

Matters on which we are required to report by
exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following:
Under the Companies Acts 1963 to 2012 we are required to report to
you if, in our opinion, the disclosures of directors’ remuneration and
transactions specified by law are not made.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (continued)

Under the Listing Rules of the Irish Stock Exchange we are required to
review:
•

the directors’ statement, set out on page 47, in relation to going
concern;

•

the part of the Corporate Governance Statement relating to the
company’s compliance with the nine provisions of the UK Corporate
Governance Code and the two provisions of the Irish Corporate
Governance Annex specified for our review; and

•

the six specified elements of disclosures in the report to shareholders
by the Board on directors’ remuneration.

Andrew Craig
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Audit Firm
Dublin
7 March 2013
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
Year ended 31 December
Note

Revenue

2012

2011

€’000

€’000

6

1,393,284

1,288,309

11

266,764

260,550

8, 14, 15

76,079

79,808

Operating expenses (before net exceptional items)
Staff costs
Depreciation and amortisation
Aircraft operating lease costs
Fuel and oil costs

46,137

43,909

358,560

288,728

60,096

58,104

295,336

275,631

En-route charges

61,391

59,668

Distribution charges

46,957

46,728

Maintenance expenses
Airport charges

Ground operations, catering and other operating costs

7

Other (gains)/losses - net

126,240

129,102

(13,330)

(3,028)

1,324,230

1,239,200

Operating profit before net exceptional items

8

69,054

49,109

Net exceptional items

9

(26,466)

37,161

42,588

86,270

			
Operating profit after net exceptional items
Finance income

10

15,303

15,422

Finance expense

10

(17,131)

(17,330)

(1,828)

(1,908)

(190)

-

40,570

84,362

(6,543)

(13,168)

34,027

71,194

34,027

71,194

6.4

13.4

16

Share of loss of Joint Venture
Profit before tax

12

Income tax charge
Profit for the year
Profit attributable to:
- owners of the parent

Earnings per share attributable to the owners of the parent
(expressed in cent per share)
- basic and diluted

13

The notes on pages 68 to 118 form an integral part of these financial statements.
Andrew Macfarlane			

Christoph Mueller

DIRECTOR			DIRECTOR
Approved by the Board of Directors on 7 March 2013
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Year ended 31 December

Note

Profit for the year

2012

2011

€’000

€’000

34,027

71,194

(147)

(134)

18

17

(5,836)

8,794

Other comprehensive income
Available-for-sale reserve
- Amortisation of available-for-sale reserve

10

- Deferred tax impact
Cash flow hedges

32

- Fair value (losses)/gains
- Deferred tax impact

729

(1,099)

- Transfer to fuel costs

(2,462)

(13,625)

- Deferred tax impact

308

1,703

- Transfer to Income Statement (net exceptional items)

-

(11,595)

- Deferred tax on impact

9

-

1,449

- Transfer to property, plant and equipment

-

(4,772)

- Deferred tax impact

-

597

(12,973)

(18,425)

1,622

2,303

(4,243)

(4,893)

11,043

31,514

11,043

31,514

- Transfer to other gains/losses - net
- Deferred tax impact
Post employment benefit obligations
- Actuarial loss on defined benefit arrangements

27

Total comprehensive profit for the year
Total comprehensive profit attributable to:
- owners of the parent
The notes on pages 68 to 118 form an integral part of these financial statements.
Andrew Macfarlane			

Christoph Mueller

DIRECTOR			DIRECTOR
Approved by the Board of Directors on 7 March 2013
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 December
Note
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Investment in Joint Venture
Loans and receivables
Derivative financial instruments
Trade and other receivables
Deferred tax asset
Deposits

14
15
16
19
20
22
30
23

2012
€’000

2011
€’000

741,087
12,447
10,764
43,373
1,007
15,858
1,330
119,716

770,944
12,643
42,180
2,084
16,680
4,929
128,516

945,582

977,976

17

-

9,792

21
20
22

2,235
4,539
83,929
3
432,504
312,939

1,493
34,845
79,319
16
459,561
264,495

836,149

839,729

1,781,731

1,827,497

26,702
510,605
5,048
343,796
7,583

26,702
510,605
5,048
343,796
23,359

Retained earnings

(59,023)

(72,789)

Total equity

834,711

836,721

489,608
846
34,858
55,138

536,971
733
28,982
47,826

580,450

614,512

283,639
41,979
11,220
29,732

293,453
40,266
8,867
33,678

366,570

376,264

947,020

990,776

1,781,731

1,827,497

Non-current assets held for sale
Current assets
Inventories
Derivative financial instruments
Trade and other receivables
Current income tax receivables
Deposits
Cash and cash equivalents

23
23

Total assets
EQUITY
Called-up share capital
Share premium
Capital conversion reserve fund
Capital redemption reserve fund
Other reserves

31
32
32
32
32

LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
Finance lease obligations
Derivative financial instruments
Post employment benefit obligations
Provisions for other liabilities and charges

25
20
27
28

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Finance lease obligations
Derivative financial instruments
Provisions for other liabilities and charges

24
25
20
28

Total liabilities
Total equity and liabilities

The notes on pages 68 to 118 form an integral part of these financial statements.
Andrew Macfarlane			

Christoph Mueller

DIRECTOR			DIRECTOR
Approved by the Board of Directors on 7 March 2013
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 December
Note

2012

2011

€’000

€’000

37

239,697

159,697

Trade and other receivables

22

603,882

699,911

Cash and cash equivalents

23

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Financial assets
Current assets
84,203

83,986

688,085

783,897

927,782

943,594

31

26,702

26,702

Total assets
EQUITY
Called-up share capital
Share premium

32

510,605

510,605

Capital conversion reserve fund

32

5,048

5,048

Capital redemption reserve fund

32

343,796

343,796

41,631

57,443

927,782

943,594

Retained earnings
Total equity

In accordance with section 148(8) of the Companies Act, 1963 and section 7 (1A) of the Companies (Amendment) Act, 1986, the Company is availing
of the exemption from presenting its individual income statement to the Annual General Meeting and from filing it with the Registrar of Companies. The
Company’s result for the financial year determined in accordance with IFRS is a profit of €0.2m (2011: Profit of €0.1m).
The notes on pages 68 to 118 form an integral part of these financial statements.
Andrew Macfarlane			

Christoph Mueller

DIRECTOR			DIRECTOR
Approved by the Board of Directors on 7 March 2013
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All movements are attributable to the owners of the parent.

Called-up
share capital

Share
premium

Capital
conversion
reserve
fund

Capital
redemption
reserve
fund

Cash flow
hedging
reserve

Availablefor-sale
reserve

Treasury
shares

Share
based
payment
reserve

Retained
earnings

Total
equity

€’000

€’000

€’000

€’000

€’000

€’000

€’000

€’000

€’000

€’000

26,702

510,605

5,048

343,796

60,351

510

(6,326)

812

(139,090)

802,408

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

71,194

71,194

-

-

-

-

(34,670)

(117)

-

-

(4,893)

(39,680)

-

-

-

-

(34,670)

(117)

-

-

66,301

31,514

Exercise of share awards
Share based payment reserve
Deferred tax impact
Balance at 31 December 2011

26,702

510,605

5,048

343,796

25,681

393

711
(5,615)

(711)
3,199
(400)
2,900

(72,789)

3,199
(400)
836,721

Balance at 1 January 2012

26,702

510,605

5,048

343,796

25,681

393

(5,615)

2,900

(72,789)

836,721

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

34,027

34,027

-

-

-

-

(18,612)

(129)

-

-

(4,243)

(22,984)

-

-

-

-

(18,612)

(129)

-

-

29,784

11,043

26,702

510,605

5,048

343,796

7,069

264

(5,615)

3,389
(424)
5,865

(16,018)
(59,023)

(16,018)
3,389
(424)
(834,711)

Balance at 1 January 2011
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive loss for
the year ended 31 December
2011
Total comprehensive income/
(loss) for the year

Profit for the year
Other comprehensive loss for
the year ended 31 December
2012
Total comprehensive income/
(loss) for the year
Dividends paid (3c per share)
Share based payment reserve
Deferred tax impact
Balance at 31 December 2012

The notes on pages 68 to 118 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Called up
share capital

Share
premium

Capital
conversion
reserve fund

Capital
redemption
reserve fund

Retained
earnings

Total equity

€’000

€’000

€’000

€’000

€’000

€’000

Balance at 1 January 2011

26,702

510,605

5,048

343,796

57,351

943,502

Profit for the year
ended 31 December 2011

-

-

-

-

92

92

Total comprehensive income for
the year

-

-

-

-

92

92

Balance at 31 December 2011

26,702

510,605

5,048

343,796

57,443

943,594

Balance at 1 January 2012

26,702

510,605

5,048

343,796

57,443

943,594

-

-

-

-

206

206

-

-

-

-

206

206

-

-

-

-

(16,018)

(16,018)

26,702

510,605

5,048

343,796

41,631

927,782

Profit for the year ended
31 December 2012
Total comprehensive income for the
year
Dividends Paid (3c per share)
Balance at 31 December 2012

The notes on pages 68 to 118 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Year ended 31 December
Note

36

Cash flows from operating activities
Income tax paid
Net cash generated from operations

2012

2011

€’000

€’000

118,508

87,618

(37)

-

118,471

87,618

(41,132)

(31,531)

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of non-current assets (net of lease finance raised)
Investment in Joint Venture
Proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment
Decrease/(Increase) in deposits

(2,514)

-

50

11,400

39,089

(32,415)

Interest received

7,471

6,473

Net cash generated/(used) in investing activities

2,964

(46,073)

(45,196)

(61,967)

(9,692)

(10,299)

Dividends paid

(16,018)

-

Net cash used in financing activities

(70,906)

(72,266)

50,529

(30,721)

264,495

296,011

(2,085)

(795)

312,939

264,495

Cash flows from financing activities
Repayments of finance lease obligations
Interest paid

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January
Exchange losses on cash and cash equivalents
23

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

The notes on pages 68 to 118 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Year ended 31 December
Note

36

Cash flows from operating activities
Net cash (used) in/generated from operations

2012

2011

€’000

€’000

(1)

133,986

(1)

133,986

Cash flows from investing activities
Investment in share capital of subsidiaries

37

-

(50,000)

218

-

16,018

-

(16,018)

-

Net cash generated from/(used in) investing activities

218

(50,000)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

217

83,986

83,986

-

84,203

83,986

Interest received
Intercompany loan repayment
Dividends paid

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January
23

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

The notes on pages 68 to 118 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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1

General information
Aer Lingus Group plc (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (together “the Group”) operates as an Irish airline primarily providing passenger and
cargo transportation services from Ireland to the UK and Europe (“short haul”) and also to the US (“long haul”). The Company is a public limited
liability company incorporated and domiciled in Ireland. The address of its registered office is Dublin Airport, Co. Dublin, Ireland. The Company
has its primary listing on the Irish Stock Exchange and a standard listing on the London Stock Exchange.
These financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 7 March 2013. The financial statements are for the Group for
the financial years ended 31 December 2012 and 31 December 2011. The principal companies within the Group during the years ended 31
December 2012 and 31 December 2011 are disclosed in Note 18.

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies have
been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1

Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements of Aer Lingus Group plc, which are presented in euro and rounded to the nearest thousand (€’000) have
been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union (IFRS), International Financial
Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) interpretations and the Companies Acts 1963 to 2012 applicable to companies reporting under
IFRS. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of derivative
financial instruments. The going concern statement on page 47 forms part of the Group Financial Statements.
The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are consistent with those followed in the Group’s
preparation of the annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2011, with the addition of the policy related to the
investment in its Joint Venture as set out in Note 2.2 (b) and treatment of emission allowances as set out in Note 2.11.
IFRS as adopted by the EU differ in certain respects from IFRS as issued by the IASB. References to IFRS hereafter should be construed as
references to IFRS as adopted by the EU.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of the amount, event or actions,
actual results ultimately may differ from those estimated. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.

2.1.1 Adoption of IFRS and International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”)
Interpretations
The following new standards, amendments to existing standards and interpretations are mandatory for the first time for the financial year beginning
1 January 2012:
•

IFRS 7 (Amendment) Financial Instruments: Disclosures – Transfer of financial assets. The amendment addressed disclosures required to help
users of financial statements evaluate the risk exposures relating to the transfer of financial assets and the effect of those risks on an entity’s
financial position.

The following new standards, amendments to existing standards and interpretations are relevant to the Group and have been issued prior to the
date of issuance of the Group’s financial statements but have not been adopted early by the Group:
•

IAS 19 (Amendment) Employee Benefits. The amendment makes significant changes to the recognition and measurement of defined benefit
pension expense and termination benefits, and significantly increases the volume of disclosures. The key impact for the Group in addition
to increased disclosure and analysis in the notes to the financial statements, is that the annual expense for a funded post employment
scheme will include net interest expense or income, calculated by applying the discount rate to the net defined benefit asset or liability. This
will replace the finance charge on post employment obligation and expected return on plan assets recognised as finance income, currently
reported separately in the Income Statement and is expected to result in increased benefit expense. The Group has two funded post
employment schemes which will be impacted by this change and, it is expected that the finance charge on net post employment obligations
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recognised in the Income Statement for those schemes will be higher than the net of amounts previously recognised as finance income
and expense. (effective date: Aer Lingus financial year commencing 1 January 2013, with retrospective application required as per IAS 8
Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates and errors)
•

IFRS 1 (Amendments) Government loans. The amendment is subject to EU endorsement. The amendment adds an exception to the
retrospective application of IFRSs to require that first-time adopters apply the requirements in IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and IAS 20
Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of Government Assistance prospectively to government loans existing at the date of
transition to IFRSs (subject to EU endorsement, effective date: Aer Lingus financial year commencing 1 January 2013)

•

IAS 1 (Amendment) Presentation of items of Other Comprehensive Income. The amendment is effective for EU adopted IFRS preparers in
financial periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012 The amendment introduces a requirement for entities to group items of OCI on the basis
of whether they are potentially reclassifiable to profit or loss subsequently (effective date: Aer Lingus financial year commencing 1 January
2013)

•

IFRS 7 (Amendment) Disclosures – Offsetting financial assets and liabilities. The amendment is effective for EU adopted IFRS preparers in
financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. The amendment enhances current disclosures about offsetting financial assets and
financial liabilities. (effective date: Aer Lingus financial year commencing 1 January 2013)

•

Improvements to IFRS (2009-2011). The amendment is subject to EU endorsement. The Annual Improvements process provides a vehicle
for making non-urgent but necessary amendments to IFRSs (effective date: Aer Lingus financial year commencing 1 January 2013)

•

IFRS 13 Fair value measurement. This standard is effective for EU adopted IFRS preparers in financial periods beginning on or after 1 January
2013. IFRS 13 explains how to measure fair value and enhances fair value disclosures (effective date: Aer Lingus financial year commencing
1 January 2013)

•

IAS 27 (Revision) Separate financial statements. This revised standard will continue to contain the provisions for preparing separate financial
statements for those entities which prepare separate financial statements. (effective date: Aer Lingus financial year commencing 1 January
2014)

•

IAS 28 (Revision) Associates and joint ventures. This revised standard includes the requirements for joint ventures, as well as associates, to be
equity accounted following the issue of IFRS 11. (effective date: Aer Lingus financial year commencing 1 January 2014)

•

IAS 32 (Amendment) Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities. The amendment is effective for EU adopted IFRS preparers in financial
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014. The amendment clarifies some of the requirements for offsetting financial assets and financial
liabilities on the balance sheet (effective date: Aer Lingus financial year commencing 1 January 2014)

•

IFRS 10 Consolidated financial statements. IFRS 10 replaces all of the guidance on control and consolidation in IAS 27 and SIC 12. IFRS 10
changes the definition of control so that the same criteria are applied to all entities to determine control. The core principle that a consolidated
entity presents a parent and its subsidiaries as if they are a single entity remains unchanged, as do the mechanics of consolidation. IAS 27
is renamed Separate financial statements and is now a standard dealing solely with separate financial statements. (effective date: Aer Lingus
financial year commencing 1 January 2014)

•

IFRS 11 Joint arrangements. IFRS 11 eliminates the existing accounting policy choice of proportionate consolidation for jointly controlled
entities. IFRS 11 makes equity accounting mandatory for participants in joint ventures. Changes in definitions also mean that the “types” of
joint arrangements have been reduced from three to two; joint operations and joint ventures. IFRS 11 also made a number of consequential
amendments to IAS 28, Investments in associates and joint ventures (effective date: Aer Lingus financial year commencing 1 January 2014)

•

IFRS 12 Disclosures of interests in other entities. IFRS 12 sets out the required disclosures for entities reporting under IFRS 10 and IFRS
11. IFRS 12 requires entities to disclose information about the nature, risks and financial effects associated with the entity’s interests in
subsidiaries, associates, joint arrangements and unconsolidated structured entities (effective date: Aer Lingus financial year commencing 1
January 2014)
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•

Transition Guidance (Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and IFRS 12). The amendments are subject to EU endorsement. The amendments
clarify the Board’s intention when first issuing the transition guidance in IFRS 10 and provide similar relief from the presentation or adjustment
of comparative information for periods prior to the immediately preceding period. (effective date: Aer Lingus financial year commencing 1
January 2014)

•

IFRS 9 Financial instruments. The standard is subject to EU endorsement. IFRS introduces new requirements for classifying and measuring
financial assets and is likely to affect the Group’s accounting for its financial assets. IFRS 9 replaces the multiple classification models in
IAS 39 with a single model that has only two measurement categories: amortised cost and fair value. Classification under IFRS 9 is driven
by the entity’s business model for managing financial assets and the contractual characteristics of the financial assets. IFRS 9 removes the
requirement to separate embedded derivatives from financial asset hosts. IFRS 9 removes the cost exemption for unquoted equities (effective
date: Aer Lingus financial year commencing 1 January 2015)

Other than IFRS 9, for which the Directors have not yet had an opportunity to consider the potential impact of adoption, the above standards and
amendments are not expected to have a significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

2.2

Consolidation
(a) Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are all entities (including special purpose entities) over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating
policies generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of the voting rights. The existence and effect of potential voting rights
that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether the Group controls another entity. Subsidiaries are fully
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases.
The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the acquisitions of subsidiaries by the Group. The cost of an acquisition is
measured as the fair value of the assets given as consideration, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of
exchange. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at
their fair values at the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any non-controlling interest. The excess of the cost of acquisition over
the fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair
value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised directly in the income statement.
Inter-company transactions and balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies, are eliminated. Unrealised losses
are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
The financial statements of all subsidiaries are drawn up to the year ended 31 December. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.
(b) Joint ventures
In accordance with IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures, the Group’s share of results and net assets of joint ventures, which are entities in which
the Group holds an interest on a long-term basis and which are jointly controlled by the Group and one or more other venturers under a
contractual arrangement, are accounted for using the equity method, from the date on which the contractual agreements stipulating joint
control are finalised, and are derecognised when joint control ceases. The Group’s single joint venture is a jointly controlled entity within
the meaning of IAS 31. The Group’s interest in the net assets of joint ventures is reported as Investment in joint venture in the consolidated
statement of financial position and its interest in their results is included in the Consolidated Income Statement, below Operating profit. In
some cases, results and net assets are incorporated in the Group’s financial statements on the basis of unaudited management accounts. See
Note 16 for further details on the Group’s investment in its Joint Venture.

2.3

Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker. The chief
operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified
as the Chief Executive Officer, Christoph Mueller.
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2.4

Foreign currency translation
(a) Functional and presentation currency
The consolidated financial statements are presented in euro, which is the functional and presentation currency of the Company and all of its
trading subsidiaries.
(b) Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions,
or valuation where items are remeasured. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from
the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the income
statement in “Other (gains)/losses - net” except when deferred in equity as qualifying cash flow hedges.
Exchange rates prevailing at the reporting date are set out below:
USD

STG

31 December 2012

1.32

0.82

31 December 2011

1.30

0.84

USD

STG

2012

1.29

0.82

2011

1.40

0.87

Average exchange rates during the year were as follows:

2.5

Property, plant and equipment
All property, plant and equipment is stated at cost or deemed cost less depreciation. Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to
the acquisition of the items. Cost may also include transfers from equity of any gains/losses on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency
purchases of property, plant and equipment.
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that
future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to the income statement during the financial period in which they are incurred.
Land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost to their residual values
over their estimated useful lives as follows:
Useful lives

Residual values¹

18 years

10% of cost

Flight equipment
Aircraft fleet and major spares ²
- short haul aircraft
- long haul aircraft

20 years

10% of cost

5 – 11 years

Nil

Period of lease

Nil

Principally 50 years

Nil

Period of lease

Nil

Ground equipment

3 – 20 years

Nil

Other equipment

2 – 10 years

Nil

Rotable spares
Modifications to leased aircraft
Property
Freehold
Leasehold
Equipment
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¹The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period. An asset’s carrying
amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount.
²The costs of major airframe and engine maintenance checks on owned and finance leased aircraft are capitalised and depreciated over the
shorter of the period to the next check or the remaining life of the aircraft. On acquisition of new owned or finance leased aircraft, the expected
cost of initial major airframe and engine maintenance checks is separately identified and depreciated over the shorter of the period to the next
check or the remaining life of the aircraft.

2.6

Intangible assets
Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific software. These
costs are amortised over their estimated useful lives (three to five years) on a straight line basis. Costs that are directly associated with the
production of identifiable and unique software products controlled by the Group, and that will probably generate economic benefits exceeding
costs beyond one year, are recognised as intangible assets. Computer software development costs recognised as assets are amortised over their
estimated useful lives (not exceeding three years) on a straight line basis.
Other costs associated with developing or maintaining computer software programmes are recognised as an expense as incurred.
In 2011, as part of the surrender of the lease over its former head office building, the Group acquired a ten year license for the use of certain
property owned by the Dublin Airport Authority. This license is amortised over the ten year license term.

2.7

Impairment of non-financial assets
Assets that are subject to amortisation or depreciation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less cost to sell and value in use. For the purpose of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows. Non-financial assets that have been
impaired are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date. Refer to Note 14 for further detail.

2.8

Financial assets

2.8.1 Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets in the following categories: loans and receivables and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.
The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired. Management determines the classification of its financial
assets at initial recognition.
(a) Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. They
are included in current assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months after the end of the reporting period. These are classified as noncurrent assets.
(b) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets held for trading. A financial asset is classified in this category if acquired
principally for the purpose of selling in the short term. Derivatives are also categorised as held for trading unless they are designated as
hedges. Assets in this category are classified as current assets if expected to be settled within 12 months; otherwise, they are classified as
non-current.

2.8.2 Recognition and measurement
Purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade-date, the date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Investments are initially recognised at fair value plus transactions costs for all financial assets not carried at fair value through profit or loss.
Financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair value, and transactions costs are expensed in the income
statement. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments have expired or have been transferred
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and the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. Available-for-sale financial assets and financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss are subsequently carried at fair value. Loans and receivables are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.
Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the financial assets through the income statement category are presented in the income
statement within “Other (gains)/losses – net” in the period in which they arise.
Changes in the fair value of monetary securities denominated in a foreign currency and classified as available-for-sale are analysed between
translation differences resulting from changes in amortised cost of the security and other changes in the carrying amount of the security. The
translation differences on monetary securities are recognised in the income statement; translation differences on non-monetary securities are
recognised in other comprehensive income. Changes in the fair value of monetary and non-monetary securities classified as available-for-sale
are recognised in other comprehensive income.

2.9

Offsetting financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position when there is a legally enforceable
right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

2.10 Impairment of financial assets
Assets carried at amortised cost
The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is
impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if there is objective evidence of
impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a “loss event”) and that loss event (or events)
has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.
The criteria that the Group uses to determine that there is objective evidence of an impairment loss include:
•

Significant financial difficulty of the issuer or obligor;

•

A breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in interest or principal payments;

•

The Group, for economic or legal reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, granting to the borrower a concession that the lender
would not otherwise consider;

•

It becomes probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

•

The disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties; or

•

Observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a portfolio of financial assets since the
initial recognition of those assets, although the decrease cannot yet be identified with the individual financial assets in the portfolio, including:
(i) Adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers in the portfolio; and
(ii) National or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on the assets in the portfolio.

The amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows
(excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The asset’s carrying
amount is reduced and the amount of the loss is recognised in the consolidated income statement. If a loan or held-to-maturity investment has a
variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate determined under the contract. As
a practical expedient, the Group may measure impairment on the basis of an instrument’s fair value using an observable market price.
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after
the impairment was recognised (such as an improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the reversal of the previously recognised impairment loss
is recognised in the consolidated income statement.
Impairment testing of trade receivables is described in note 2.14.

2.11 Emission allowances
Emission allowances received free of charge are recognised at nil value on date of grant in accordance with IAS 38 Intangible Assets. Allowances
purchased subsequently are recognised at cost if separately acquired and are accounted for as intangible assets as required by IAS 38. Purchased
allowances continue to be carried at original cost, and are not revalued. Liabilities in respect of emission obligations are measured as the best
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estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the statement of financial position date. A liability is built up month on
month, based on actual emissions times a weighted average cost calculated based on, the cost of emissions certificates purchased plus the price
of forward delivery contracts plus the market value at period end of any shortfall to be purchased (if applicable), divided by the expected total
emission units for the compliance period.

2.12 Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently re-measured at their fair
value. The method of recognising the resulting gain or loss depends on whether the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument, and if so,
the nature of the item being hedged. The Group designates certain derivatives as either:
•

Hedges of the fair value of recognised assets or liabilities or a firm commitment (fair value hedges); or

•

Hedges of a particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction (cash flow hedge).

The Group documents at the inception of the transaction the relationship between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as its risk
management objectives and strategy for undertaking various hedging transactions. The Group also documents its assessment, both at hedge
inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in
fair values or cash flows of hedged items.
The fair values of various derivative instruments used for hedging purposes are disclosed in Note 20. Movements on the hedging reserve in
shareholders’ equity are shown in Note 32. The full fair value of a hedging derivative is classified as a non-current asset or liability when the
remaining maturity of the hedged item is more than 12 months and as a current asset or liability when the remaining maturity of the hedged item
is less than 12 months. Trading derivatives are classified as a current asset or liability.
(a) Fair value hedge
Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in the income statement, together
with any changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that are attributable to the hedged risk. The Group only applies fair value
hedge accounting for hedging fixed interest risk on assets and borrowings. The gain or loss relating to the effective portion of interest rate
swaps hedging fixed rate assets and borrowings is recognised in the income statement within “finance expenses”. The gain or loss relating to
the ineffective portion is recognised in the income statement within “Other (gains)/losses – net”. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective
portion of the interest rate swaps is recognised in the income statement within “Other (gains)/losses – net”.
If the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, the adjustment to the carrying amount of a hedged item for which the effective
interest method is used is amortised to profit or loss over the period to maturity.
(b) Cash flow hedge
Cash flow hedges are principally used to hedge the commodity price risk associated with the Group’s forecasted fuel purchases as well as
certain foreign exchange and interest rate exposures. The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and
qualify as cash flow hedges is recognised in other comprehensive income. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised
immediately in the income statement within “fuel and oil” costs in the case of fuel purchases and “Other (gains)/losses – net” in the case of
the foreign exchange derivatives.
Amounts accumulated in equity are reclassified to the statement of financial position or income statement in the periods when the hedged
item affects the statement of financial position or income statement (for example, when the forecast sale that is hedged takes place). They
are included under the relevant caption in the consolidated financial statements, i.e. fuel hedges in “fuel and oil costs” caption and foreign
exchange hedges within the captions “Other (gains)/losses – net” or “property plant and equipment”.
When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any cumulative gain or
loss existing in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognised when the forecast cash flow arises. When a forecast transaction is no
longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was reported in equity is immediately transferred to the income statement.
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2.13 Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using weighted average cost. Net realisable value is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less applicable disposal costs.

2.14 Trade receivables
Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, where
appropriate, less provision for impairment. Trade receivables are classified as current assets if they are expected to be recovered within 1 year or
less. If not, they are classified as non-current assets.
A provision for impairment of trade receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all
amounts due according to the original terms of the receivables. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will reject
charges and default or delinquencies in payments are considered indicators that the trade receivable is impaired. The amount of the provision
is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated cash flows, discounted at the effective interest rate.
The carrying amount of the assets is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognised in the income
statement within “ground operating, catering and other operating costs”. When a trade receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the
allowance account for trade receivables. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the same account in the
income statement.

2.15 Cash and cash equivalents and deposits
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of
three months or less, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within current liabilities on the statement of financial position.

Deposits comprise short and medium term deposits. Given that the maturities of these investments fall outside the 3 month timeframe for
classification as cash and cash equivalents under IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows, the related balances have been classified as “deposits”.

2.16 Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.
Where any group company purchases the Company’s equity share capital (treasury shares), the consideration paid, including any directly
attributable incremental costs (net of income taxes) is deducted from equity attributable to the Company’s equity holders until the shares are
cancelled or reissued. Where such shares are subsequently reissued, any consideration received, net of any directly attributable incremental
transaction costs and the related income tax effects, is included in equity attributable to the Company’s equity holders.

2.17 Trade payables
Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from suppliers. Accounts
payable are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If
not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.
Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

2.18 Borrowings
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently carried at amortised cost; any
difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the income statement over the period of the
borrowings using the effective interest method.
Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months
after the end of the reporting period.
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2.19 Current and deferred income tax
The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the income statement, except to the extent that it relates
to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case the tax is recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.
The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date in the countries
where the Company’s subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with
respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of
amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.
Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. However, the deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction, other than a business combination, that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting
nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the
statement of financial position date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax
liability is settled.
Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.
Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates, except where the Group controls
the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities
and when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the taxable entity
or different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.
The tax effects of income tax losses available for carry forward are recognised as an asset when it is probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which these losses can be utilised.

2.20 Employee benefits
Post employment benefit obligations
The Group companies operate various pension schemes. The schemes are generally funded through payments to trustee-administered funds.
The Group contributes to both defined benefit and defined contribution plans.
For defined contribution schemes, the Group pays contributions into the pension schemes in accordance with the trust deed. The Group has
no further payment obligations once the contributions have been paid. The contributions are recognised as employee benefit expenses when
they are due. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the future payments is available.
For defined benefit schemes, the cost of providing benefits is determined using the Projected Unit Credit Method, with actuarial valuations being
carried out at each reporting date. Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in full in the period in which they occur. They are recognised outside
the income statement and are presented in other comprehensive income.
The discount rate applied by the Group in determining the present value of the schemes’ liabilities is determined by reference to market yields
at the statement of financial position date, on high quality corporate bonds of a currency and term consistent with the currency and term of the
associated post employment benefit obligation.
Past service cost is recognised immediately to the extent that the benefits are already vested, and otherwise is amortised on a straight-line basis
over the average period until the benefits become vested.
The post employment benefit obligation recognised in the statement of financial position represents the present value of the defined benefit
obligation as adjusted for unrecognised past service cost and as reduced by the fair value of scheme assets. Any asset resulting from this calculation
is limited to past service cost, plus the present value of available refunds and reductions in future contributions to the scheme.
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2.21 Share-based payment
The Group operates an equity-settled, share-based compensation plan, under which the entity receives services from employees as consideration
for equity instruments (share awards) of the Group. The fair value of the employee services received in exchange for the grant of the share awards
is recognised as an expense. The total amount to be expensed is determined by reference to the fair value of the share awards granted:
•

Including any market performance conditions; and

•

Excluding the impact of any service and non-market performance vesting conditions.

Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the number of share awards that are expected to vest. The total expense is
recognised over the vesting period, which is the period over which all of the specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied. At the end of each
reporting period, the entity revises its estimates of the number of share awards that are expected to vest based on the non-market vesting conditions.
It recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in the income statement, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.
The proceeds received, net of any directly attributable transaction costs, are credited to share capital (nominal value) and share premium. Treasury
shares are used to satisy vested share-based compensation awards. On exercise of vested awards, treasury shares are credited with an offsetting
entry to share based payment reserve and/or share premium.

2.22 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when: the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is probable that an outflow
of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are measured at the present value
of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognised as finance expense.
Provisions are made on a monthly basis for aircraft maintenance costs which the Group incurs in connection with major airframe and engine
overhauls on operating leased aircraft, where the terms of the lease impose obligations on the lessee to have these overhauls carried out.
Provisions for costs to meet the contractual return conditions are also included. The actual cash outflow of the overhauls is charged against the
provision when incurred. Any residual balance is transferred to the income statement.
A provision for business repositioning costs is recognised when a constructive obligation exists. The amount of the provision is based on the terms
of business repositioning measures, including employee severance and early retirement measures which have been communicated to employees.
They represent the Directors’ best estimate of the cost of these measures.

2.23 Frequent Flyer Programme
The Group maintains a loyalty points programme, the Gold Circle Club, which allows customers to accumulate points when they purchase flights.
The points can be redeemed for free flights, products and services with Aer Lingus and its partners, subject to a minimum number of points
being obtained. In accounting for this programme, consideration received is allocated between the flights sold and the points issued, with the
consideration allocated to the points equal to their fair value. Fair value of the points is determined by applying statistical analysis. The fair value
of the points issued is deferred and recognised as revenue when the points are redeemed. Unclaimed loyalty points are recognised in the Income
Statement on their expiration.

2.24 Revenue recognition
The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that the future economic benefits will flow
to the entity and when specific criteria have been met for each of the Group’s activities as described below.
Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of the Group’s services in the ordinary course of the
Group’s activities, and can be divided into scheduled passenger, cargo, ancillary revenue and other revenue. Scheduled passenger revenue
is shown inclusive of passenger charges and other fees to the extent that these are recovered directly from customers at the point of sale, but
exclusive of applicable government taxes including taxes levied by governments for travel to and from their respective countries and sales taxes
such as VAT. The point of recognition in accordance with IAS 18 Revenue paragraph 14 differs according to the various revenue streams as set
out below:
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(a) Revenues
Amounts in respect of transportation of passengers and cargo (and related recoverable charges and fees) are deferred and are not recognised
as revenue until the point at which the passenger(s)/cargo has flown. The value of bookings made for which transportation has not been
provided at the statement of financial position date is included in “trade and other payables” under the caption of “ticket sales in advance”.
Expired tickets are recognised as revenue using estimates based on historical trends.
Ancillary revenues are recognised in the income statement in the period in which the associated services are provided. In the case of fees
charged for bags and seat selection, this is when the passenger has flown. Fees charged for any changes to flight tickets are recognised as
revenue immediately.
Other revenues are recognised in the income statement in the period in which the associated services are provided. Revenues arising from
the Group’s franchise agreement with Aer Arann are recognised on a net (as agent) basis with the agreed franchise fee reported within “Other
revenue”. Revenues arising from the Group’s frequent flyer programme are also reported within other revenue and are recognised as revenue
when the related frequent flyer points are redeemed.
(b) Interest income
Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding using the effective interest rate applicable.
(c) Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.

2.25 Leases
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating leases. Payments
made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over
the period of the lease.
Leases of aircraft where the Group has substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are
capitalised at the lease’s commencement at the lower of the fair value of the leased aircraft and the present value of the minimum lease payments.
Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance charges so as to achieve a constant interest rate on the finance balance
outstanding. The corresponding rental obligations, net of finance charges, are included in “finance lease obligations”. The interest element of the
finance expense is charged to the income statement over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liability for each period. Certain lease contracts contain interest rate swaps that are closely related to the underlying financing and
as such, are not split out and accounted for as an embedded derivative.

2.26 Exceptional items
Exceptional items are material non-recurring items that derive from events or transactions that fall within the ordinary activities of the Group
and which individually or, if of a similar type, in aggregate, are separately disclosed by virtue of their size or incidence. Such items may include
business repositioning costs, takeover defence costs, profit or loss on disposal of significant items of property, plant and equipment, litigation costs
and settlements, profit or loss on disposal of investments and impairment of assets, or once off costs or credits where separate identification is
important to gain an understanding of the financial statements.
Judgement is used by the Group in assessing the particular items which should be disclosed in the income statement and related notes as
exceptional items.

3
3.1

Financial risk management
Financial risk factors
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including exchange rate, commodity price and interest rate risk), credit
risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise
potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance. The Group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge certain risk exposures.
Financial risk management is carried out by a central treasury department (Group treasury) under policies approved by the Board of Directors.
Group treasury identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks in close co-operation with the Group’s operating units. The Board provides written
principles for overall risk management, as well as written policies covering specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit
risk, use of derivative financial instruments and non-derivative financial instruments, and investment of excess liquidity.
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(a) Market risk
(i) Foreign exchange risk
The main currency exposures result from an annual trading deficit in US dollars and a surplus in sterling. A large proportion of the
Group treasury function’s work in relation to foreign exchange rate risk relates to the management of the Group’s cashflow exposures.
Significant currency exposures are managed for the current and future financial years on a systematic, amortising basis within pre-set
bands. The dollar deficit arises because the dollar costs for fuel and aircraft rentals, etc., exceed dollar sales in the US. The sterling
surplus arises because UK sales exceed sterling costs. Profits are reduced by a stronger dollar and/or a weaker sterling.
Additionally, significant currency exposure results from the capital commitments relating to the purchase of aircraft which are priced in
US$. Acquisition costs are increased by a stronger dollar.
The Group treasury function manages the following currency risk generating activities: cashflow exposures and statement of financial
position exposures. The products used by the Group treasury function in managing currency risk are predominantly forward foreign
exchange contracts.
Based on the trading surplus in sterling for the year ended 31 December 2012, a 5% strengthening of the EUR/GBP exchange rate over
the year end rate would result in a reduction in profit of €6.0 million for the year (2011: €6.1 million). Based on the trading deficit in
US dollars for the year ended 31 December 2012, a 5% weakening of the EUR/US$ exchange rate over the year-end rate would result
in a reduction in profit of €8.7 million for the year (2011: €8.6 million). The impact of such a weakening after taking account of hedging
would have been negligible for both 2012 and 2011.
(ii) Interest rate risk
The Group is exposed to interest rate risk associated with its long term funding requirements and its programme of surplus funds
investment. Higher interest rates increase the costs of gross debt and lower interest rates lower the returns from cash investments.
Overall the Group is in a net cash position. Interest rate exposure on debt is managed by placing matching investments, which serve as
natural hedges in relation to both interest rate and currency exposures on the debt. In addition to these investments, the Group holds
further cash, predominantly in euro, and therefore the major interest rate exposure the Group has is to movements in the euro interest
rate. This exposure is actively reviewed and managed. A 1% fall in interest rates based on net surplus cash throughout 2012 would
reduce profits by €4.4 million (2011: €3.6 million).
(iii) Commodity price risk
Aviation jet fuel requirements expose the Group to the market volatility of jet fuel prices. The Group is subject to jet fuel price risk
resulting from its operating activities. The volatility of jet fuel prices has been significant in recent years and can have a significant effect
on profitability. The primary policy objective for the management of fuel price exposure in the Group is to reduce the volatility and
increase the predictability of future fuel costs in a risk managed and cost effective manner.
The Group treasury function manages fuel price risk within a tightly controlled framework. The Group has introduced a systematic fuel
hedging policy covering a rolling two year period. This systematic hedging policy targets specific cover levels for each following period
on a rolling basis ranging from 90% cover for the following month to between zero and 5% cover 24 months out. This generates average
cover levels of approximately 60% for the next 12 month period (rolling year 1) and 15% for the following 12 months (rolling year 2).
Under the policy the Group can derogate from this systematic hedging requirement, in event of unusual market conditions.
The products used by the Group treasury function in managing commodity price risk are predominantly jet fuel swaps.
A US $10 increase in the price per tonne of jet fuel in 2012 would have increased fuel costs by approximately $4.4 million, based on
an estimated burn/MT of 436,000 tonnes, absent hedging (2011: $4.3 million). In light of the Group’s hedging strategy, the impact of a
US$10 increase in jet fuel per tonne would have been negligible in both 2012 and 2011.
(iv) Carbon allowances price risk
The Group is required to comply with the European Union (EU) Emissions Trading Scheme (ETS) for Aviation. Carbon allowances must be
submitted to the EU to match carbon emitted by the Group. Airlines receive a portion of EU-ETS allowances for free from the EU and the
Group is exposed to market volatility of allowances prices for the non-free portion. The Group treasury function manages this exposure
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by purchasing allowances as required, and by taking advantage of available allowance types which may have lower prices. The entire
non-free allowance requirement for 2012 was incurred in advance of the year-end and included in the Income Statement.
There is international dispute and market uncertainty concerning the future viability of the EU-ETS, however Group treasury will continue
to manage this exposure to comply with the EU legal requirements.
(b) Credit risk
Credit risk is managed on a group basis. Credit risk arises from loans and receivables, derivative financial instruments, deposits and cash and
cash equivalents with banks and financial institutions and trade and other receivables. The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented
by the carrying amount of each financial asset.
Group policy requires financial counterparties to hold minimum credit ratings from independent rating agencies. The appropriateness and
utilisation of Board approved credit limits are regularly monitored and reviewed in light of the commercial requirements of the Group.
At 31 December 2012 the Group had a total credit exposure of €0.9 billion relating to bonds, deposits, cash and derivatives which was spread
over 32 counterparties. Of this €0.7 billion was due to mature within 12 months. The Group does not have any material credit risk arising
from the ageing of trade and other receivables.
36% of the total credit exposure of €0.9 billion was held with financial institutions holding long-term credit ratings equivalent to AA1 to
AA3 (Moody’s). 53% of the total credit exposure was held with financial institutions holding long term-ratings equivalent to A1 to A2. The
remaining 11% was held with financial institutions with long-term credit ratings below A2.
(c) Liquidity risk
The principal policy objective in relation to liquidity is to ensure that the Group has access at minimum cost, to sufficient liquidity to enable
it to meet its obligations as they fall due and to provide adequately for contingencies. In implementing this policy, the Group is required to
maintain, at all times, access to Board approved minimum requirements. In addition, this liquidity requirement, once drawn, must continue
to be accessible for an agreed further period. Cash balances in excess of these levels are normally maintained in order to enable the Group
to take advantage of commercial opportunities and withstand business shocks.
The Group has long-term debt associated with aircraft acquisitions. All borrowing is undertaken by the Group treasury function. Group
policy is to maintain, at all times, cash and/or committed facilities for a high proportion of the net forecasted debt repayments for the following
12 months.
At 31 December 2012 the Group had capital commitments of €939.8 million (2011: €911.8 million) of which €937.1 million (2011: €908.5
million) relate to aircraft and equipment. The Group currently expects to finance these commitments with a combination of finance and
operating leases.
The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the statement
of financial position date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows,
including interest. Trade and other payables exclude deferred income.
Less than 1 year

1 – 2 years

2 – 5 years

Over 5 years

Total

€’000

€’000

€’000

€’000

€’000

At 31 December 2012
Minimum finance lease obligations
Trade and other payables

63,789

127,273

188,797

246,162

626,021

129,469

-

-

-

129,469

64,373

64,342

280,384

287,759

696,858

128,973

-

-

-

128,973

At 31 December 2011
Minimum finance lease obligations
Trade and other payables
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The table below analyses the Group’s derivative financial instruments, which will be settled on a gross basis, into relevant maturity groupings based on
the remaining period at the statement of financial position date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows. There were no amounts with maturity dates in excess of two years.
Less than 1 year

1 – 2 years

Total

€’000

€’000

€’000

595

-

595

-

-

-

Outflow

339,364

72,585

411,949

Inflow

333,936

72,748

406,684

Outflow

193,147

22,928

216,075

Inflow

192,269

23,522

215,791

Outflow

-

-

-

Inflow

-

-

-

Outflow

414,059

37,668

451,727

Inflow

436,436

39,274

475,710

Outflow

203,094

22,915

226,009

Inflow

205,358

22,603

227,961

At 31 December 2012
Interest rate swap
Outflow
Inflow
Forward foreign currency contracts

Forward fuel price contracts

At 31 December 2011
Interest rate swap

Forward foreign currency contracts

Forward fuel price contracts

3.2

Capital Risk Management
The Group’s objectives when managing capital (comprising total equity and net debt) are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal prudent capital structure to
reduce the cost of capital.
The Board regularly reviews the Aer Lingus statement of financial position with a view to improving flexibility for the future. As part of this
process, Aer Lingus Group plc sought and received shareholder approval to increase its distributable reserves by means of a capital reduction at
an Extraordinary General Meeting held in November 2011 and the matter was heard by the High Court in July 2012. Objections were made
by the trustees of both the Irish Airlines Superannuation Scheme and the Irish Airlines (Pilots) Superannuation Scheme. Since the judgement was
issued, a hearing to allow further submissions as to the appropriate order to be made has been adjourned on a number of occasions in order to
allow progress to be made in discussions regarding the funding shortfall in the pension schemes. On 26 February 2013, the High Court set 6 March
2013 as the date on which it would hear submissions as to the appropriate order to be made. Submissions were made on behalf of the parties on
6 March 2013 and the High Court is expected to deliver its judgement regarding the form of the order on 13 March 2013.
In May 2012 the Group announced a revised dividend policy whereby dividends will be paid for those years in which the Group make a profit,
provided that payment of such dividend is appropriate and prudent in the context of its financial position, strategic objectives and prospects.
A maiden dividend of 3 cent per share (€16.0 million) was paid in 2012 in respect of the 2011 financial year. Refer to Note 38 regarding
recommendations in respect of a 2012 dividend payment.
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3.3

Fair value estimation
Effective 1 January 2009, the Group adopted the amendment to IFRS 7 for those financial instruments that are measured in the statement of
financial position at fair value. This requires disclosure of fair value measurements according to the following fair value measurement hierarchy:
•

Level 1 - Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

•

Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices)

•

Level 3 - Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs)

or indirectly (that is, derived from prices)

The following table presents the Group’s net assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value at 31 December 2012.
Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

€’000

€’000

€’000

€’000

-

5,546

-

5,546

-

12,066

-

12,066

Assets
Derivative financial instruments
Liabilities
Derivative financial instruments

The following table presents the Group’s net assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value at 31 December 2011.
Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

€’000

€’000

€’000

€’000

-

36,929

-

36,929

-

9,600

-

9,600

Assets
Derivative financial instruments
Liabilities
Derivative financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, over-the-counter derivatives) is determined by using
valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise the use of observable market data where it is available and rely as little as possible on
entity specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.
Specific valuation techniques used to value financial instruments include:
•

The fair value of interest rate swaps is calculated as the present value of the estimated future cash flows based on observable yield curves.

•

The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts is determined using forward exchange rates at the statement of financial position date,
with the resulting value discounted back to present value.

•

The fair value of fuel price swaps is determined using forward fuel prices at the reporting date, with the resulting value discounted back to
present value.

4

Critical accounting estimates and judgements
The Group believes that of its significant accounting policies and estimates, the following may involve a higher degree of judgement and complexity:
(a) Provisions
The Group makes provisions for legal and constructive obligations, which it knows to be outstanding at the reporting date. These provisions
are generally made based on historical or other pertinent information, adjusted for recent trends where relevant. However, they are estimates
of the financial costs of events that may not occur for some years. Measurement uncertainty associated with aircraft maintenance provisions
arise from the timing and nature of overhaul activity required and sensitivity in projected flight hours. As a result of this and the level of
uncertainty attaching to the final outcomes, the actual outturn may differ significantly from that estimated.
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(b) Post employment benefits – Irish Airlines (General Employees) Superannuation Scheme and the Irish Airlines (Pilots) Superannuation
Scheme (collectively the “Irish pension schemes”)
As the provisions of the trust deeds governing the Irish Pension Schemes are such that no changes to the contribution rates are possible
without the prior consent of Aer Lingus Limited (“the Company”), the Company has concluded that it has no obligation, legal or constructive,
to increase its contributions beyond those levels. As such, it has accounted for the Irish Pension Schemes as defined contribution schemes
under the provisions of IAS 19 Employee Benefits, and, as a result, does not recognise any surplus or deficit in the schemes in the statement of
financial position. If any legal or constructive obligation to vary the Company’s contributions based on the funding status of the Irish Pension
Schemes were to arise, IAS 19 would require the Company to include any pension fund surplus or deficit on its statement of financial position
and reflect any period on period movements in its income statement or the statement of comprehensive income. Refer to Note 26 for further
detail.
(c) Impairment of non-financial assets
Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less cost to sell and value in use. For the purpose of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). Refer to Note
14 for further detail on the impairment assessment related to property, plant and equipment.
(d) Recoverability of deferred tax assets
The Group recognised tax assets where there is a reasonable expectation that those assets will be recovered. The assessment of the
recoverability of deferred tax assets involves significant judgement. The main deferred tax asset recognised by the Group relates to unused tax
losses. The Directors assess the recoverability of tax losses by reference to future profitability and tax planning, including fleet management
decisions. Refer to Note 30 for further detail.
(e) Share based payments
The determination of the fair value of awards under the long term incentive plan, and the share options and awards granted to the Chief
Executive Officer involve the use of judgement and estimates. Their fair values have been estimated using binomial lattice or Monte Carlo
simulation models reflecting the judgemental assumptions set out in Note 32.
(f) Fair value of derivatives and other financial instruments
The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in active markets (for example, “over the counter” derivatives) is determined by using
valuation techniques. The Group exercises judgement in selecting a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are mainly based on
observable market data and conditions existing at each reporting date. The specific valuation techniques used to value financial instruments
are set out in Note 3.3. Further judgement is exercised by management in considering the probability of occurrence of underlying hedge
transactions, in particular the likelihood and timing of future purchases of fuel, US dollars and aircraft.
(g) Estimation of residual values of aircraft
The Group has determined the residual values of its aircraft as being 10% of their original cost. The Group periodically examines its estimate
of residual values in light of the results of actual aircraft disposals and changing market conditions.

5

Segment information
Based on the way the Group manages the network and the manner in which resource allocation decisions are made, the Group considers that its
operating segments comprise its routes on which passengers and cargo are transported. Having assessed the aggregation criteria contained in IFRS
8 Operating Segments and considering how the Group manages its business and allocates resources, the Group has determined that it has one
reportable segment. In particular the Group is managed as a single business unit that provides air transportation for passengers and cargo, which
allows the Group to benefit from an integrated revenue pricing and route network. The Group’s flight equipment is deployed through a single
route scheduling system. When making resource allocation decisions, the chief operating decision maker evaluates flight profitability data, which
considers passengers flown across the network, aircraft type and route economics.
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The chief operating decision maker, Christoph Mueller, (Chief Executive Officer) assesses operating segment performance based on a measure of
operating profit before net exceptional items.
Total segment assets exclude deferred tax, loans and receivables, deposits and cash and cash equivalents, all of which are managed on a central
basis. These are part of the reconciliation to total assets reported in the statement of financial position assets.
Segment revenue of €1,393.3 million (2011: €1,288.3 million) is wholly derived from external customers. Depreciation and amortisation of
€79.5 million (2011: €84.8 million) is included in the measure of segment profit and loss.

Operating profit before miscellaneous group level adjustments, net exceptional items,
interest and tax for the reportable Segment
Miscellaneous group level adjustments

2012

2011

€’000

€’000

65,842

44,852

3,212

4,257

(26,466)

37,161

Operating profit after net exceptional items

42,588

86,270

Finance income

15,303

15,422

Finance expense

(17,131)

(17,330)

(190)

-

40,570

84,362

2012

2011

€’000

€’000

861,105

927,816

10,764

-

Net exceptional items

Share of losses of joint venture
Profit before tax
The reportable segment’s assets are reconciled to total assets as follows:

Total segment assets
Investments in joint venture
Deferred tax asset

1,330

4,929

43,373

42,180

Deposits

552,220

588,077

Cash and cash equivalents

312,939

264,495

1,781,731

1,827,497

Loans and receivables

Total assets

During the period additions totalling €44.4 million (2011: €127.0 million) were made to the reportable segments non-current assets.
Revenues from external customers, attributable to Ireland, the Group’s country of domicile, amounted to €781.0 million (2011: €738.0 million)
and revenues from external customers, attributed to foreign countries in total from which the Group derives revenue, amounted to €612.3 million
(2011: €550.3 million). Substantially all of the Group’s non-current assets are located in Ireland.
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6

Revenue
2012
Passenger revenue
Ancillary revenue

€’000
1,067,993

176,466

168,651

45,670

43,069

Other revenue

11,295

8,596

1,393,284

1,288,309

2012

2011

€’000

€’000

Other (gains)/losses - net

Fair value losses on interest rate swap
Realised gains on forward foreign currency contracts
Net foreign exchange gains on operating activities

8

€’000
1,159,853

Cargo revenue
Total revenue

7

2011

-

839

(11,888)

(2,359)

(1,442)

(1,508)

(13,330)

(3,028)

2012

2011

€’000

€’000

Operating profit before net exceptional items
The operating profit before net exceptional items is stated after charging:

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment (Note 14)
-

Owned

28,837

27,481

-

held under finance leases

47,797

54,432

2,819

2,934

Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 15)
Operating lease rentals payables
- plant and machinery
- aircraft
- property

67

69

46,137

43,909

9,133

8,927

422

180

Auditors’ remuneration – Group (excluding Company)
- audit fee
- other assurance services

59

46

- tax advisory services

143

507

- other non audit services

260

148

Total auditors’ remuneration - Group

884

881

10

10

- other assurance services

-

-

- tax advisory services

-

-

- other non audit services

-

-

Auditors’ remuneration - Company
- audit fee

Total auditors’ remuneration - Company
Directors’ emoluments
*

10

10

2,683

2,771

Further information on Directors’ emoluments is included in the Report of the Remuneration Committee on Directors’ Remuneration on
pages 49 to 57.
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Net exceptional items
Exceptional (losses)/gains comprise:

2012

2011

€’000

€’000

Northern European airspace closure costs (a)
Impairment of non-current assets (b)

-

39

(3,952)

(2,213)

20

(177)

Payment to discharge ESOT profit share obligation (c)
Restructuring (d)

(17,191)

3,146

Statutory redundancy government refund (e)

-

90

Leave and return settlement (f)

-

(802)

Gain on surrender of head office site lease agreement (g)

-

21,016

Reclassification of cash flow hedging reserve (h)

-

11,595

Gain on revision of frequent flyer programme terms and conditions (i)

-

4,467

(9,797)

-

4,830

-

Takeover defence costs (j)
Reduction of impairment provision (k)
Other (l)

(376)

-

(26,466)

37,161

(a) Re-measurement of the provision in respect of estimated cost of compensating passengers for costs incurred as a result of the closure of
northern European airspace following the eruption of a volcano in Eyjafjallajokull, Iceland.
(b) The 2012 charge comprises impairment on an owned A320 aircraft which had been held for sale but in December 2012 was brought back
into the fleet (€2.2 million) and the impairment of other assets no longer expected to be utilised (€1.8 million). The 2011 charge is the net
of a profit of €1.0 million on the disposal of an owned A330 aircraft and a charge of €3.2 million, being the write-down of an aircraft to the
lower of Net Book Value and Fair Value less costs to sell.
(c) Re-measurement of a provision to fully extinguish the Group’s obligations to pay any further share of profits to the Aer Lingus Employee Share
Ownership Trust (“ESOT”). The 2012 charge relates to the finalisation of the payment to ESOT.
(d) Recognition of a provision of €9.9 million in respect of the restructuring of the Group's maintenance operation at Shannon, comprising
onerous lease and related property costs (€2.1 million) and employee severance costs (€7.8 million). The balance relates to additional
provisions for restructuring costs associated with the ongoing Greenfield cost reduction programme (€4.1 million) and Migration/Outsourcing
Schemes (€3.2 million).
(e) Statutory redundancy refunds relating to redundancies effected under the Greenfield cost reduction programme.
(f) The 2011 amount relates to fees and costs in respect of the 2010 settlement of tax obligations associated with 2008/2009 “leave and return”
programme.
(g) On 8 November 2011, the Group signed and completed a formal contract with Dublin Airport Authority plc ("DAA") for the surrender of Aer
Lingus' leasehold interest in its Head Office Building site (the "HOB site") to DAA. This was pursuant to the Group's announcement of 25 June
2010 that it had signed a Heads of Agreement with DAA in relation to the transaction.
The HOB site comprises 9.9 acres located at Dublin Airport, Co Dublin. It includes the head office building, car parking spaces and other
office and training spaces utilised by the Group. Following completion of the surrender, most Aer Lingus employees based in HOB have relocated to office space in Hangar 6 and the remainder will move to another DAA property in Dublin Airport during 2013.
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The value of the consideration payable by DAA to Aer Lingus for the surrender is €22.2 million, plus interest payments. The consideration is
non-cash in nature and comprises €11.8 million of rental prepayments and €10.4 million of branding prepayments and licences to occupy
certain property owned by DAA.
The gain recognised is recorded net of a cash payment of €1.0 million to DAA on completion of the transaction, being full and final settlement
of any obligation which the Group may have to DAA in respect of the condition of the HOB site and miscellaneous professional fees.
The Group will continue to occupy the Head Office Building under a short term license from DAA to allow the Group to transfer to the new
office accommodation noted above in an organised and structured manner.
(h) Release of amounts from cash flow hedging reserve related to capital foreign exchange hedges originally associated with planned purchase
of three A330 aircraft and exercise in Q1 2011, of an option to convert those orders to three A350 aircraft. Due to significant uncertainty
regarding the Group's plans to take these aircraft, in accordance with IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement the
amounts previously held in reserves in respect of those forecast cash flows have been released from cash flow hedging reserve and due to the
significance of the amounts to the annual results, were categorised as exceptional.
(i) Gain arising from the revision of terms and conditions of membership of the Group's frequent flyer programme.
(j) Bid defence costs associated with a takeover bid from the Group's largest shareholder, Ryanair Holdings plc. The offer period under the
Takeover Rules (Republic of Ireland) commenced on 19 June 2012. As noted in Note 38, the European Commission announced on 27
February 2013 its decision to prohibit the takeover bid.
(k) During 2010 and 2011, the Group had a particular commercial exposure and assessed the probability of loss as more likely than not. An
impairment provision of €4.8 million was therefore established for this exposure during 2010 and 2011. At 31 December 2012, as a result
of a change in circumstances, the likelihood of loss is not considered to be probable and the impairment provision is no longer required. The
credit has been treated as an exceptional credit due to the size and unusual nature of the item, see Note 22.
(l) Other costs relate principally to professional fees incurred in relation to an ongoing review of the Group’s pension schemes.

10

Finance income and expense
2012

2011

€’000

€’000

11,023

13,022

Interest income on loans and receivables

1,879

1,656

Amortisation of available-for-sale reserve

147

134

Finance income
Interest on cash, cash equivalents and deposits

Finance income on post employment benefit assets
Unwinding of discounting on non-current prepayments

642

587

1,612

23

15,303

15,422

15,080

15,781

511

-

1,538

1,549

2

-

17,131

17,330

Finance expense
Interest expense on finance lease obligations
Unwinding of discounting on provisions
Interest expense on post employment benefit obligations
Miscellaneous
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Employee Benefits
The average number of persons (Full Time Equivalents) employed by the Group in the financial year was 3,566 (2011: 3,491) split as follows:

Operations and administration
Sales and marketing

2012

2011

€’000

€’000

3,517

3,443

49

48

3,566

3,491

Their associated payroll costs were as follows:
2012

2011

€’000

€’000

Wages and salaries

220,323

217,322

Social welfare costs

21,774

20,012

Pension costs (employer contributions to all schemes)

21,278

20,017

3,389

3,199

266,764

260,550

Share based payments (Note 32)

12

Income tax
(i) Income tax charge recognised in the income statement
2012

2011

€’000

€’000

Withholding taxes deducted at source

18

-

Foreign taxes paid

19

-

37

-

6,506

7,206

Current taxation

Deferred tax
Origination and reversal of temporary differences
Movement in provisions against deferred tax asset

Total income tax charge
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(ii) Reconciliation of effective tax rate

Profit on ordinary activities before tax multiplied by
standard Irish corporation tax rate of 12.5% (2011: 12.5%)
Effects of:
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes
Gains subject to capital gains tax fully offset by capital losses forward
Differences in tax rates
Movements in provisions against deferred tax asset
Other adjusting items
Income tax charge for the year

13

2012

2011

€’000

€’000

5,071

10,545

1,123

513

-

(2,627)

57

97

-

5,962

292

(1,322)

6,543

13,168

Basic and diluted earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to the owners of the parent by the weighted average number of shares in
issue during the year, excluding treasury shares.
Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume conversion of all
dilutive potential ordinary shares. As at 31 December 2012, dilutive potential ordinary shares in issue relate to share options granted that have
satisfied specific performance conditions as set out in the underlying option agreement. The weighted average number of dilutive potential
ordinary shares in existence for the purposes of 2012 diluted EPS was 157,534 (2011: nil).

Profit attributable to owners of the parent (€’000s)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (000s)
Basic and diluted earnings per share (cent per share)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (000s)
Dilutive effect of options and long term incentive plan (000s)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for diluted earnings per share (000s)

2012

2011

34,027

71,194

530,093

529,761

6.4

13.4

2012

2011

530,093

529,761

158

-

530,251

529,761
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Property, plant and equipment
Flight
equipment

Property

Ground
equipment

Other
equipment

Total

€’000

€’000

€’000

€’000

€’000

Cost
1 January 2011

1,156,993

41,780

49,596

24,275

1,272,644

Additions

101,746

7,551

735

5,812

115,844

Disposals

(49,348)

(18,457)

(1,829)

(5,268)

(74,902)

Reclassified to non-current assets held for sale

(23,906)

-

-

-

(23,906)

1,185,485

30,874

48,502

24,819

1,289,680

417,587

36,911

36,663

21,127

512,288

74,120

2,296

4,019

1,478

81,913

31 December 2011
Accumulated depreciation
1 January 2011
Depreciation charge for the year
Impairment charge for the year¹

3,165

-

-

-

3,165

Disposals

(38,938)

(18,457)

(1,827)

(5,294)

(64,516)

Reclassified to non-current assets held for sale

(14,114)

-

-

-

(14,114)

31 December 2011

441,820

20,750

38,855

17,311

518,736

1,185,485

30,874

48,502

24,819

1,289,680

Additions

28,313

5,992

3,222

2,484

40,011

Disposals

(32,627)

(492)

(748)

(907)

(34,774)

23,035

-

-

-

23,035

1,204,206

36,374

50,976

26,396

1,317,952

441,820

20,750

38,855

17,311

518,736

68,693

2,498

3,330

2,113

76,634

(32,680)

(492)

(748)

(44)

(33,964)

15,459

-

-

-

15,459

493,292

22,756

41,437

19,380

576,865

31 December 2012

710,914

13,618

9,539

7,016

741,087

31 December 2011

743,665

10,124

9,647

7,508

770,944

31 December 2012

502,170

-

-

-

502,170

31 December 2011

554,813

-

-

-

554,813

Cost
1 January 2012

Reinstate asset2
31 December 2012
Accumulated depreciation
1 January 2012
Depreciation charge for the year
Disposals
Reinstate Asset2
31 December 2012
Net book value

Leased assets included above (net book value)

¹ The impairment charge of €3.2 million recorded during 2011 relates to the write down of one owned A320 aircraft held for sale to its fair
value less costs of sale. This write down has been recorded within net exceptional items. Additional impairment totalling €2.2 million was
recorded during 2012, while the asset was held for sale. This charge has also been recorded within Net exceptional items. See Note 9 for further
information.
2

Reclassification of an aircraft previously held for sale. Refer to Note 17 for further detail.

Finance lease obligations are secured on flight equipment with a net book value of €502.2 million (2011: €554.8 million) (See Note 25).
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Reconciliation of depreciation charge
2012

2011

€’000

€’000

76,634

81,913

Included in accumulated depreciation in consolidated statement of financial position
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 15)

2,819

2,934

79,453

84,847

76,079

79,808

3,041

5,039

333

-

79,453

84,847

Depreciation and amortisation charged to the income statement
Depreciation and amortisation
Other revenue

1

Ground operations, catering and other operating costs2

1

Depreciation reflected in other revenue relates to depreciation incurred on the aircraft used in the extended codeshare agreement with United

Airlines. The Group’s share of the net profit or loss associated with its extended codeshare agreement with United Airlines is reported within
Other revenue.
2

Amortisation of the licence to occupy DAA plc owned property is reported within Ground operations, catering and other operating costs. Refer

to Note 15 for further detail.
Impairment tests for items of property, plant and equipment are performed on a cash generating unit basis when impairment triggers arise. One
such impairment trigger indicated by IAS 36 Impairment of Assets is where the carrying amount of an entity’s net assets is more than its market
capitalisation. As at 31 December 2012, the market capitalisation of the Group was less than its net asset value and an impairment assessment
was performed to determine whether long-lived assets were impaired.
Assets are deemed to be impaired when their carrying value is higher than their recoverable value. The recoverable values are based on the
higher of fair value less costs to sell and value-in-use. A value-in-use basis was used by the Group to calculate recoverable value with the entire
business treated as a single cash generating unit. The Group believes that a single cash generating unit is the appropriate level at which to test
impairment on the basis that its fleet assets are interdependent and are deployed through a single route planning system. Cashflows for individual
fleet assets cannot be determined as such cashflows are dependent on how each plane is deployed and given the inter-changeability of fleet
assets, the Group has determined that, the Group as a whole represents the smallest identifiable group of assets that generate independent
cashflows. Value-in-use calculations are based on cash flow projections contained in forecasts approved by the Board of Directors for the
remaining life of the assets in question and exclude expansion capital expenditure. The cash flow projections are discounted using a discount rate
representing the Group’s estimated average cost of capital (2012: 10.24%, 2011: 10.20%). Sensitivity analysis was performed reflecting potential
variations in assumptions about future trading and the discount rate. In all cases the recoverable values calculated were in excess of the carrying
value of the cash generating unit.
No impairment charges arose during 2012 or 2011 for property, plant and equipment, other than the adjustments to the carrying value of the
owned A320 aircraft previously held for sale as described above.
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Intangible assets
Computer Software

License¹

Total

€’000

€’000

€’000

51,088

-

51,088

8,189

3,000

11,189

Cost
At 1 January 2011
Additions
Disposals

(589)

-

(589)

58,688

3,000

61,688

At 1 January 2011

46,700

-

46,700

Charge for the year

2,934

-

2,934

Disposals

(589)

-

(589)

49,045

-

49,045

58,688

3,000

61,688

Additions

4,400

-

4,400

Disposals

(1,777)

-

(1,777)

At 31 December 2012

61,311

3,000

64,311

Aggregate amortisation
At 1 January 2012

49,045

-

49,045

2,486

333

2,819

At 31 December 2011
Aggregate amortisation

At 31 December 2011
Cost
At 1 January 2012

Charge for the year
Impairments

1,777

-

1,777

Disposals

(1,777)

-

(1,777)

At 31 December 2012

51,531

333

51,864

31 December 2012

9,780

2,667

12,447

31 December 2011

9,643

3,000

12,643

Net book value

1

License reflects licenses to occupy certain DAA plc owned property acquired as part of the surrender of the Group’s leasehold interest in the HOB

site. Further description of this transaction is contained in Note 9.
The impairment charge of €1.8 million relates to the impairment of computer software no longer expected to be utilised. See Note 9 for further
details.
The amortisation expense for computer software of €2.5 million (2011: €2.9 million) has been included in Depreciation and amortisation in
the income statement. The amortisation expense for licenses of €0.3 million has been included within Ground operations, catering and other
operating costs in the income statement.

16

Investment in Joint Venture

At 1 January
Investment during the year
Share of after tax loss
At 31 December
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2012

2011

€’000

€’000

-

-

10,954

-

(190)

-

10,764

-
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The Group acquired a 33.33% equity interest in the share capital of a leasing company (the “Joint Venture”), the parent company of an aircraft
leasing group. The Joint Venture will acquire eight ATR 72-600 series aircraft and lease them to Aer Arann during 2013 and 2014. Aer Lingus
subscribed for the issue of 10,000 partly paid shares in the Joint Venture for an amount of US$14.2 million and paid US$3.1 million in 2012 and
has recognised a liability for its obligation to pay the balance of the uncalled capital amounting to US$11.1 million over a two year period. The
US$11.1 million commitment has been hedged for €8.4 million. It is intended that Aer Lingus will subscribe for up to US$3.5 million of new
equity in 2013 in the event that the Joint Venture acquires a further two aircraft.
The Group’s share of the results of its Joint Venture and its aggregate assets (including Goodwill) and liabilities are as follows. All liabilities are
current in nature. There are no contingent liabilities relating to the Group’s interest in the Joint Venture.
Name

Country of incorporation

Non current
assets

Current
assets

Current
liabilities

Revenue

Loss

% interest
held

€’000

€’000

€’000

€’000

€’000

4,715

6,106

217

0

(190)

33.33%

4,715

6,106

217

0

(190)

33.33%

31 December 2012
Propius Holdings Ltd

1

Cayman Islands1

The Joint Venture’s registered office is Maples Corporate Services Limited, PO Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104
The Group’s share of capital commitments of the Joint Venture are as follows:
2012

2011

€’000

€’000

-

-

Capital commitments - commitments contracted for

33,122

-

Total

33,122

-

Capital commitments - approved expenditure not contracted

As at December 2012, the fair value of the Group’s interest in the Joint Venture was €10.8 million and the carrying amount of the Group’s interest
was €10.8 million. The Group considers the fair value and carrying value of the investment to be equal at 31 December 2012.

17

Non-current assets held for sale
The non-current asset held for sale at 31 December 2011 comprised an owned A320 aircraft, which had been reclassified as held for sale due to
surplus short haul fleet capacity.
In December 2012, after a thorough review and assessment of fleet capacity in light of new expected agreements to be executed in 2013,
management decided to reintroduce this aircraft to the operating fleet due to operational requirements.
The aircraft has been reclassified to property, plant and equipment at the lower of, its carrying value prior to its classification as held-for-sale as
adjusted for depreciation that would have been charged had the aircraft not been classified as held for sale and its recoverable amount at the date
of the decision not to sell in December 2012. See Note 14.

18

Group undertakings
Aer Lingus Group plc is a company incorporated under the Irish Companies Acts, 1963 to 2012. Its head office is at Dublin Airport, Co. Dublin,
Ireland. It is the ultimate parent company in the Aer Lingus group.
The principal group companies are Aer Lingus Limited, Aer Lingus Beachey Limited, Aer Lingus (Ireland) Limited and Dirnan Insurance Company
Limited all of which are wholly owned. Aer Lingus Limited is incorporated in Ireland and is the principal operating company. Aer Lingus
(Ireland) Limited was established in 2009 and employs former employees of SR Technics who provide maintenance service on the Aer Lingus
fleet. In addition, Aer Lingus (Ireland) Limited employs certain categories of new employees joining the Group. Aer Lingus Beachey Limited
is incorporated in the Isle of Man and its principal activity is aircraft financing. Dirnan Insurance Company is incorporated in Bermuda and its
principal activity is handling and resolving claims on expired insurance policies. It is currently in “run-off”. Full details of all group companies will
be filed with the Company’s annual return, which will be available from the Companies Registration Office, Parnell House, 14 Parnell Square,
Dublin 1. In addition, the Group trades through a number of overseas branches. ALG Trustees Limited was established in 2007 to manage the
Group’s Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP). The Group consolidates ALG Trustees Limited in the group accounts.
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Other financial assets
Loans and receivables

1 January

2012

2011

€’000

€’000

42,180

39,790

Interest income

1,193

2,390

At 31 December

43,373

42,180

2012

2011

€’000

€’000

43,373

42,180

There were no impairment provisions for loans and receivables in 2012 and 2011.
Loans and receivables comprise the following:

- Zero-coupon debt securities held on inactive markets with maturity dates from August 2014 to
February 2015

These assets are all denominated in US dollars. These unlisted securities are mainly held in order to meet certain finance lease obligations
denominated in the same currency and with the same maturity.
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting dates is the carrying amount of the debt securities classified as loans and receivables. None
of the debt securities are either past due or expired.
As at 31 December 2012, if the financial assets had not been reclassified from available for sale financial assets in 2008, the fair value and
carrying value of these financial assets would have been €43.8 million (31 December 2011: €42.3 million) and €43.1 million (31 December
2011: €41.7 million) respectively, which would have resulted in a fair value gain in equity of €0.1 million (2011: gain of €0.3 million). The fair
values of unlisted securities are based on cash flows discounted using a rate based on the market interest rate and the risk premium appropriate
to the unlisted securities. €0.1 million (2011: €0.1 million) was amortised from the available-for-sale reserve to the income statement in the year.
The effective interest rates of the financial assets reclassified into loans and receivable at the date of reclassification were between 2.8% and 4.5%.
The estimated undiscounted cash flows that the Group expects to recover from the remaining financial assets reclassified from available for sale
financial assets in 2008 was:
Between 1 and 2

Between 2 and 5

years

years

€’000

€’000

€’000

€’000

-

34,121

12,803

-

1 year or less

Unlisted debt securities

20

Over five years

Derivative financial instruments
2012

2012

2011

2011

€’000

€’000

€’000

€’000

Interest rate swap
Forward foreign exchange contracts

Assets
1,711

Liabilities
595
7,399

Assets
27,597

Liabilities
2,230

Forward fuel price contracts

3,835

4,072

9,332

7,370

Total

5,546

12,066

36,929

9,600
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2012

2012

2011

2011

€’000

€’000

€’000

€’000

Assets

Liabilities

Assets

Liabilities

20

595
107

1,837

178

Less non-current portion:
Interest rate swap
Forward foreign exchange contracts

987

144

247

555

Total non-current portion

Forward fuel price contracts

1,007

846

2,084

733

Current portion

4,539

11,220

34,845

8,867

Foreign exchange contracts
The notional principal amounts of the outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts at 31 December 2012 were €411.9 million (2011: €451.7
million).
Interest rate swaps
The notional principal amounts of the outstanding interest rates swaps at 31 December 2012 were €36.4 million (2011: €Nil).
Aircraft fuel price contracts
The Group enters into derivative contracts to fix the price of its forecast aircraft fuel purchases. The notional principal amounts of the outstanding
contracts at 31 December 2012 were €216.1 million (2011: €226.0 million). The outstanding fuel price contracts at 31 December 2012
amounted to 297,471 metric tonnes of aircraft fuel (2011: 301,573 metric tonnes).
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the fair value of the derivative assets in the statement of financial position.
A charge for ineffectiveness of €0.03 million is reflected in the income statement in 2012 (2011: credit €0.04 million).

21

Inventories

Sundry inventory

2012

2011

€’000

€’000

2,235

1,493

Sundry inventory comprises catering and retail stock for sale onboard.
There were no write-downs of inventory during the year.

22

Trade and other receivables
2012

2011

€’000

€’000

Trade and other receivables

42,273

29,138

Other amounts receivable
Prepayments and accrued income

35,618
20,355

37,740
25,232

Value Added Tax

1,541
99,787

3,889
95,999

15,858
83,929

16,680
79,319

99,787

95,999

Group

Shown as:
Non-current assets
Current assets

The fair value of trade and other receivables equate to their book value at 31 December 2012 and 2011. The maximum exposure to credit risk
is the fair value of trade and other receivable above.
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The movements in provision for impairment of trade receivables during the year were as follows:
2012

2011

€'000

€'000

7,208

5,408

-

1,800

(4,830)

-

Written back during the year

(720)

-

At 31 December

1,658

7,208

At 1 January
Increase during the year
Reduction in impairment provision

The creation and release of provisions for impairment of trade receivables have been included in “Ground operations, catering and other
operating costs” within the Income Statement except for the reduction in impairment provision of €4.8 million treated as exceptional in 2012, see
Note 9. Amounts charged to the provision account are generally written off when there is no expectation of recovering the amounts outstanding.
There is no geographical concentration of credit risk with respect to trade and other receivables as the Group has a large and widely dispersed
customer base.
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value of each class of receivable mentioned above. The Group does
not hold any collateral as security.
At 31 December 2012, trade and other receivables of €8.7 million (2011: €4.5 million) were past due but not impaired. The largest element of
this is in respect of Cargo receivables. In all cases, there is no recent history of default. The aging analysis of these trade receivables is as follows:
2012

2011

€’000

€’000

Up to 1 month past due

5,333

3,965

Over 1 month past due

3,353

529

8,686

4,494

2012

2011

€’000

€’000

Euro

55,489

54,126

US dollar

39,092

37,704

4,866

3,787

The other classes within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets.
The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and other receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

Sterling
Other currencies

340

382

99,787

95,999

Company

Amounts due from subsidiary undertakings
Other amounts receivable
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2012

2011

€’000

€’000

603,825

699,843

57

68

603,882

699,911
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Shown as:
Non-current assets
Current assets

-

-

603,882

699,911

603,882

699,911

Amounts due from subsidiary undertakings are non interest bearing and are repayable on demand.
The Company’s receivables are solely denominated in euro.
On 23 March 2012, the Company subscribed for additional shares in Aer Lingus Limited. The consideration payable was offset against the loan
due to the Company from Aer Lingus Limited. See Note 37 for further information.

23

Deposits and cash and cash equivalents
The Group’s gross cash balances consist of loans and receivables, deposits and cash and cash equivalents.
2012

2011

€’000

€’000

Non-current
Loans and receivables (Note 19)

43,373

42,180

119,716

128,516

163,089

170,696

Deposits

432,504

459,561

Cash and cash equivalents

312,939

264,495

745,443

724,056

908,532

894,752

2012

2011

€’000

€’000

Cash and cash equivalents

84,203

83,986

Total gross cash

84,203

83,986

Deposits

Current

Total gross cash
The Company’s gross cash balances consist of cash and cash equivalents:

Current

At 31 December 2012 the Group held deposits of €21.1 million (31 December 2011: €26.2 million), which were not available for immediate
use by the Group.
Cash and cash equivalents include the following for the purposes of the statement of cash flows:
2012
Cash and deposits with an original maturity of less than three months

2011

€’000

€’000

312,939

264,495
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Excluding loans and receivables, the carrying amount of the Group’s cash, cash equivalents and other deposits are denominated in the following
currencies:
2012

2011

€’000

€’000

Euro

538,617

509,651

US dollar

318,187

341,106

Sterling

5,487

957

Other

2,868

858

865,159

852,572

Current deposits have maturity terms of between three and twelve months. Given that the maturity of these investments falls outside the three
months timeframe for classification as cash and cash equivalents under IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows, the related balances have been treated as
“deposits”. The effective interest rate on financial assets classified as current deposits was 0.54% (2011: 1.41%). These deposits have an average
maturity of 145 days (2011: 130 days).
The Group holds deposits in order to meet certain finance lease obligations, which are denominated in the same currency, and non-current
deposits are mainly comprised of these. The deposits, together with the interest receivable thereon, will be sufficient to meet in full the lease
obligations and related lease interest over the period of the leases. Restricted deposits are also held to meet certain lease obligations.

24

Trade and other payables

Trade payables
Accruals and deferred income
Ticket sales in advance, excluding taxes and charges ¹
Employment related taxes
Other amounts payable

2012

2011

€’000

€’000

53,716

60,514

47,973

46,888

129,469

128,025

7,348

8,263

45,133

49,763

283,639

293,453

¹The total value of ticket sales in advance at year end was €163.3 million (2011: €164.5 million).
The carrying values of trade and other payables approximate their fair value.

25

Finance lease obligations

Repayable – within one year

2012

2011

€’000

€’000

41,979

40,266

Repayable – from one to two years

118,043

42,302

Repayable – from two to five years

143,293

235,229

Repayable – after five years

228,272

259,440

Total borrowings

531,587

577,237

Less current portion

(41,979)

(40,266)

Non-current portion

489,608

536,971

Total borrowings include secured liabilities (bank and collateralised borrowings) of €531.6 million (2011: €577.2 million). Finance lease debt is
secured by aircraft assets (Note 14).
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The carrying amounts and fair values of the borrowings are as follows:
Carrying amounts

Finance lease obligations

Fair values

2012

2011

2012

2011

€’000

€’000

€’000

€’000

531,587

577,237

534,405

562,321

The fair values are based on cash flows discounted using a rate based on prevailing forward market rates. In 2012, these rates ranged from 0.08%
to 1.74%.
The carrying amounts of short-term borrowings approximate their fair values.
The carrying amounts of the Group’s borrowings are denominated in the following currencies:
2012

2011

€’000

€’000

Euro

181,503

201,642

US dollar

350,084

375,595

531,587

577,237

The effective interest rates at the reporting date were as follows:
2011

2012

Finance lease obligations

€

$

€

$

3.2%

2.1%

3.5%

2.1%

Finance lease obligation – minimum lease payments

No later than one year

2012

2011

€’000

€’000

63,789

64,373

Later than one year but no later than five years

316,070

344,726

Later than five years

246,162

287,759

626,021

696,858

Future finance charges on finance leases

(94,434)

(119,621)

Capital value of finance lease liabilities

531,587

577,237

The Group had no undrawn borrowing facilities at 31 December 2012 or 31 December 2011.

26

Defined contribution pension schemes
Companies within the Aer Lingus Group participate in a number of pension schemes for their staff. The two main pension schemes are the Irish
Airlines (Pilots) Superannuation Scheme (“the Pilots’ Scheme”), for its pilots, and the Irish Airlines (General Employees) Superannuation Scheme
(“the IASS”), a multi-employer scheme (the Dublin Airport Authority plc, the Shannon Airport Authority plc and SR Technics being the other
sponsoring employers) for other employees who fall within the category of “General Employees” (collectively the “Irish Pensions Schemes”). Aer
Lingus Limited (“ALL”) is the sponsoring company for the Group’s participation in the Irish Pension Schemes. Although similar rules apply to both
Irish Pension Schemes, the contribution rates and benefits differ between the schemes. The Group’s contributions to these two schemes and other
defined contribution schemes are set out in the table below. These are accounted for as defined contribution schemes in both the entity accounts
of Aer Lingus Limited and in the Group’s consolidated accounts because the rate of contribution to the schemes is fixed.
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2012
Irish Airlines (General Employees) Superannuation Scheme
Irish Airlines (Pilots) Superannuation Scheme
Other Defined Contribution Schemes
Total

2011

€'000

€'000

5,171

5,436

10,079

9,611

4,500

4,299

19,750

19,346

The trust deeds governing the Irish Airlines (General Employees) Superannuation Scheme (the “IASS”) and the Irish Airlines (Pilots) Superannuation
Scheme (“the Pilots’ Scheme”) to which ALL contributes, state respectively that no changes to those contribution rates are possible without ALL’s
consent. Management remains of the opinion that the liability of ALL to contribute to the Irish Pension Schemes is fixed at their respective current
contribution rates and, accordingly that ALL has neither a constructive nor a legal obligation to increase its rate of contributions to the Irish Pension
Schemes, even if those schemes are found to have insufficient funds to pay all members the benefits relating to their current or past service.
The IASS is a multi-employer scheme with fixed contributions made by the employers and employees in accordance with the trust and deed rules.
At 31 March 2012 (the most recent date for which data is available) it had 14,758 members, comprising 4,654 active members, 5,314 deferred
members and 4,790 pensioners. Approximately 69% of members are current or former employees of Aer Lingus.

The statutory minimum

funding standard (“MFS”) is an actuarial valuation of the funding status of the IASS if it were to be wound up under current legislation at a given
date. As at 31 December 2012, the IASS was estimated to have an MFS deficit of approximately €779 million (2011: deficit approximately €700
million). Approximately 65% of any deficit is attributable to employees or former employees of Aer Lingus.
ALL and the other sponsoring employers have no obligation to contribute anything other than the fixed rate of contribution to the IASS and in the
absence of the assumption of additional voluntary commitments, the trustees will be required to take measures (such as changing the investment
strategy or reducing benefits) to improve the scheme’s financial position. In addition, the trustees of Irish pension schemes which do not satisfy
the MFS by a certain deadline (currently 30 June 2013) have to submit a funding proposal to the Pensions Board. If the parties fail to agree the
terms of a funding proposal, the IASS may have to be wound up. If this were to happen, active members and deferred members - those who are
currently employed and not yet retired - would receive an insignificant percentage (estimated at approximately 5%) of their expected pension
when they retire (based on market conditions as at 31 December 2012). This presents a significant industrial relations issue for Aer Lingus and
consequent business risk exposure which could adversely impact ALL’s operations in 2013 and beyond.
It is also possible that ALL’s position that it has no responsibility for the deficit in the scheme could be subject to legal challenge on various grounds
from various potential claimants. Any such challenge would be strenuously defended. Lengthy litigation could ensue. If, contrary to the firm legal
advice that ALL has received (that such a challenge is unlikely to succeed), a Court were to find against ALL in any such litigation, very significant
loss could arise. No proceedings have been issued to date and it is not therefore practicable to estimate the financial exposure, if any, to ALL
should such claims be made and succeed.
In the context of the IASS funding shortfall ALL has attempted to assist in the achievement of a fair outcome that improves the pension prospects
of affected IASS members in a way that will balance the interests of all parties, including shareholders and employees. On this basis, ALL has
participated in a process of discussion under the auspices of the Labour Relations Commission (“LRC”) which commenced in 2010 and, which
more recently has also involved the Irish Business and Employers Confederation, the Irish Congress of Trade Unions and the Labour Court. In
particular as part of this process ALL is seeking employment cost stability over the coming years. The process of discussion is complex and involves
many parties. There can be no certainty that agreement will be reached between all parties involved.
At 31 March 2012 (the most recent date for which data is available) the Pilots’ Scheme had 905 members, comprising 431 active members,
122 deferred members and 352 pensioners. The triennial actuarial valuation performed by the trustee’s actuary as at 31 March 2012 showed
an MFS deficit at 31 March 2012 of €187 million. As part of the Greenfield agreements negotiated in late 2009 under the auspices of the LRC,
ALL and the Irish Airlines Pilots Association agreed certain changes to the scheme with the aim of addressing the deficit over time. The changes
included an increase in retirement age from 55 to 60, a reduction in accrual rate for future service from 45ths to 60ths and an increase in member
contributions from 7% to 11% of salary. There was no change in employer contributions which remain at 21% of salary. The changes were
approved by the Pilots’ Scheme trustees and became effective as from 1 January 2011.
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As at 31 December 2012, the Pilots’ Scheme was estimated to have an MFS deficit of approximately €218 million. ALL’s position that it has no
responsibility for the deficit in the scheme could be subject to legal challenge on various grounds from various potential claimants. Any such
challenge would be strenuously defended. Lengthy litigation could ensue. If, contrary to the firm legal advice that ALL has received (that such a
challenge is unlikely to succeed), a Court were to find against ALL in any such litigation, significant loss could arise. No proceedings have been
issued to date and it is not therefore practicable to estimate the financial exposure, if any, to ALL should such claims be made and succeed.
ALL has recently agreed to engage in a process of discussion with parties affected by the funding shortfall in the Pilots’ Scheme in an attempt to
assist in the achievement of a fair outcome that improves the pension prospects of affected Pilots’ Scheme members in a way that will balance the
interests of all parties, including shareholders and employees. As is the case with the IASS, the process of discussion will be complex and involve
many parties. There can be no certainty that agreement will be reached between all parties involved.
Notwithstanding ALL’s involvement in the two sets of discussions outlined above, it remains ALL’s position, supported by firm legal advice, that it
has no legal or constructive obligation in respect of either the IASS or the Pilots’ Schemes, other than to continue to pay the fixed rate contributions
as set out in the trust deeds of these schemes.
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Post employment benefit obligations
The following is a summary of the Group’s post employment benefit obligations and their related funding status:

Present value of funded obligations

2012

2011

€'000

€'000

14,422

14,481

Fair value of plan assets

9,770

9,405

Deficit in funded plans

4,652

5,076

Present value of wholly unfunded obligations

30,206

23,906

Net employee benefit liabilities

34,858

28,982

2012

2011

€'000

€'000

4,309

4,699

343

377

4,652

5,076

27,922

22,118

2,284

1,788

30,206

23,906

2012

2011

€'000

€'000

(55)

(456)

1,866

4,066

1,811

3,610

The liabilities in respect of the Group’s post employment benefit obligations are as follows:

Funded
North American Pension
Other

Unfunded
Post Employment Income Streaming
North American Post Retirement Medical Benefit

The charge/(credit) to the income statement in respect of these obligations are as follows:

Funded (a)
Unfunded (b)
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Actuarial losses recognised in the statement of other comprehensive income during the year:
2012

2011

€'000

€'000

299

3,218

4,550

1,675

4,849

4,893

2012

2011

€'000

€'000

Funded (a)
Unfunded (b)

Cumulative actuarial losses/(gains) recognised in the statement of other comprehensive income:

Funded (a)
Unfunded (b)

885

586

2,683

(1,867)

3,568

(1,281)

The dates of the most recent actuarial valuations in respect of the various schemes are as follows:
Valuation Date
Funded
North American Pension

31 December 2012

Other

31 December 2012

Unfunded
Post Employment Income Streaming

31 December 2012

North American Post Retirement Medical Benefit

31 December 2012

Valuations are not available for public inspection; however they are available to the members of the above schemes.
(a) Funded
The Group operates a defined benefit scheme for qualifying employees in its operation in North America. Under the scheme, employees
are entitled to retirement benefits of 50% of final average compensation as a lump sum, plus 1% final average compensation for each year
of membership, on attainment of retirement age of 65. Retirement benefits are reduced for service less than 20 years. The scheme has 119
members (2011: 119) with benefit accruals and plan participation frozen.
The Group also operates a non contributory defined benefit scheme in respect of two retired Irish executives.
The movement in the defined benefit obligation over the year is as follows:

At 1 January

2012

2011

€'000

€'000

14,481

12,476

Interest cost

587

626

Actuarial (gains)/losses

(31)

2,186

-

(457)

(615)

(350)

14,422

14,481

Past service (credit)/cost
Benefits paid
At 31 December
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The movement in the fair value of plan assets of the year is as follows:

At 1 January
Expected return on plan assets
Actuarial losses
Employer contributions
Benefits paid
Taxes paid
At 31 December

2012

2011

€'000

€'000

9,405

9,080

642

586

(330)

(1,032)

613

1,128

(552)

(349)

(8)

(8)

9,770

9,405

2012

2011

€'000

€'000

The amounts recognised in the income statement are as follows:

Interest cost - recognised in finance expense

587

626

(642)

(587)

-

(457)

(55)

(418)

2012

2011

Discount rate

3.50%

4.25%

Inflation rate

2.00%

2.00%

3.50% - 7.00%

4.59% - 7.00%

N/A

N/A

0.00%

0.00%

Expected return on plan assets - recognised in finance income
Past service cost/(credit) - recognised in staff costs
Total charge/(credit) recognised in income statement
The actual return on plan assets was €0.9 million (2011: €0.4 million)
Key Assumptions
The principal actuarial assumptions were as follows:

Expected return on plan assets
Future salary increases
Future pension increases

Assumptions regarding future mortality experience are set based on actuarial advice in accordance with published statistics and experience.
Mortality assumptions are based on the following post-retirement mortality tables:
These tables translate into an average life expectancy in years for a pensioner retiring at age 65:
2012

2011

19.15 - 23.92

19.08 - 23.80

21.04

20.99

-Male (currently aged 45)

37.59

37.50

-Female (currently aged 45)

39.53

39.48

Retiring at the end of the reporting period:
-Male
-Female
Retiring 20 years after the end of the reporting period:
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Sensitivities
The sensitivity of the overall pension liability to changes in the weighted principal assumptions is set out below:
Change in assumption

Impact on overall liability

Discount rate

North American Pension Scheme

Increase/decrease by 0.50%

Decrease by 5.5%/increase by 6.4%

Discount rate

Other

Increase/decrease by 0.25%

Decrease/increase by 3.2%

Inflation

Other

Increase/decrease by 0.25%

Increase/decrease by 5.4%

Plan assets are comprised as follows:
2012

2011

Equity instruments

4,900

50%

4,482

48%

Debt instruments

4,641

48%

4,199

45%

-

0%

13

0%

229

2%

711

7%

9,770

100%

9,405

100%

Property
Other
Total

Investments are well diversified, such that the failure of any single investment would not have a material impact on the overall level of assets. The
largest proportion of assets is invested in equities, although the schemes also invest in bonds, hedge funds and cash.
The expected return on plan assets is determined by considering the expected returns available on the assets underlying the current investment
policy. Expected yields on fixed interest investments are based on gross redemption yields as at the end of the reporting period. Expected returns
on equity and property investments reflect long-term real rates of return experienced in the respective markets.
Expected contributions to post-employment benefit plans for the year ending 31 December 2013 are €0.6 million.
The Group has agreed that it will aim to eliminate the deficit over the next 7 years. The next valuation is due to be completed as at 31 December
2013. The Group considers that the contribution rate set at the last valuation date is sufficient to eliminate the deficit over the agreed period and
that regular contributions, which are based on service costs, will not increase significantly.
History of defined benefit obligations, assets and experience gains and losses:
Financial year ending in
2012

2011

2010

2009

2008

€'000

€'000

€'000

€'000

€'000

14,422

14,481

12,476

N/A

N/A

Fair value of plan assets

9,770

9,405

9,080

N/A

N/A

Deficit/(surplus)

4,652

5,076

3,396

N/A

N/A

344

186

(38)

N/A

N/A

3.52%

2.00%

(0.42%)

N/A

N/A

(31)

2,185

(2,551)

N/A

N/A

(0.22%)

15.10%

(20.45%)

N/A

N/A

Defined benefit obligation

Difference between expected and actual return on plan assets:
Amount
Percentage of plan assets
Experience gains and (losses) on plan liabilities:
Amount
Percentage of plan liabilities
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(b) Unfunded
The Group operates a post employment medical benefit scheme for certain former employees of the operation in North America. The scheme
has 72 members (2011: 74) with benefit accruals and plan participation frozen.
The Group also has an income streaming arrangement in respect of certain current and former employees who have an elective entitlement to a
pension at 60. These arrangement provide an income equating to a pension until members reach age 65, at which point benefits cease.
The amounts recognised in the statement of financial position are determined as follows:
2012

2011

€'000

€'000

Present value of unfunded obligations

30,206

23,906

Deficit of schemes

30,206

23,906

Liability in the statement of financial position

30,206

23,906

The movement in the defined benefit obligation over the year is as follows:
2012

2011

€'000

€'000

23,906

18,525

Current service cost

915

3,143

Interest cost

951

923

Actuarial losses

4,550

1,675

Benefits paid

(116)

(360)

30,206

23,906

2012

2011

€'000

€'000

915

3,143

At 1 January

At 31 December
The amounts recognised in the income statement are as follows:

Current service cost - recognised in staff costs
Interest cost - recognised in finance expense

951

923

1,866

4,066

2012

2011

3.5%-3.9%

4.25%

Inflation rate (general)

2.00%

2.00%

Future long term medical cost inflation

5.00%

7.50%

Future salary increases

3.00%

3.00%

Future pension increases

0.50%

0.50%

Total recognised in income statement
Key Assumptions
The principal actuarial assumptions were as follows:

Discount rate

It is assumed that all those reaching 60 will reach 65, when benefits cease under the income streaming arrangement.
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Sensitivities
The effect of a 1% movement in the assumed medical cost trend rate on the North American Medical Obligation is as follows:
Increase

Decrease

€'000

€'000

17

(16)

263

(144)

Effect on the aggregate of the current service cost and interest cost (medical benefit scheme)
Effect on the defined benefit obligation (medical benefit scheme)
The sensitivity of the income streaming liability to changes in the weighted principal assumptions is:
Change in assumption

Impact on overall liability

Discount rate

Increase/decrease by 0.25%

Decrease/increase by 3.26%

Inflation Rate

Increase/decrease by 0.25%

Increase/decrease by 0.15%

Expected contributions to post-employment benefit plans for the year ending 31 December 2013 are €Nil, as the arrangements are unfunded.
History of unfunded defined benefit obligations and experience gains and losses:
Financial year ending in

Defined benefit obligation/plan deficit

2012

2011

2010

2009

2008

€'000

€'000

€'000

€'000

€'000

30,206

23,906

18,525

N/A

N/A

4,550

1,675

(3,542)

N/A

N/A

15.06%

7.01%

(19.12%)

N/A

N/A

Experience gains and losses on plan liabilities:
Amount
Percentage of plan liabilities

28

Provisions for liabilities and charges

At 1 January 2011
Provided during the year
Written back during the year

Business
repositioning¹

Aircraft
maintenance²

Other ³

Total

€’000

€’000

€’000

€’000

75,649

39,554

17,132

132,335

2,395

15,315

3,791

21,501

(7,153)

(690)

(4,467)

(12,310)

Utilised during the year

(40,988)

(16,188)

(2,846)

(60,022)

At 31 December 2011

29,903

37,991

13,610

81,504

At 1 January 2012

29,903

37,991

13,610

81,504

Provided during the year

15,106

14,024

977

30,107

(75)

(1,705)

-

(1,780)

Utilised during the year

(12,513)

(12,676)

228

(24,961)

At 31 December 2012

32,421

37,634

14,815

84,870

Written back during the year

Provided during the year is net of unwinding of discount amounting to €0.5 million.
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Business
repositioning¹

Aircraft
maintenance²

Other ³

Total

Analysed as current liabilities
31 December 2012

16,171

9,804

3,757

29,732

31 December 2011

9,967

21,623

2,088

33,678

31 December 2012

16,250

27,830

11,058

55,138

31 December 2011

19,936

16,368

11,522

47,826

31 December 2012

32,421

37,634

14,815

84,870

31 December 2011

29,903

37,991

13,610

81,504

Analysed as non-current liabilities

Total provision

(1) Business repositioning
A provision for business repositioning costs is recognised when a constructive obligation exists. The amount of the provision is based on the
terms of business repositioning measures, including employee severance, which have been communicated to employees. They represent
the Directors’ best estimate of the cost of these measures, having regard to the current status of negotiations. At 31 December 2012, the
majority of the provision relates to the Greenfield cost reduction programme and the closure of the Shannon hangar maintenance operation.
Measurement uncertainty associated with business repositioning provisions arises from the achievement of certain operating and financial
targets and changes in human resources requirements. The provision related to the Greenfield cost reduction programme and the Shannon
hangar maintenance provision are expected to be materially utilised in the next two financial years, with the remaining provision balance
expected to be largely utilised in the next five years.
(2) Aircraft maintenance
A provision is made on a monthly basis for maintenance of aircraft held under operating leases. The provision will be utilised as the major
airframe and engine overhauls take place. Aircraft maintenance also includes provision for the costs to meet the contractual conditions of aircraft.
Measurement uncertainty associated with maintenance provisions arise from the timing and nature of overhaul activity required and sensitivity in
projected flight hours. The provision is expected to be materially utilised over the next twelve financial years. The release during the year relates
to maintenance obligations for the aircraft previously classified as held for sale which will now be recognised on a flown basis going forward.
(3) Other
Other provisions relate mainly to the frequent flyer programme and free flight entitlements in respect of former employees. The frequent
flyer provision is utilised when points are used or when they become non-redeemable. Points are redeemable for a maximum of three years.
Measurement uncertainty associated with the frequent flyer and free flight programmes typically arise from variances in estimates of flight
utilisation and length of sectors flown by programme members and former employees.

29

Contingent liabilities and assets
Sublease of hangar facility at Shannon
In December 2012, the Group entered into an agreement for the assignment of its interest in the lease of a hangar facility at Shannon Airport.
Under the terms of this arrangement, Aer Lingus has provided a guarantee to the Dublin Airport Authority (“DAA”) in respect of rents that would
otherwise have been payable by the Group under the lease up to 31 July 2021. Aer Lingus estimates the maximum amount payable would be
approximately €3.5 million in the event that the guarantee was called.
Air travel tax
On 25 July 2012, the European Commission (“EC”) issued a press release with regard to Irish air travel tax. In 2009, Ireland introduced an air travel
tax for flights departing from Irish airports. The tax was set at €2 for destinations within 300km of Dublin and at €10 for those exceeding 300km.
The EC found that the lower rate favoured flights within Ireland and to nearby parts of the UK, giving the companies concerned an economic
advantage over their competitors and thus distorting competition in the internal market. The EC has ordered Ireland to recover this advantage
from all airlines that had benefited from it.
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Based on the best information currently available, Aer Lingus estimates a charge of approximately €4 million could potentially apply in the event
that the Group is compelled to pay the differential between the €2 and €10 rates of tax for the relevant routes. The Group complied with the
relevant legislation as it was enacted at the time by the Irish Government and Aer Lingus will resist any attempts in the event that recovery of the
differential between the €2 and €10 rates of tax is sought from the Group.
Arrangements relating to Aer Arann
Aer Lingus Regional flights are operated by Aer Arann. However, passengers book their flights using the Aer Lingus website and booking channels.
Should Aer Arann fail to meet its obligation to passengers and such passengers seek refunds from their credit card providers, Aer Lingus may have
an obligation to reimburse those credit card companies for losses incurred. In such circumstances, Aer Lingus would have a corresponding claim
against Aer Arann.
Arising from the Group’s investment in the Joint Venture, the Group received guarantees from one of its co-investors concerning the Group’s costs
and liabilities that may be suffered from the operation of its franchise agreement with Aer Arann. The guarantee is limited to a maximum of €3
million and is expected to expire no later than August 2014.

30

Deferred tax
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities and
when deferred taxes relate to the same fiscal authority. The offset amounts are as follows:

Deferred tax asset to be recovered after more than 12 months
Deferred tax liability to be recovered after more than 12 months
Deferred tax asset

2012

2011

€’000

€’000

57,134

56,362

(55,804)

(51,433)

1,330

4,929

2012

2011

€’000

€’000

The movement on the deferred tax account is as follows:

Deferred asset at 1 January

4,929

13,537

(6,506)

(13,168)

Tax credit directly to equity

2,907

4,560

Deferred tax asset at 31 December

1,330

4,929

Income statement charge

The movement in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year, without taking into consideration the offsetting of balances within the same
tax jurisdiction, is as follows:
Deferred tax assets

Provisions

Tax losses

Total

€’000

€’000

€’000

At 1 January 2011

11,231

48,366

59,597

(Charged)/ credited to the income statement

(7,985)

4,750

(3,235)

At 31 December 2011 and 1 January 2012

3,246

53,116

56,362

(Charged)/credited to the income statement

(888)

1,660

772

At 31 December 2012

2,358

54,776

57,134

108
ANNUAL REPORT 2012

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Aer Lingus Group Plc

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities

At 1 January 2011

Accelerated tax
depreciation

Derivative
financial
instruments

Available-forsale reserve

Other

Total

€’000

€’000

€’000

€’000

€’000

37,250

8,622

72

116

46,060

7,206

-

-

2,727

9,933

-

(4,943)

(17)

400

(4,560)

44,456

3,679

55

3,243

51,433

Charged to the income statement
Charged/(credited) directly to equity
At 31 December 2011 and 1 January 2012
Charge to the income statement

7,019

-

-

259

7,278

-

(2,659)

(18)

(230)

(2,907)

51,475

1,020

37

3,272

55,804

Credited directly to equity
At 31 December 2012

Deferred tax credited to equity during the year is as follows:
2012

2011

€’000

€’000

2,659

4,943

18

17

Fair value reserves in shareholders’ equity
- Cash flow hedging reserve
- Revaluation reserve on available-for-sale financial assets
- Other

230

(400)

2,907

4,560

The Group continues to hold unutilised capital losses forward of €1.3 million in respect of which no deferred tax asset is carried (2011: €1.3
million).
The Group is satisfied, based on expected future performance, as indicated by the Group’s five year projections, that there is a reasonable basis
on which to recognise the deferred tax assets.

31

Called-up share capital
2012

2011

€’000

€’000

45,000

45,000

26,702

26,702

Authorised
900,000,000 ordinary shares of €0.05 each
Issued and fully paid
At 1 January and 31 December

The total number of ordinary shares of €0.05 each in issue at 31 December 2012 was 534,040,090 (31 December 2011: 534,040,090) of which
3,946,658 (31 December 2011: 3,946,658) were treasury shares.
Share capital
The authorised share capital of the Company comprises ordinary shares.
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Restriction on transfer of shares
The Directors, in their absolute discretion and without assigning any reason therefore, many decline to register any transfer of a share which is not
fully paid or any transfer to or by a minor or person of unsound mind but this shall not apply to a transfer of such a share resulting from a sale of
the share through a stock exchange on which the share is listed.
The Directors may also refuse to register any instrument of transfer (whether or not it is in respect of a fully paid share), unless it is: a) lodged at
the Registered Office or at such other place as the Directors may appoint; b) accompanied by the certificate for the shares to which it relates and
such other evidence as the Directors may reasonably require to show the right of the transferor to make the transfer; c) in respect of only one class
of shares; and d) in favour of not more than four transferees.
Share rights
Subject to the Articles of Association of Aer Lingus Group plc the holders of ordinary shares are entitled to share in any dividends in proportion
to the number of shares held by them and are entitled to one vote for every share held by them at a general meeting. On a return of capital
(whether on repayment of capital, liquidation or otherwise) the assets and/or capital legally available to be distributed shall be distributed amongst
the holders of ordinary shares, in proportion to the numbers of ordinary shares held by them, of the nominal value of their ordinary shares.
Restriction of rights
If the Directors determine that a “Specified Event” as defined in the Articles of Association of Aer Lingus Group plc has occurred in relation to any
share or shares, the Directors may serve a notice to such effect on the holder or holders thereof. Upon the expiry of 14 days from the service of
any such notice, for so long as such notice shall remain in force no holder or holders of the share or shares in such notice shall, in relation to such
specified shares, be entitled to attend, speak or vote either personally, by representative or by proxy at any general meeting of the Group or at any
separate general meeting of the class of shares concerned or to exercise any other right conferred by membership in relation to any such meeting.
The Directors shall, where the shares specified in such notice represent not less than 0.25 per cent of the class of shares concerned, be entitled;
to withhold payment of any dividend or other amount payable (including shares issuable in lieu of dividend) in respect of the shares specified
in such notice; and/or to refuse to register any transfer of the shares specified in such notice or any renunciation of any allotment of new shares
made in respect thereof unless such transfer or renunciation is shown to the satisfaction of the Directors to be a bone fide transfer or renunciation
to another beneficial owner unconnected with the holder or holders or any person appearing to have an interest in respect of which a notice has
been served.
Ownership Restrictions to protect Air Carrier Rights
Since the Company’s entitlement to obtain or to continue to hold or enjoy the benefit of the licences, permits, consents or privileges that enable
the Company to carry on business as an air carrier in Ireland and/or internationally (‘‘the Company’s air carrier rights’’), can be adversely affected
if too many of the Ordinary Shares are held by persons who are not regarded as EU nationals (“Non-Qualifying Nationals”), the Directors are
given certain powers under the Articles of Association to take action to ensure that shareholdings of Non-Qualifying Nationals in the Company’s
share capital are not of such a size or type which could jeopardise the Company’s air carrier rights. The Directors have the power to designate
a maximum percentage of the Company’s share capital (a ‘‘Permitted Maximum’’) which may be held by Non-Qualifying Nationals and have
determined that this will initially be in excess of 45% but less than 50%. This percentage may be varied by the Directors from time to time.
Restrictions on the Disposal of London Heathrow Slots
The Articles of Association contain provisions requiring shareholder approval for the disposal of slots allocated to the Company at London
Heathrow Airport. If Aer Lingus proposes to dispose of any of the slots at London Heathrow that it was using in September 2006, it is required to
notify shareholders in the manner set out in the Articles of Association, and shareholders representing 20% or more of the issued Ordinary Shares
may require, within 28 days of notification, that the matter be submitted to an extraordinary general meeting. The disposal may proceed if at the
extraordinary general meeting the relevant resolution is passed by not less than X% of the votes cast at such meeting (where “X” is equal to 100
minus the percentage of the Ordinary Shares held by the Minister for Finance at the record date of such meeting of the Company, expressed as a
percentage of the total number of issued Ordinary Shares as at such record date, plus 5%) provided that if the value of “X” under this formula is
greater than 75, “X” shall be deemed to be 75.
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32

Share premium, capital conversion reserve fund, capital redemption reserve fund and other
reserves
2012

2011

€’000

€’000

510,605

510,605

2012

2011

€’000

€’000

5,048

5,048

2012

2011

€’000

€’000

343,796

343,796

2012

2011

€’000

€’000

Share premium
At 1 January and 31 December

Capital conversion reserve fund
At 1 January and 31 December

Capital redemption reserve fund
At 1 January and 31 December

Other reserves
Cash flow hedging reserve
At 1 January
Movement in the year

25,681

60,351

(21,271)

(39,623)

Deferred tax on movement in the year

2,659

4,953

At 31 December

7,069

25,681

393

510

(147)

(134)

18

17

264

393

(5,615)

(6,326)

Available-for-sale reserve
At 1 January
Movement in the year
Deferred tax on movement in the year
At 31 December
Treasury shares
At 1 January
Exercise of share awards
At 31 December

-

711

(5,615)

(5,615)

2,900

812

Share based payment reserve
At 1 January
Exercise of share awards
Movement in the year

-

(711)

3,389

3,199

Deferred tax on movement in the year

(424)

(400)

At 31 December

5,865

2,900

Total other reserves

7,583

23,359
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Share premium
The share premium of €510.6 million relates to the share premium arising on share issues.
Capital conversion reserve fund
The capital conversion reserve fund is attributable to the re-denomination of the nominal value of the Group’s shares from punt to euro in 2000.
Capital redemption reserve fund
The capital redemption reserve fund is attributable to shares which were purchased and cancelled by the Group prior to its initial public offering
for nil consideration pursuant to Sections 41(2) and 43 of the Companies (Amendment) Act, 1983.
Cash flow hedging reserve
The cash flow hedging reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of cash flow hedging instruments (net
of tax) principally relating to fuel and forward currency contracts.
Available-for-sale reserve
The available for sale reserve is attributable to the unamortised portion of fair value gains realised on the reclassification of available for sale bonds
to loans and receivables in 2008. The reserve is amortised over remaining bond maturity periods.
Treasury shares
The treasury shares reserve comprises the weighted average cost of Aer Lingus Group plc ordinary shares held in order to fulfil award conditions
under the LTIP share based performance award scheme.
Share based payment reserve
The reserve comprises amounts expensed in the Group Income Statement in connection with awards made under the LTIP share based
performance award scheme, less any exercises or lapses of such awards.
Outstanding options and awards

Options

Awards

LTIP Schemes

2012

2011

2012

2011

2012

2011

1,500,000

1,500,000

-

500,000

9,522,994

4,409,994

Forfeitures during year

-

-

-

-

(1,438,365)

-

Exercised during year

-

-

-

(500,000)

-

-

Grants during year

-

-

-

-

4,590,000

5,113,000

1,500,000

1,500,000

-

-

12,674,629

9,522,994

500,000

NIL

NIL

NIL

NIL

NIL

0.573 – 0.886

0.573 - 0.886

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

6.7 years

7.7 years

-

-

2.0 years

2.5 years

Awards outstanding at 1 January

Awards outstanding at 31 December
Exercisable at year end

Range of exercise price (€)
Remaining weighted average contractual life
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Long Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”)
In July 2007, arising from the review of the Group’s compensation arrangement for Executive Directors and senior managers, the Company’s
shareholders approved the introduction of a LTIP in order to further align the interests of such executives and senior managers with those of
shareholders. The LTIP is a share based performance award scheme, which provides for the vesting of shares subject to the achievement of
minimum performance objectives measured over a three year period. The LTIP is tied to achievement of both a targeted Business Performance
Measure (selected by the Remuneration Committee) and to Total Shareholder Return (TSR). The TSR element is assessed against a peer group of
European airlines and the companies of the ISEQ general index. The Business Performance Measure is set by the Remuneration Committee, as
described below. The maximum award under the LTIP is 150% of base salary. The maximum number of shares that can vest is set at 125% of the
shares which are the subject of the award, for superior performance. Awards under the LTIP can be made on an annual basis at the discretion of
the Remuneration Committee.
Under the terms of the Group’s LTIP an early vesting of an award may occur at the discretion of the Remuneration Committee if there were to be a
change of control of the Company. As at the reporting date, 3,946,658 shares are held as Treasury Shares in respect of the LTIP and are registered
in the name of ALG Trustee Limited. Any voting rights attaching to the shares are exercised in the absolute discretion of the ALG Trustee Limited
having regard to the interests of the LTIP participants.
For awards issued in 2012, the Remuneration Committee set the Business Performance Measure which must be achieved in addition to the TSR
measure before any award can vest as positive cumulative EBITDAR (before exceptional items as determined by the Remuneration Committee)
of, or in excess of €100 million during the performance period and positive EBITDAR as shown in the Company’s financial accounts in the final
year of the performance period (before exceptional items as determined by the Remuneration Committee). Conditional awards granted under the
Company’s LTIP in the year ended 31 December 2012 amounted to 4,590,000 ordinary shares (2011: 5,113,000). The share price was €0.95
(2011: €0.80) at the date of the award and fair value was determined to be €0.75 (2011: €0.59).
Shares awarded under the Group’s LTIP are equity settled share based payments as defined in IFRS 2 Share Based Payments. The IFRS requires
that a recognised valuation methodology be employed to determine the fair value of shares awarded and stipulates that this methodology should
be consistent with methodologies used for pricing of financial instruments. The expense of €3,262,404 (2011: €2,953,264) reported in the
income statement has been arrived at through applying a Monte Carlo simulation technique to model the combination of market and non-market
based performance conditions of the plan.
Impact on income statement
The LTIP expense (net of pre-vesting forfeitures) of €3.3 million (2011: €2.9 million) is analysed as follows:
2012

2011

€'000

€'000

1,423

2,152

960

801

879

-

3,262

2,953

2010 Long Term Incentive Plan
Staff costs
2011 Long Term Incentive Plan
Staff costs
2012 Long Term Incentive Plan
Staff costs
Total

The 2010 awards will expire no later than 12 months after the end of their performance period, being the end of 2013.
The 2011 awards will expire no later than 12 months after the end of their performance period, being the end of 2014.
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The 2012 awards will expire no later than 12 months after the end of their performance period, being the end of 2015.
The fair value of the shares awarded were determined using a Monte Carlo simulation technique, taking account of peer group total share return
volatilities and correlations, together with the following assumptions as at their grant date.
2012
Average risk free interest rate for peer group
Expected volatility
Dividend yield

2011

1.74%

3.50%

46.20%

58.00%

0.00%

0.00%

Expected volatility was determined by calculating the volatility of the Company’s share price, for a historical period commensurate with the
expected life of the awards, ending on their valuation date.
Share options
On 8 September 2009, Mr Christoph Mueller was granted share options in respect of 1,500,000 shares. The exercise price in respect of the
options over 500,000 shares which became exercisable on 7 September 2012 and are exercisable until 7 September 2019 is €0.573 per share;
the exercise price in respect of the options over 500,000 which may become exercisable on or after 7 September 2013 and are exercisable until
7 September 2019 is €0.677 per share and the exercise price in respect of the options over 500,000 shares which may become exercisable on or
after 7 September 2014 and are exercisable until 7 September 2019 is €0.886.
The share options granted during 2009 are equity settled share-based payments as defined in IFRS 2 Share-based Payments. The accounting
framework requires that a recognised valuation methodology be employed to determine the fair value of share options granted and stipulates
that this methodology should be consistent with methodologies used for the pricing of financial instruments. The expense of €126,600 (2011:
€147,067) reported in the income statement within staff costs has been arrived at through applying a binomial lattice option-pricing model. The
weighted average fair value of the share options granted in 2009 at the measurement date was €0.37 per share. The inputs used in the optionpricing model included a share price of €0.58 per share, a dividend yield of 0%, a risk free rate of 4.70% and volatility of 50.63%.
Share awards
On 8 September 2009, Mr Christoph Mueller was granted share awards in respect of 500,000 shares, which vested on 1 September 2011. The
share price at grant date was €0.58. The share awards granted are equity settled share-based payments as defined in IFRS 2 Share-based Payments
and accordingly the cost of settling the awards has been expensed on a pro-rata basis across the vesting period. The awards vested and were
exercised during 2011 and accordingly no expense (2011: €97,469) has been recorded in the income statement in 2012.
Impact on statement of financial position
ALG Trustees Limited (the “Trust”) was retained during the year to manage the LTIP. The Trust purchased 2,396,959 shares in May 2008 at a cost
of €4,862,133. The Trust purchased a further 152,709 shares in April 2009 at a cost of €116,450 and 5,690,969 at a cost of €4,041,726. In
September 2009, the Trust sold 5,605,347 shares to the Company for nil consideration. On 1 September 2011, share awards in respect of 500,000
shares granted to Mr Christoph Mueller vested. As at 31 December 2012, the Trust held 3,946,658 ordinary shares (2011: 3,946,658). There were
no new shares issued to the Trust during the year.
The Trust is consolidated in the Group accounts and these shares are accounted for as treasury shares in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

33

Employee participation
Employee Share Ownership Trust (“ESOT”)
The ESOT held 0.02% of the issued share capital of the Company at 31 December 2012 (31 December 2011: 0.05%).
The ESOT is also trustee of the Aer Lingus Approved Profit Sharing Scheme and, at 31 December 2012, held 114,188 shares (0.02%) (31 December
2011: 8,280,631 shares (1.55%)) in the Company on behalf of beneficiaries. Shares held by the Approved Profit Sharing Scheme transferred to
beneficiaries in early 2012.
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34

Financial commitments
(a) Capital commitments
At 31 December the Group had capital commitments as follows:
2012

2011

€’000

€’000

937,121

908,545

Contracted for but not provided
- Aircraft and equipment
- Other

2,664

3,299

939,785

911,844

(b) Lease commitments
At 31 December 2012 the Group had commitments, under non-cancellable operating leases, which fall due as follows:
Property

Aircraft

Plant and
machinery

€’000

€’000

€’000

7,486

44,498

2

Later than one year but no later than five years

28,260

115,860

-

Later than five years

40,338

-

-

76,084

160,358

2

No later than one year

At 31 December 2011 the Group had commitments, under non-cancellable operating leases, which fall due as follows:
Property

Aircraft

Plant and
machinery

€’000

€’000

€’000

7,714

44,096

-

Later than one year but no later than five years

32,489

144,744

-

Later than five years

49,587

9,214

-

89,790

198,054

-

No later than one year

Lease commitments exclude the impact of rent prepayments received as part of consideration for the surrender of the HOB site as described in
Note 9.

35

Related party transactions
Key management compensation¹,²

Short-term employee benefits
Post employment benefits
Termination benefits
Share-based payments

2012

2011

€’000

€’000

5,475

4,669

495

374

-

2,032

1,984

1,626

7,954

8,701

¹ Key management compensation comprises all amounts in respect of Directors, Non-Executive Directors and members of the Executive
Management Team.
² No member of key management received a pay increase during 2012.
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Amounts due to the Company from subsidiary undertakings are disclosed in Note 22. The Company’s investment in its subsidiaries is set out in
Note 37.
The Group’s contributions to its post employment benefit obligations are disclosed in Notes 26 and 27.
Contributions and commitments in respect of the Group’s joint venture are disclosed in Note 16.
The Group considers Pay and Shop Limited (trading as “Realex Payments”) to be a related party for the purposes of IAS 24 by virtue of the fact
that Mr Laurence Crowley, Chairman of Realex Payments, is also a Non-Executive Director of Aer Lingus Group plc. The Group engages Realex
Payments to provide on-line payment solutions. The Group’s business relationship with Realex Payments predates the appointment of Mr
Crowley as Chairman of Realex Payments. During the year, the Group incurred expenditure of €551,265 (2011: €578,956) on services provided
by Realex Payments. At the reporting date, there was a balance of €91,650 outstanding to Realex Payments from the Group (2011: €98,580).
These amounts are recorded in trade payables.
The Minister for Finance of Ireland holds 25.11% of the Group’s issued share capital and is entitled to appoint three directors to the Board. The
Group considers that, for the purpose of IAS 24 (2009) the government of Ireland is in a position to exercise significant influence over it, and
therefore regards the government of Ireland and various of its bodies, including the DAA and Tourism Ireland, as related parties for the purpose
of the disclosures required by IAS 24 (2009).
The Group has availed of the exemption available in paragraph 25 of IAS 24, and therefore has not provided detailed disclosure of its transactions
with the DAA or Tourism Ireland.
A summary of the Group’s transactions with the government of Ireland and its bodies is included below:
•

The Group incurs rental charges in respect of office space, check in facilities and other operational facilities at various Irish airports. The
Group also incurs passenger, landing and other charges for the use of these airports. The Group incurs air navigation charges as a result of
services provided by the Irish Aviation Authority;

•

The Group collects Airport Departure Tax and various payroll taxes on behalf of the Irish Revenue Commissioners and is liable to Irish
Corporation Tax on profits earned, and to employer’s PRSI on its payroll. The Group accounts for VAT in Ireland;

•

The Group sells seats on its scheduled services to various Government bodies in the normal course of its business and has banking relationships
with institutions now controlled by the Irish government. As an airline, the Irish Department of Transport is the Group’s principal regulator;
and

•

Tourism Ireland and the Group engage in co-marketing activities.

In addition to the transactions described above, the Group also entered into the following transactions with the DAA during 2012 and 2011:
•

During the year the Group provided a guarantee to the DAA in connection with the assignment of its interest in the lease of a hangar facility
at Shannon airport. See Note 29 for details of this guarantee; and

•

In 2011, the Group disposed of its leasehold interest in its Head Office Building to the Dublin Airport Authority. Details of the nature and
terms of this transaction are included in Note 9.
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Cash generated in operations
Group
2012

2011

€’000

€’000

40,570

84,362

79,453

84,847

- Net movements in provisions for liabilities and charges

3,147

(50,576)

- Net fair value losses on derivative financial instruments

28

256

Profit before tax
Adjustments for:
- Depreciation and amortisation

- Share options and awards expense

3,389

3,199

- Finance income

(15,303)

(15,422)

- Finance expense

17,131

17,330

(877)

(37,161)

- Net exceptional items
- Share of loss of joint venture
- Other losses/(gains) – net
- Post employment benefit obligations

190

-

12,473

(17,077)

285

2,198

Changes in working capital
- Inventories

(742)

(213)

- Trade and other receivables

1,708

12,478

- Trade and other payables

(22,944)

3,397

Cash generated from operations

118,508

87,618

2012

2011

€’000

€’000

206

91

(207)

(91)

-

133,986

(1)

133,986

Company

Profit before tax
Adjustments for:
- Finance income
Changes in working capital
- Trade and other receivables
Cash (used) in/generated from operations
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Financial assets
Investment in subsidiaries
2012

2011

€’000

€’000

159,697

109,696

Cost
At 1 January
Investment in subsidiaries
At 31 December

80,000

50,001

239,697

159,697

During 2012, the Group subscribed for an additional €80.0 million of share capital in Aer Lingus Limited. The consideration in respect of these
shares was used to offset amounts due from Aer Lingus Limited to Aer Lingus Group plc. As a result of this transaction and the inter group transfer
of cash and deposits, the loan receivable from Aer Lingus Limited reduced from €699.9 million at 31 December 2011 to €603.8 million at 31
December 2012.

38

Events after the reporting period
On 5 February 2013, the Board decided to recommend a final dividend payment of four cent per share in respect of the year ended 31 December
2012, subject to shareholder approval at the AGM.
On 21 February 2013, Aer Lingus and JetBlue Airways announced a codeshare agreement, expanding the current interline partnership between
the carrier’s two networks at New York’s John F. Kennedy International airport (“JFK“) as well as Boston’s Logan International airport. The
codeshare will allow customers purchase tickets on Aer Lingus’ website featuring an Aer Lingus flight number for JetBlue operated connections
between 29 cities in North America. The start of the new codeshare arrangement coincides with Aer Lingus’ move of its New York flight operations
from Terminal 4 at JFK into JetBlue’s acclaimed Terminal 5 at JFK in April 2013.
On 27 February 2013, the European Commission (EC) formally announced its decision to prohibit Ryanair’s third offer for Aer Lingus.
Since the year end, Aer Lingus completed the signing of contracts with Virgin Atlantic Airways Limited (“Virgin”) for the “wet lease” of four Airbus
A320-200 aircraft on ACMI (aircraft, crew, maintenance and insurance) terms. The aircraft, flying in Virgin livery, will commence operations from
31 March 2013 on domestic UK short haul services connecting London Heathrow with Manchester, Edinburgh and Aberdeen.
An update on the Group’s capital reduction application has been outlined in the “Principal risks and uncertainties” section and Note 3.2 to the
Financial Statements.
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION
(unaudited)
2013 financial calendar
Annual General Meeting

26 April 2013

2013 H1 period end

30 June 2013

2013 H1 results
2013 FY ends

July 2013
31 December 2013

Share price data
€
Share price movement during 2012
- High

1.11

- Low

0.64

Share price at 31 December 2012

1.11

Market capitalisation at 31 December 2012

590.1m

Share price at 4 March 2013

1.28

Market capitalisation at 4 March 2013

683.6m

Shareholder analysis at 31 December 2012
Range of shares held
Over 250,000

Number of shares

% of shares

Number of accounts

% of accounts

454,349,136

85.1%

65

0.9%

100,001 – 250,000

4,895,594

0.9%

29

0.4%

10,001 – 100,000

58,457,923

10.9%

2,832

38.2%

Up to 10,000
Total

16,337,437

3.1%

4,484

60.5%

534,040,090

100.0%

7,410

100.0%

Number of shares

% of shares

Number of accounts

% of accounts

456,153,513

85.4%

68

0.9%

Shareholder analysis at 4 March 2013
Range of shares held
Over 250,000
100,001 – 250,000

5,488,047

1.0%

34

0.5%

10,001 – 100,000

56,390,416

10.6%

2,728

37.5%

16,008,114

3.0%

4,440

61.1%

534,040,090

100.0%

7,270

100.0%

Up to 10,000
Total

Electronic proxy voting and CREST voting

Share listing
Aer Lingus’ shares are traded on the Irish Stock Exchange and the London
Stock Exchange and are quoted on the official lists of both the Irish Stock

Shareholders may lodge a proxy form for the 2012 Annual General Meeting
electronically. Shareholders who wish to submit proxies via the internet

Exchange and the UK Listing Authority.

may do so by accessing the Registrars’ website (see below). Instructions

ISIN: IE00B1CMPN86

Shareholders must register for this service on-line before the electronic

ISE Xetra: Aer Lingus Group plc

proxy service can be used.

on using the service are sent to shareholders with their proxy form.

MNEM – ISE: EIR1

CREST members wishing to appoint a proxy via the CREST system should

MNEM – LSE: AERL

refer to the CREST Manual and the notes to the Notice of the Annual

Bloomberg: AELGF

General Meeting.

Reuters: AERL.I, AERL.L

Crest
Aer Lingus Group plc is a member of the CREST share settlement system.
Shareholders may continue to hold paper share certificates or hold their
shares in electronic form.
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Website

Company officers and advisors

The Group’s website, www.aerlingus.com, contains a separate Investor
Relations section. This provides the full text of the Annual and Interim

Directors

Reports and copies of presentations to analysts and investors. News

Colm Barrington (Chairman)

releases are also made available in this section of the website immediately

Christoph Mueller (Chief Executive Officer)

after release to the Stock Exchanges.

Andrew Macfarlane (Chief Financial Officer)

Investor relations

David Begg (Non-Executive Director)

For investor enquiries please contact:

Montie Brewer (Non-Executive Director)

Derek Abbey

Mella Frewen (Non-Executive Director)

Laurence Crowley (Non-Executive Director & Senior Independent Director)
Danuta Gray (Non-Executive Director)

T: +353 1 886 2200
E: investor.relations@aerlingus.com

Francis Hackett (Non-Executive Director)

Jonathan Neilan

Thomas Moran (Non-Executive Director)

Colin Hunt (Non-Executive Director)
Nicola Shaw (Non-Executive Director)

FTI Consulting
T: +353 1 663 3686
E: aerlingus@fticonsulting.com

Company secretary

Registered office and number

Independent auditors

Meabh Gallagher

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Number: 211168

Chartered Accountants & Registered Auditors

Dublin Airport

One Spencer Dock

Co. Dublin

North Wall Quay

Ireland

Dublin 1
Ireland

Registrars

Legal advisors

For all queries on shareholdings please contact our registrars:

Arthur Cox
Earlsfort Terrace

Capita Registrars (Ireland) Limited

Dublin 2

2 Grand Canal Square

Ireland

Dublin 2
Ireland

Sponsors
Goodbody Corporate Finance

T: +353 1 553 0050

Ballsbridge Park

F: +353 1 224 0700

Ballsbridge

E: enquiries@capitaregistrars.ie

Dublin 4

Our registrars also operate a “Shareholder Portal” through which you can

Ireland

enquire on and view your shareholding details. This can be accessed from
their website at www.capitacorporateregistrars.ie
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2012

2011

Change

2010

2009

2008

6

6

-

8

9

11

Number of sectors flown (flights)

3,896

3,809

2.3%

3,805

4,884

5,939

Average sector length (in kilometres)

5,223

5,254

(0.6%)

5,258

5,472

5,764

Number of passengers (in thousands)

979

897

9.1%

908

1,077

1,264

350.82

319.96

9.6%

304.10

255.70

303.87

12.3

11.7

5.1%

10.4

11.6

14.3

Long haul¹
Number of routes flown

Average fare (including airport charges/taxes) (in €)
Utilisation (average block hours per aircraft per day)
RPKs (in millions)

5,130

4,720

8.7%

4,766

5,854

7,168

ASK (in millions)

6,221

6,084

2.3%

6,081

8,008

10,042

Passenger load factor (flown RPKs per ASKs)

82.5%

77.6%

4.9 pts

78.4%

73.1%

71.4%

6.0

6.3

(4.8%)

7.2

8.5

9

20,869

20,839

0.1%

23,781

18,815

23,408

91

89

2.2%

98

107

95

67,730

66,649

1.6%

64,306

69,661

66,831

Average sector length (in kilometres)

1,041

1,053

(1.1%)

1,046

1,048

1,017

Number of passengers (in thousands)

8,674

8,616

0.7%

8,438

9,305

8,737

Average fare (including airport charges/taxes) (in €)

94.11

90.65

3.8%

85.90

77.10

87.57

9.5

9.5

-

9.3

10.2

10.4

RPKs (in millions)

9,393

9,331

0.7%

9,129

9,965

9,109

ASK (in millions)

12,464

12,509

(0.4%)

12,188

13,220

12,328

75.4%

74.6%

0.8 pts

74.9%

75.4%

73.9%

37.4

36.8

1.6%

36.0

35.3

32.6

7,271

6,817

6.7%

8,843

6,718

4,536

Average number of aircraft
Scheduled cargo tonnes

¹ excludes extended codeshare agreement with United Airlines

Short haul2
Number of routes flown
Number of sectors flown (flights)

Utilisation (average block hours per aircraft per day)

Passenger load factor (flown RPKs per ASKs)
Average number of aircraft
Scheduled cargo tonnes
2

excludes Aer Lingus Regional Services operated by Aer Arann
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